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_ 1962 ) HSBC
Martin Australia
Tricaud 1 HSBC Korea
HSBC
20
FAB
FAB Capital Saudi Arabia
Universite Paris 1l Assas,
Sorbonne 2001
Conseiller du Commerce Exterieur de
la France
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15
2022
Abu
Dhabi  National Insurance Company
1982 ADN[C
Futoon Al 1 Visa
u ) AE 5 Mastercard
Mazrouei U WMEC FAB
WI0 FABMISR
GCC
Al Ain University
Stanford
Graduate School of Management
FAB
(Commercial Bank of Dubai)
2011 2016
First Gulf Bank
HSBC
20
1963 UAE
Gareth
Powell 1
Chartered Institute of
Personnel & Development
British Psychological
Society
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/

30

Majid Al Futtaim
/ Shell

1966 General Motors

Tracy S.
Faulkner

Center for Creative

Leadership Development
W. Arthur W.

Page Society
Institute for Public Relations

Alpha Kappa
Alpha Sorority, Incorporated

23

1966 National Commercial Bank
UAE Gulf

Rajesh 31
Deshpande International Bank

Abu Dhabi Commercial

Bank
Institute of

Chartered Accountants of India

Manchester Business
School
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OOoOooOodd
30
Edmond de Rothschild
) 1966 Union
Michel Bancaire Privée UBPSA
Longhini
BNP Paribas
Emlyon Business School
Abu Dhabi
Department of Economic Development
Abu Dhabi
Investment Office ADIO
10
Sameh 1979 National Bank of Abu Dhabi
Al Qubaisi CAPM
Investments
Finance House
Standard Chartered
Bank HSBC
National Bank of Dubai
M&A/
25
MEA
; M&A/ [1971 29
Eric
Shehadeh General Electric GE
GE
Mubadala GE Capital
ESCP
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2021 32 171
10%
2022 12 31 45,000
)
45263 25
1995 UAE 22
UAE 2023 12
31
2023
Rami Sarhan
15 11 IT

UAE

Abu Dhabi Accountability Authority
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11,700

8,190

4,611

24,501

58/318



EDINETOOOO

OoooDoO0oooooooo0ooo00o00DoO00DDO000bDo00DO00bDO000o0O00DbOO00D0o00no(e25742)

12 31

38
328

2024
42 .86

UAE
25 193
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2023 12 31 2022 12 31
233,390,285  10,003,107,615 228,368,829  9,787,888,011
45,208,793 1,937,648,868 31,816,797  1,363,667,919
10 25,266,370 1,082,916,618 24,886,956  1,066,654,934
11 78,503,863 3,364,675,568 69,106,092  2,961,887,103
44 46,420,686 1,989,590, 602 58,873,843  2,523,332,911
12 483,953,520  20,742,247,867 459,593,327  19,698,169,995
13 52 179,643,274 7,699,510,724 172,349,818 7,386,913,199
14 41,332,686 1,771,518,922 30,205,655  1,294,614,373
15 52 1,500,904 64,328,745 1,559,303 66,831,727
16 8,161,737 349,812,048 7,168,089 307,224,295
17 5,114,876 219,223,585 5,795,207 248,382,572
18 20,135,567 863,010,402 20,332,179 871,437,192
1,168,632,561  50,087,591,564 1,110,056,095  47,577,004,232
19 71,527,631 3,065,674,265 61,560,340  2,638,476,172
20 26,006,108 1,118,479,189 39,004,515  1,671,733,513
21 19,658,769 842,574,839 31,738,356  1,360,305,938
44 51,002,064 2,185,948,463 62,024,540  2,658,371,784
22 759,862,632  32,567,712,408 700,573,371  30,026,574,681
23 46,931,908 2,011,501,577 37,048,977  1,587,919,154
24 63,938,927 2,740,422,411 62,635,133  2,684,541,800
25 4,191,417 179,644,133 420,620 18,027,773
1,043,209,456  44,711,957,284 995,005,852  42,645,950,817
26 11,047,612 473,500,650 11,047,612 473,500, 650
53,557,581 2,295,477,922 53,557,581  2,295,477,922
(6,505) (278,804) (6,505) (278,804)
13,084,313 560,793,655 13,084,313 560,793,655
26 208,702 8,944,968 (835,463) (35,807,944)
27 10,754,750 460,948,585 10,754,750 460,948,585
28 249,816 10,707,114 249,816 10,707,114
36,416,564 1,560, 813,933 27,185,679  1,165,178,202
125,312,833 5,370,908,022 115,037,783  4,930,519,379
110,272 4,726,258 12,460 534,036
125,423,105 5,375,634, 280 115,050,243  4,931,053,415
1,168,632,561  50,087,591,564 1,110,056,095  47,577,004,232

2024 31
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2023 12 31 2022 12 31
29 52 59,712,319  2,559,269,992 28,140,801  1,206,114,731
30 52 (43,204,331)  (1,851,737,627) (15,169,960)  (650,184,486)
16,507,988 707,532,366 12,970,841 555,930,245

31 2,910,397 124,739,615 1,963,434 84,152,781
32 52 (1,316,812) (56,438,562) (717,047) (30,732,634)
1,593,585 68,301,053 1,246,387 53,420,147

18,101,573 775,833,419 14,217,228 609,350,392

33 4,282,884 183,564,408 3,975,869 170,405,745
33 (1,275,333) (54,660,772) (1,195,322) (51,231,501)
3,007,551 128,903,636 2,780,547 119,174,244

34 2,596,955 111,305,491 1,776,676 76,148,333
35 52 3,742,176 160, 389,663 2,317,854 99,343,222
36 23,151 992,252 (252,089) (10,804,535)
27,471,406  1,177,424,461 20,840,216 893,211,658

37 283,775 12,162,597 3,093,703 132,596,111
27,755,181  1,189,587,058 23,933,919  1,025,807,768

38 (7,125,289) (305,389,887) (6,704,829)  (287,368,971)
20,629,892 884,197,171 17,229,090 738,438,797

39 (3,077,906) (131,919,051) (2,839,358)  (121,694,884)
17,551,986 752,278,120 14,389,732 616,743,914

40 (1,041,742) (44,649,062) (967,621) (41,472,236)
16,510,244 707,629,058 13,422,111 575,271,677

16,405,493 703,139,430 13,411,198 574,803,946

104,751 4,489,628 10,913 467,731

46 1.43 61 1.18 51
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2023 12 31 2022 12 31
16,510,244 707,629,058 13,422,111 575,271,677
(748,102) (32,063,652) (1,647,757) (70,622,865)
1,391,973 59,659,963 (3,625,620) (155,394,073)
(327,424) (14,033,393) (7,500) (321,450)
(9,811) (420,499) 34,737 1,488,828
(45,150) (1,935,129) (48,000) (2,057,280)
3,000 128,580 5,750 246,445
264,486 11,335,870 (5,288,390) (226,660,395)
16,774,730 718,964,928 8,133,721 348,611,282
16,669,249 714,444,012 8,129,893 348,447,214
105,481 4,520,916 3,828 164,068
16,774,730 718,964,928 8,133,721 348,611,282
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2023 11,047,612 53,557,581 (6,505) 13,084,313 (835,463) 10,754,750
- - - - 315,717 -
27 - - - - - -

IFRS
o - - - - 708,087 -
FVOCI - - - - 20,361 -
2023 12 31 11,047,612 53,557,581 (6,505) 13,084,313 208,702 10,754,750
2022 10,920,000 53,557,581 (6,430) 10,920,000 3,569,185 10,754,750
- - - - (5,264,612) -
26 127,612 - (75) 2,164,313 - -
27 - - - - - -

IFRS
o - - - - 872,498 -
FVOCI - - - - (12,534) -
2022 12 31 11,047,612 53,557,581 (6,505) 13,084,313 (835,463) 10,754,750
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2023 249,816 27,185,679 115,037,783 12,460 115,050,243
- 16,405,493 16,405,493 104,751 16,510,244
- (51,961) 263,756 730 264,486
- (5.741,375) (5.741,375) (7,669) (5.749,044)
”7 - (652,824) (652,824) - (652,824)

IFRS
e - (708,087) - - -
FVOCI - (20, 361) - - -
2023 12 31 249,816 36,416,564 125,312,833 110,272 125,423,105
2022 249,816 22,667,101 112,632,003 15,428 112,647,431
- 13,411,198 13,411,198 10,913 13,422,111
- (16,693) (5.281,305) (7,085) (5,288, 390)
- (5,347,648) (5,347,648) (6,796) (5,354, 444)
26 - (2,291,850) - - -
. - (376, 465) (376, 465) - (376, 465)

IFRS
i - (872,498) - - -
FVOCI - 12,534 - - -
2022 12 31 249,816 27,185,679 115,037,783 12,460 115,050,243
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2023 473,500,650 2,295,477,922 (278,804) 560,793,655 (35,807,944) 460,948,585
- - - - 13,531,631 -
27 B B B B B B

IFRS
e - - - - 30,348,609 -
FVOCI - - - - 872,672 -
2023 12 31 473,500,650 2,295,477,922 (278,804) 560,793,655 8,944,968 460,948,585
2022 468,031,200 2,295,477,922 (275,590) 468,031,200 152,975,269 460,948,585
- - - - (225,641,270) -
26 5,469,450 - (3,215) 92,762,455 - -
27 - } B B B -

IFRS
s } - - - 37,395,264 -
FVOCI - - - - (537,207) -
2022 12 31 473,500,650 2,295,477,922 (278,804) 560,793,655  (35,807,944) 460,948,585
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2023

27
IFRS
26

Fvocl
2023 12 31

2022

26

27
IFRS
26

FvoCl
2022 12 31

Ooooood
10,707,114  1,165,178,202  4,930,519,379 534,036  4,931,053,415
- 703,139,430 703,139,430 4,489,628 707,629,058
- (2,227,048) 11,304,582 31,288 11,335,870
- (246,075,333)  (246,075,333) (328,693)  (246,404,026)
- (27,980,037) (27,980,037) - (27,980,037)
- (30,348,609) - - -
- (872,672) - - -
10,707,114  1,560,813,933  5,370,908,022 4,726,258  5,375,634,280
10,707,114 971,511,949  4,827,407,649 661,244  4,828,068,893
- 574,803,946 574,803,946 467,731 575,271,677
- (715,462)  (226,356,732) (303,663)  (226,660,395)
- (229,200,193)  (229,200,193) (291,277)  (229,491,470)
- (98,228,691) - - -
- (16,135, 290) (16,135,290) - (16,135,290)
- (37,395, 264) - . -
- 537,207 - - -
10,707,114  1,165,178,202  4,930,519,379 534,036  4,931,053,415
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2023 12 31 2022 12 31

17,551,986 752,278,120 14,389,732 616,743,914
38 980,296 42,015,487 1,062,293 45,529,878
16 (1,405) (60,218) 327,314 14,028,678
(148,160) (6,350,138) - -
(502) (21,516) (4,335) (185,798)
37 (283,775) (12,162,597) (3,093,703)  (132,596,111)
39 3,584,560 153,634,242 3,118,645 133,665,125
531,843 22,794,791 547,915 23,483,637
22,214,843 952,128,171 16,347,861 700,669,322
(13,510,745) (579,070,531) 13,809,297 591,866,469
1,026,819 44,009,462 2,796,164 119,843,589
(9,462,829) (405,576,851) (22,840,045)  (978,924,329)
(27,808,242)  (1,191,861,252) (52,568,833) (2,253,100,182)
(10,023,041) (429,587,537) (9,994,816)  (428,377,814)
9,967,291 427,198,092 4,575,160 196,091,358
(12,908, 407) (553,254,324) (16,069,979)  (688,759,300)
59,289,261 2,541,137,726 86,197,999  3,694,446,237
2,492,490 106,828,121 (6,901,390)  (295,793,575)
9,957,950 426,797,737 14,486,647 620,897,690
31,235,390 1,338,748,815 29,838,065 1,278,859,466
23 (1,058,282) (45,357,967) (869,415)  (37,263,127)
(45,000) (1,928,700) (45,000) (1,928,700)
30,132,108 1,291,462,149 28,923,650  1,239,667,639
(6,702,264) (287,259,035) (29,962,853) (1,284,207,880)
(1,041,483) (44,637,961) (532,827)  (22,836,965)
334,960 14,356,386 - -
(1,070,754) (45,892,516) (558,993)  (23,958,440)
(8,479,541) (363,433,127) (31,054,673) (1,331,003,285)
26 (5,720,357) (245,174,501) (5,327,691)  (228,344,836)
(7,669) (328,693) (6,796) (291,277)
(12,079,587) (517,731,099) (7,925,896)  (339,703,903)
24 8,139,830 348,873,114 10,625,674 455,416,388
24 (8,396,933) (359,892,548) (13,431,531)  (575,675,419)
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3,673,000 157,424,780 - -
27 (652,824) (27,980,037) (376,465)  (16,135,290)
(15,044,540) (644,808,984) (16,442,705)  (704,734,336)
6,608,027 283,220,037 (18,573,728)  (796,069,982)
(206,464) (8,849,047) (3,444,371)  (147,625,741)
250,796,021  10,749,117,460 272,814,120 11,692,813,183
Vi 257,197,584  11,023,488,450 250,796,021 10,749,117,460
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0000000
1984 UAE
6316 FAB
2023 12 31
Higher Shariah Authority HSA
Internal Shariah Supervison Committe:1SSC
FAB 2023 12
31
http://www.bankfab.com
QFCRA QFC

QFC
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@

®

©

1ASB
IFRS UAE
IFRS 1ASB
IFRIC
2015 UAE 2021 UAE 32 2021 20
2022 2021

UAE 32 2017

2024 31
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€))
1AS 1AS 2023
IAS 12 2023
IFRS 17 IFRS 17 2023
IAS 12 2023
®)
2024
2024

IFRS 16

1AS

1AS IFRS

IAS 21

IFRS 10 IAS 28

IFRS S

IFRS S
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ceu
ceu
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IFRS 10

IFRS 10
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0Cl NCI
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NCI
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2023 2022

100 100

FAB 100 100
100 100

100 100

FAB 100 100
100 100

96 96

NBAD 100 100
100 100

FAB 100 100
100 100

100 100

Mismak
67 67
Mismak
100 100
Mismak
100 100
FMI
FAB 100 100
FMI
FAB 100 100
FMI
100 100
FMI

100 100

100 100

100 100

FAB 100 100
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2023 2022
50 50
FAB 100
IT 100 100
FGIT
FAB IT 100 100
FGIT
FAB 100 100
100 100
FAB Misr
50
37
3,083
2022 3,259
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ECL
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UAE

CBUAE

10

11

2023 12 31

73,791

UAE

2023 12
8,331

Ooooood

2023 12 31 2022 12 31
1,920,023 1,816,546
34,172,748 8,413,183
28,000,000 20,000,000
169,461,908 198,319,480
233,554,679 228,549,209
(164,394) (180,380)
233,390,285 228,368,829

14

2023 12 31 2022 12 31
8,484 8,734
3,135,857 2,240,442
1,568,102 1,613,279
40,496,350 27,954,342
45,208,793 31,816,797

2023 12 31 2022 12 31
4,439,610 3,424,994
14,728,939 15,944,139
6,155,538 5,585,680
25,324,087 24,954,813
(57,717) (67,857)
25,266,370 24,886,956

2023 12 31 2022 12 31
77,113,521 66,001,324
1,477,358 3,126,726
78,590,879 69,128,050
(87,016) (21,958)
78,503,863 69,106,092

89,895 2022 12 31

31
2022 12 31 11,320
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Ooooood
12
2023 12 31 2022 12 31
504,641,140 479,724,466
(7.186,531) (6,251,152)
(13,501,089) (13,879,987)
483,953,520 459,593,327
2023 12 31 2022 12 31
61,310,050 55,910,901
79,383,113 90,035,562
12,607,202 7,920,375
269,854,139 249,032,048
81,486,636 76,825,580
504,641,140 479,724,466
2023 12 31 2022 12 31
21,031,461 20,465,474
414,881,146 389,460,027
32,199,144 34,109,139
29,252,312 28,749,858
5,540,986 4,960,609
1,736,001 1,979,359
504,641,140 479,724,466
77,557 2022 12 31 55,460
188,577 2022
12 31 178,348
2023 12 31 2022 12 31
12,682,712 12,276,718
25,428,860 25,637,275
561,264 676,607
38,672,836 38,590,600
(1,146,283) (1,135,335)
(208,217) (175,050)
37,318,336 37,280,215
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ooooogd
13
2023 12 31 2022 12 31
170,715,855 166,591,291
4,553,321 1,070,888
4,375,427 4,688,298
179,644,603 172,350,477
(1,329) (659)
179,643,274 172,349,818
FVOCI
2023 12 31 2022 12 31
1,051,385 3,501,936 4,553,321 866,742 204,146 1,070,888
174,026,558 1,064,724 175,001,282 167,117,450 4,162,139 171,279,589
175,077,943 4,566,660 179,644,603 167,984,192 4,366,285 172,350,477
(1,329) - (1.,329) (659) - (659)
175,076,614 4,566,660 179,643,274 167,983,533 4,366,285 172,349,818
2023 12 31
18,360 2022 12 31 26,896
2023 12 31 4,154
2022 12 31 4,389
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Ooooood
2023 12 31 2022 12 31
28,077,498 18,333,696
7,658,608 6,378,274
5,659,249 5,766,200
237,725 134,767
41,633,080 30,612,937
(300,394) (407,282)
41,332,686 30,205,655
2023 12 31 2022 12 31
1,500,904 1,559,303
2023 12 31 2022 12 31
7,168,089 6,962,576
1,560,382 532,827
(568, 139) -
1,405 (327,314)
8,161,737 7,168,089
2023 12 31 2022 12 31
168,212 156,785
(54,305) (58,515)
113,907 98,270
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oOoOooodn

RICS

2023 2022 12 31

2023
12 31

4,407,734 NA

3,754,003 NA
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2022

2022

2023

2023

2022

2022

2023

2023

2022
2023

12

12

12

12

12
12

EDINETOOOO
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31

31

31

31

31
31

ooooogd
2,468,740 3,881,532 624,963 2,209,806 9,185,041
104,871 107,870 13,533 1,238,207 1,464,481
18,924 1,113,459 7,710 (1,140,093) -
(231,572) (372,492) (83,914) (416,222) (1,104,200)
2,360,963 4,730,369 562,292 1,891,698 9,545,322
2,360,963 4,730,369 562,292 1,891,698 9,545,322
59,738 44,115 6,368 1,195,391 1,305,612
172,912 1,042,291 15,911 (1,231,114) -
(117,803) (1,223,345) (110,016) (497,130) (1,948,294)
2,475,810 4,593,430 474,555 1,358,845 8,902,640
781,941 1,994,942 442,897 - 3,219,780
167,568 651,160 40,610 - 859,338
(143,984) (160,205) (24,814) - (329,003)
805,525 2,485,897 458,693 - 3,750,115
805,525 2,485,897 458,693 - 3,750,115
153,891 553,581 35,219 - 742,691
(70,753) (536,262) (98,027) - (705,042)
888,663 2,503,216 395,885 - 3,787,764
1,555,438 2,244,472 103,599 1,891,698 5,795,207
1,587,147 2,090,214 78,670 1,358,845 5,114,876
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Oooooood
18
2022 18,693,038 1,778,055 704,336 368,700 22,000 21,566,129
2022 12 31 18,693,038 1,778,055 704,336 368,700 22,000 21,566,129
2023 18,693,038 1,778,055 704,336 368,700 22,000 21,566,129
2023 12 31 18,693,038 1,778,055 704,336 368,700 22,000 21,566,129
2022 - 782,892 238,007 - 10,096 1,030,995

- 138,981 62,968 - 1,006 202,955
2022 12 31 - 921,873 300,975 - 11,102 1,233,950
2023 - 921,873 300,975 - 11,102 1,233,950

- 135,806 59,800 - 1,006 196,612
2023 12 31 - 1,057,679 360,775 - 12,108 1,430,562
2022 12 31 18,693,038 856,182 403,361 368,700 10,898 20,332,179
2023 12 31 18,693,038 720,376 343,561 368,700 9,892 20,135,567

CGU
CGU
CGU CGU
CGU
13,221 4,149
FAB 1,323 FAB Misr
CGU CGU
10 CGU
CGU

CGU

CGU
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Doooood
GDP
2023 12 31 CGU
2022 12 31
19
2023 12 31 2022 12 31
6,430,082 6,302,698
11,946,284 14,512,501
18,904,936 24,359,658
37,281,302 45,174,857
214,974 550,310
705,249 498,391
33,326,106 15,336,782
34,246,329 16,385,483
71,527,631 61,560,340
0.02 5.32 2022 12 31 0.02
5.01
20
2023 12 31 2022 12 31
26,096,108 39,004,515
26,096,108 39,004,515
18,360
2022 12 31 26,896 26,096
2022 12 31 39,005
7,735 2022 12 31
12,109
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Oooooood
21
3.5
10
19,659 2022 12 31
31,738 12
2023 12 31 2022 12 31
22
2023 12 31 2022 12 31
329,825,330 271,542,224
30,873,736 25,527,000
2,611,168 2,418,348
362,481,237 363,848,794
725,791,471 663,336,366
34,071,161 37,237,005
759,862,632 700,573,371
2023 12 31 2022 12 31
203,000,160 224,394,105
72,682,261 86,309,756
337,099,286 253,762,539
113,009,764 98,869,966
725,791,471 663,336,366
34,071,161 37,237,005
759,862,632 700,573,371
2023 12 31 2022 12 31
UAE 562,984,817 506,874,227
59,495,806 50,737,901
51,011,029 49,187,336
35,019,223 38,908,437
15,136,645 15,010,897
2,143,951 2,617,568
725,791,471 663,336,366
34,071,161 37,237,005
759,862,632 700,573,371
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23

UAE

+/-50

12 31 11,633
8,759

2022 12 31

11,254

2022 12 31 2,842

ooooooo
2023 12 31 2022 12 31
2,025,889 2,092,064
77,910 72,445
3,855,652 3,904,046
72,281 98,944
6,557,545 5,827,099
437,429 345,262
13,026,706 12,339,860
2023 12 31 2022 12 31
24,217,471 15,955,534
6,831,842 4,867,808
379,230 380,489
14,908,577 15,267,422
594,788 577,724
46,931,908 37,048,977
2023 12 31
2023 12 31 2022 12 31
5.48 2.46
2.48 2.47
7,849 2022
2022 12 31 3,273
+/-50
8,450
2023 12 31 2022 12 31
380,489 429,976
53,415 58,432
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OoOoOoOoOodno
ocl 9,811 (34,737)
(64,485) (73,182)
379,230 380,489
120,084 2022 12 31 116,285
15,782 2022 12 31 11,355
2023 12 31 2022 12 31
577,724 387,240
1,041,742 967,621
(1,058,282) (869,415)
33,604 92,278
594,788 577,724
2022 12 UAE UAE
2022 47 2023 16
375,000 Cabinet Decision
2024
131
15
UAE OECD

OECD Base Erosion Profit Shifting Pillar 11
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Ogoooood
24
2023 12 31 2022 12 31
63,551,098 62,084,301
387,829 550,832
63,938,927 62,635,133
2023 12 31 2022 12 31
62,635,133 71,643,816
8,139,830 10,625,674
(8,396,933) (13,431,531)
1,560,897 (6,202,826)
63,938,927 62,635,133
2023 12 31
4.00 6.00
- 3,720 1,385,261 6,351 - 1,395,332
1.87 3.17
- - 150,377 - - 150,377
BBSW+
- - 1,328,235 - 74,923 1,403,158
4.382
0.07 1.072
- 1,500,499 2,329,986 1,682,521 - 5,513,006
4.1 432,778 942,711 4,355,812 78,345 - 5,809,646
0.125 3.00
- 98,054 3,221,863 1,910,461 164,070 5,394,448
0.138 2.205
- - 2,905,575 - 80,239 2,985,814
0.475 4.18
- 138,234 1,042,406 179,111 - 1,359,751
0.235 2.60
52,017 - 257,100 - - 309,117
0.50 - - - 11,316 - 11,316
3.80 - 146,168 - - - 146,168
5.5 - - - 82,837 - 82,837
10.25 4,586,043 921,551 5,897,947 10,402,235 8,032,135 29,839,911
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Ogoooood
LIBOR+5.677 183,650 3,911,745 1,982,833 - 183,650 6,261,878
SOFR QRT OB SHIFT-

- 183,638 213,034 2,879,496 - 3,276,168

BD+3.725 5.367
5,254,488 7,846,320 25,070,429 17,232,673 8,535,017 63,938,927

2022 12 31
4.00 6.00
- - 3,647 93,132 - 96,779
1.87 3.17
- - 950,672 377,789 74,837 1,403,298
BBSW+
- - - 145,321 - 145,321
4.382

0.07 1.072
- 783,273 1,897,599 2,957,012 - 5,637,884
4.1 - 185,450 4,938,747 991,592 - 6,115,789

0.125 3.00
- - 462,422 4,392,666 140,537 4,995,625

0.138 2.205
1,989,293 - 1,667,869 961,069 74,409 4,692,640

0.475 4.18
74,577 464,253 903,980 408,258 - 1,851,068

0.235 2.60
- - 55,716 277,261 - 332,977
0.50 - - - - 8,727 8,727
3.80 - - 139,941 - - 139,941
5.5 - - - - - -
10.25 183,650 1,803,350 4,830,334 1,247,648 183,650 8,248,632
LIBOR+5.677 4,922,051 566,937 8,925,560 6,508,779 4,935,790 25,859,117

SOFR QRT OB SHIFT-
- - 183,638 2,923,697

3,107,335
BD+3.725 5.367

7,169,571 3,803,263 24,960,125 21,284,224 5,417,950 62,635,133

2023 12 31 2022 12 31
1,316,050 -
- 763,485
- 475,075
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Oooooood
- 1,773,193
6,353,281 4,407,106
- 136,402
82,837 -
168,958 2,710,663
7,921,126 10,265,924
64 2022 12 31 57
5,507 2022 12 31 6,168

2023 2022
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25
2012 12 10 4.75
2023 10 2029
2029
+1.70 2034
2023 12 31
26
2023 28
0.52
0.49
2,293
2021 UAE 32
50
12 31

2027 12
6.32
2022 12 31
5,745
5,351

241

AGM

50
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Ooooood
2023 12 31 2022 12 31
384,726 420,620
3,806,691 -
4,191,417 420,620
2023 12 31 2022 12 31
11,047,612 11,047,612
11,047,612 11,047,612
6,505 6,505
2021 12 31
0.21
10
2023 12 31 2022 12 31
5,720,357 5,327,691
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2023
IFRS

FvoCl
2023 12 31

2022
IFRS

FvoCl
2022 12 31

)

FVOCI

FVOCI

2023

ECL
2023 12 31

2022

Ooooood
IFRS IFRS
(2,270,259) 228,265  (2,175,695) 1,221,969 2,160,257 (835,463)
1,064,549 - (748,832) - - 315,717
- - - - 708,087 708,087
20,361 - - - - 20,361
(1,185,349) 228,265  (2,924,527) 1,221,969 2,868,344 208,702
IFRS IFRS
1,366,215 228,265 (535,023) 1,221,969 1,287,759 3,569,185
(3,623,940) - (1,640,672) - - (5,264,612)
- i, - - 872,498 872,498
(12,534) - - - - (12,534)
(2,270,259) 228,265  (2,175,695) 1,221,969 2,160,257 (835,463)
FVoCl

(1,511,573) (758,686) (2,270,259)
447,674 455,461 903,135

FvoCl
127,765 - 127,765
FvoCI 20,361 - 20,361
33,649 - 33,649
(882,124) (303,225) (1,185,349)
1,474,560 (108,345) 1,366,215
(2,927,853) (650,341) (3,578,194)

FvoCI
(43,280) - (43,280)
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FvOCl

ECL
2022 12 31
)
)
() IFRS
CBUAE  CBUAE28/2010 CBUAE
CBUAE 28/2010

IFRS
CBUAE 28/2010

IFRS
27

EIBOR 2.3

750
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ooooood
(12,534) - (12,534)
(2,466) - (2,466)
(1,511,573) (758,686) (2,270,259)
IFRS
IFRS
2023 12 31 2022 12 31
10,657,551 9,683,615
(10,450,131) (10,299, 264)
207,420 (615, 649)
1,221,969 1,221,969
1,221,969 1,221,969
7,697,206 7,440,529
(4,828,862) (5.322,815)
2,868,344 2,117,714
2,160,257 1,287,759
708,087 872,498
2,868,344 2,160,257
2023 12 31 2022 12 31
8,000,000 8,000,000
2,754,750 2,754,750
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4.50

10,754,750 10,754,750

652,824 2022 12 31 376,465
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29

30

31

32
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2022
2022 12
2022 12 31

ooOooood
12 31
31

2023 12 31 2022 12 31
14,348,293 4,673,109
8,525,037 1,501,489
3,395,298 1,203,085
6,060,625 4,682,183
27,383,066 16,080,935
59,712,319 28,140,801

2023 12 31 2022 12 31
9,819,961 2,097,112
1,674,472 850,870
1,011,122 436,672
28,616,338 10,376,617
2,007,315 1,388,984
75,123 19,705
43,204,331 15,169,960

2023 12 31 2022 12 31
1,672,036 960,832
765,837 517,629
446,516 472,183
26,008 12,790
2,910,397 1,963,434

2023 12 31 2022 12 31
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n|n]=[sls]s]=
175,545 136,694
175,015 98,718
901,580 464,298
64,673 17,337
1,316,812 717,047
21,681
2022 12,205
33
2023 12 31 2022 12 31
891,863 836,909
47,081 26,315
121,065 119,399
104,117 79,282
1,757,957 1,847,026
760,837 671,052
81,685 69,354
168,307 124,848
349,972 201,684
4,282,884 3,975,869
13,301 22,774
55,919 64,134
693,078 665,710
290,486 301,360
206,621 139,862
15,928 1,482
1,275,333 1,195,322
3,007,551 2,780,547
34
2023 12 31 2022 12 31
1,346,184 703,922
1,250,771 1,072,754
2,596,955 1,776,676
35
ECB (549) 2022 90
35
2023 12 31 2022 12 31
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37

2023

FAB

2022

38
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25

17

FAB

FAB

FAB

Magnati
2022

Ooooood
3,768,188 2,188,107
(127,765) 43,280
101,753 86,467
3,742,176 2,317,854
2023 12 31 2022 12 31
149,565 (326,852)
502 4,335
(126,916) 70,428
23,151 (252,089)
FAB FAB
FAB
100
2023 12 27
2023 12 31
FAB
60 SPA
12 31 3.1
2023 12 31 2022 12 31
3,469,247 3,233,289
742,691 859,338
1,218,054 901,290
477,884 465,798
208,831 212,439
237,605 202,955
195,012 207,948
111,106 114,099
105,198 46,302
359, 661 461,371
7,125,289 6,704,829
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oooooog
2023 12 31 2022 12 31
11,700 5,250
8,190 6,251
4,611 -
24,501 11,501
2023 12 31 2022 12 31
3,039,376 2,734,892
35,783 32,733
241,452 129,918
1,594 6,891
(506, 654) (279,287)
266,355 214,211
3,077,906 2,839,358
2023 12 31 2022 12 31
1,041,742 967,621
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42

E
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ooooodd
2023 12 31 2022 12 31
17,551,986 14,389,732
570,461 521,529
(50,662) 10,348
(3,457) (3,331)
72,176 23,812
2,142 2,597
17,347 5,488
(1,665) 3,869
431,400 391,309
4,000 12,000
1,041,742 967,621
2023 12 31 2022 12 31
233,554,679 228,549,209
25,324,087 24,954,813
258,878,766 253,504,022
(558,971) (1,721,036)
(335,265) (395,977)
(786,946) (590,988)
257,197,584 250,796,021
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Ooooood
2023 12 31 2022 12 31
197,174 229,685
(13,329) 11,432
(26,122) (43,943)
157,723 197,174
2023 12 31 2022 12 31
140,908 137,443
175,672 231,645
5,434 9,012
322,014 378,100
2023 12 31 2022 12 31
13,253 19,709
71,247 81,925
50,864 50,989
135,364 152,623
2023 12 31 2022 12 31
48,150,582 54,459,311
115,894,391 99,310,954
1,223,982 824,739
165,268,955 154,595,004
77,843,453 77,335,909
1,592,962 1,095,254
1,806,896 1,567,471
81,243,311 79,998,634
246,512,266 234,593,638

51(a)
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ooOooood
2023 12 31 2022 12 31 2023 12 31 2022 12 31
46,492,636 48,941,650 114,215,073 106,056,582
11,763,470 11,244,710 15,037,977 16,157,918
7,465,304 9,269,282 13,919,184 12,949,928
3,545,828 4,013,400 10,233,941 9,266,851
4,038,955 3,866,867 11,527,303 10,030,910
4,537,260 - 335,477 132,815
77,843,453 77,335,909 165,268,955 154,595,004
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ooOooood
0TC
2023 12 31
34,907,831 34,760,856 1,604,621,861
30,997 24,224 19,310,338
287,370 507,477 83,962,993
2,895,245 2,632,264 400,548,236
73,578 53,325 14,603,276
1,956,101 2,369,739 85,429,614
40,151,122 40,347,885 2,208,476,318
5,903,922 10,098,680 375,802,277
5,903,922 10,098,680 375,802,277
365,608 532,050 34,328,330
34 23,449 4,195,326
365,642 555,499 38,523,656
46,420,686 51,002,064 2,622,802,251
2023 12 31
227,817,704 225,016,422 442,558,036 252,048,586 457,181,113
14,913,461 4,396,877 - - -
2,008,309 37,158,434 13,535,724 25,390,493 5,870,033
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oooooDod
259,408,984 117,298,730 17,856,037 5,966,900 17,585
7,403,638 5,665,237 1,199,135 335,266 -
16,090,837 12,746,524 34,975,790 19,338,038 2,278,425
527,642,933 402,282,224 510,124,722 303,079,283 465,347,156
51,681,336 146,868,036 58,524,997 64,667,646 54,060,262
51,681,336 146,868,036 58,524,997 64,667,646 54,060,262
- 9,182,500 20,678,990 4,366,840 100,000
4,195,326 - - . .
4,195,326 9,182,500 20,678,990 4,366,840 100,000
583,519,595 558,332,760 589,328,709 372,113,769 519,507,418
2022 12 31
44,416,976 45,049,825  1,391,430,712
44,216 12,248 49,064,627
462,099 638,125 78,377,825
3,926,153 4,467,739 327,260,288
220,467 189,446 39,507,992
2,002,531 1,206,982 68,259,953
51,162,442 51,564,365  1,953,901,397
7,649,543 9,745,587 460,856,499
7,649,543 9,745,587 460,856,499
19,002 705,997 8,323,490
42,856 8,501 3,290,258
61,858 714,588 11,613,748
58,873,843 62,024,540  2,426,371,644
2022 12 31

135/318
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Oooooood
133,460,604 194,365,404 416,059,274 229,649,117 417,896,313
23,330,850 20,445,828 5,287,949 - -
925,943 4,410,941 39,318,072 15,256,243 18,466,626
217,773,233 85,244,571 19,145,328 5,097,156 -
20,554,782 16,942,221 2,010,989 - -
5,465,276 12,730,541 25,869,223 22,446,673 1,748,240
401,510,688 334,139,506 507,690,835 272,449,189 438,111,179
155,433,259 136,163,364 55,594,766 64,201,509 49,463,601
155,433,259 136,163,364 55,594,766 64,201,509 49,463,601
- - 3,856,650 550,950 3,915,890
3,290,258 - - - -
3,290,258 - 3,856,650 550,950 3,915,890
560,234,205 470,302,870 567,142,251 337,201,648 491,490,670
2023 12 31
13,844 2022 12 31 18,368
16,199
2022 12 31 16,289
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oooooog
45
CEO
CEO
IB
IB
IB
CCB
CCB
CB
GPB
FAB
IR
Mismak FAB

FAB Misr
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oooooog
UAE
2023 12 31
5,854,601 5,553,313 3,032,102 868,011 2,793,456 18,101,573
6,156,284 1,313,866 763,307 309,663 826,713 9,369,833
12,010,975 6,867,179 3,795,409 1,177,674 3,620,169 27,471,406
- - - - 283,775 283,775
12,010,975 6,867,179 3,795,409 1,177,674 3,903,944 27,755,181
2,003,233 865,708 2,233,454 500,760 1,432,134 7,125,289
531,235 1,322,587 779,056 11,485 433,543 3,077,906
9,386,507 4,678,884 782,899 665,429 2,038,267 17,551,986
498,212 (44,916) (21,061) 99,682 509,825 1,041,742
8,888,295 4,723,800 803,960 565,747 1,528,442 16,510,244
2023 12 31
796,059,460 160,128,624 60,309,531 31,057,235 98,461,488  1,146,016,338
22,616,223
1,168,632,561
643,380,532 159,198,081 65,843,401 33,795,149 118,376,070  1,020,593,233
22,616,223
1,043,209,456
UAE
2023 12 31
15,385,672 2,715,901 18,101,573
6,793,171 2,576,662 9,369,833
22,178,843 5,292,563 27,471,406
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ooooogd
283,775 - 283,775
22,462,618 5,292,563 27,755,181
5,403,740 1,721,549 7,125,289
2,036,520 1,041,386 3,077,906
15,022,358 2,529,628 17,551,986
298,106 743,636 1,041,742
14,724,252 1,785,992 16,510, 244
2023 12 31
976,147,762 338,952,071 1,315,099, 833
(146,467,272)
1,168,632,561
882,079,958 307,596,770 1,189,676,728
(146,467,272)
1,043,209, 456
2022 12 31
4,772,795 3,598,791 3,065,457 778,823 2,001,362 14,217,228
4,101,292 1,361,073 568,926 252,607 339,090 6,622,988
8,874,087 4,959,864 3,634,383 1,031,430 2,340,452 20,840,216
- - 3,093,703 - - 3,003,703
8,874,087 4,959,864 6,728,086 1,031,430 2,340,452 23,933,919
1,772,851 892,102 2,055,458 455,417 1,529,001 6,704,829
459,480 1,810,447 260,719 (154) 308,866 2,839,358
6,641,756 2,257,315 4,411,909 576,167 502,585 14,389,732
349,046 46,057 11 46,185 526,322 967,621
6,292,710 2,211,258 4,411,898 529,982 (23,737) 13,422,111
2022 12 31
775,420,885 157,324,588 55,417,243 29,570,241 132,731,767  1,150,464,724

(40,408, 629)
1,110,056,095

139/318
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ooOooodn

663,926,165 155,742,073 67,220,488 30,135,430 118,390,325 1,035,414,481

(40,408, 629)

995,005, 852
UAE
2022 12 31
11,380,497 2,836,731 14,217,228
4,676,195 1,946,793 6,622,988
16,056,692 4,783,524 20,840,216
3,093,703 - 3,093,703
19,150,395 4,783,524 23,933,919
4,919,172 1,785,657 6,704,829
1,681,738 1,157,620 2,839,358
12,549,485 1,840,247 14,389,732
232,121 735,500 967,621
12,317,364 1,104,747 13,422,111
2022 12 31
931,177,868 353,663,680  1,284,841,557
(174,785,462)
1,110,056,095
841,692,212 328,099,102  1,169,791,314
(174,785,462)
995,005, 852
46
2023 12 31 2022 12 31
16,405,493 13,411,198
(652,824) (376,465)
15,752,669 13,034,733
11,041,107 10,913,570
- 127,537
11,041,107 11,041,107
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Ooooood
1.43 1.18
15,752,669 13,034,733
11,041,107 11,041,107
1.43 1.18
47
EXCO
2023 12 31 2022 12 31
45,000 45,000
63,696 46,624
5,439 2,752
ECL 2023 12 31
ECL 34 2022 12 31 45
2023 12 31
- 60,830 - - 60,830
- 538,691 - - 538,691
- 51,636 - - 51,636
2,845,809 30,982,683 106,486 861,978 34,796,956
- 3,787,601 - - 3,787,601
27,183 567,698 3,002 510 598,393
- 223,708 - - 223,708
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13,038,346
194,465

28,735

2023 12 31
153,399
257,181
2,649

2022 12 31

11,410,041

142,926

13,792,656
134,867

556
328,169

2022 12 31
387,169
199,718
37,802

8,649,230
43,569

8,287,164
351,934
1,072,893

1,715,430
635,481
60,946

90,523

88,543

4,583
202,631
34,295
30,634,946
4,547,584
491,479

257,781
36,015,974
207,979

6,306,699
1,819,641
571,761

876,773
330,321
86,515

(390,294)
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47,052
298

2,696
851
22

61,558

978

25,205
80

1,638
412
31

824,731
5

184

41,926
96,726
16,227
131,769
34,854

970,081

306

417,982

184

12,807
5,760
1,281

94,817

32,497
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22,559,359
238,337

8,287,164
351,934
1,101,812

1,913,451
990,239
79,844
131,769
125,377

88,543

4,583
202,631
34,295
43,076,626
4,547,584
635,689

257,781
50,251,817
342,926

6,306,699
1,820,197
900,114

1,278,387
536,211
125,629

94,817
(357,797)

oOoOooodn
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Oooooood
48
2023 12 31 14,285 2022
12 31 12,413
49
SPE SPE
SPE
SPE
SPE
2023 2022
100 100
FAB SPV RSC UAE 100 -

1968A SPV RSC
1968B SPV RSC

50
€Y

ESG

IFRS

143/318

UAE
UAE

100
100



EDINETOOOO
OoooDoO0oooooooo0ooo00o00DoO00DDO000bDo00DO00bDO000o0O00DbOO00D0o00no(e25742)
oOoOooodn

®)

CVA
0TC
DVA
0TC

CVA DVA

CDS

CVA DVA 2022 12 31
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01C

NAV
NAV
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oOoOooodn

FVOCI FVOCI
- - - 233,390,285 233,390,285
45,208,793 - - - 45,208,793
- - - 25,266,370 25,266,370

- - - 78,503,863 78,503,863
46,420,686 - - - 46,420,686
- - - 483,953,520 483,953,520

- 170,714,526 4,553,321 4,375,427 179,643,274

- - - 39,767,380 39,767,380
91,629,479 170,714,526 4,553,321 865,256,845  1,132,154,171
- - - 71,527,631 71,527,631

- - - 26,096,108 26,096,108

- - - 19,658,769 19,658,769
51,002,064 - - - 51,002,064
- - - 759,862,632 759,862,632

972,347 - - 44,138,726 45,111,073
387,829 - - 63,551,008 63,938,927

. - - 4,191,417 4,191,417
52,362,240 - - 989,026,381 1,041,388,621
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2022 12 31
Fvocl Fvocl

- - - 228,368,829 228,368,829
31,816,797 - - - 31,816,797
- - - 24,886,956 24,886,956

- - - 69,106,092 69,106,092
58,873,843 - - - 58,873,843
- - - 459,593,327 459,593,327

- 166,590,632 1,070,888 4,688,298 172,349,818

- - - 29,808,871 29,808,871
90,690,640 166,590,632 1,070,888 816,452,373  1,074,804,533
- - - 61,560,340 61,560,340

- - - 39,004,515 39,004,515

- - - 31,738,356 31,738,356
62,024,540 - - - 62,024,540
- - - 700,573,371 700,573,371

377,344 - - 34,985,589 35,362,933
550,832 - - 62,084,301 62,635,133

- - - 420,620 420,620
62,952,716 - - 930,367,092 993,319,808
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2023 12 31
6,707,309 35,357,111 3,144,373 45,208,793
FvOCl 133,541,666 36,255,139 919,050 170,715,855
FvoCl 1,024,923 3,321,486 206,912 4,553,321
634,043 45,775,514 11,129 46,420,686
141,907,941 120,709,250 4,281,464 266,898,655
931,145 50,070,564 355 51,002,064
- 387,829 - 387,829
931,145 50,458,393 355 51,389,893

2022 12 31
3,544,623 23,020,053 5,252,121 31,816,797
FvOCI 123,004,285 38,978,992 4,608,014 166,591,291
FvOCI 792,992 73,750 204,146 1,070,888
273,080 58,600,024 739 58,873,843
127,614,980 120,672,819 10,065,020 258,352,819
643,082 61,381,458 - 62,024,540
- 550,832 - 550,832
643,082 61,932,290 - 62,575,372
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632,419
264

8,178,857

383,651

95,482

2,830,111

3,629,590

90,698

2,837

2,053

95,482
90,698
632,419
264

2,830,111
2,837
8,178,857
2,053
383,651
3,629,590

9,195,191

6,555,183

95,588

15,845,962

6,302

2,568,018

56,023

8,010,451

486,375

571

228,529

56,023
571
6,302

8,010,451
2,568,018
228,529
486,375

2,574,320

8,552,849

229,100

11,356,269
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2023

12 31

2022 12 31

10,065,020
914,473
(6,698,384)

11,121,359
3,967,096
(5,023,435)

4,281,109

10,065,020
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©) (D
©) Q)
@ W) ESG
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BOD
BOD BOD
GCEO BOD
BOD 11
BOD
BOD
BOD
BOD ESG
BRESGC

GCRO
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FVOCI
2023 12 31
230,597,350 46,329 1,037,306 118,065 - -
23,610,061 17,077 1,714,026 40,640 - -
78,590,879 87,016 - - - -
464,786,263 1,626,769 12,938,125 1,918,653 22,924,288 9,422,849
4,375,427 1,329 - - , -
FVoCI 170,586,561 131,957 129,294 8,137 - -
18,662,500 298,582 10,579 167 10,531 1,645
237,130,443 362,250 4,313,296 163,493 1,663,900 498,425
1,228,339,484 2,571,309 20,142,626 2,249,155 24,598,719 9,922,919
2023 12 31
- - 231,634,656 164,394
- - 25,324,087 57,717
- - 78,590,879 87,016
3,992,464 532,818 504,641,140 13,501,089
- - 4,375,427 1,329
FVOCI - - 170,715,855 140,004
- - 18,683,610 300,394
4,769 3,300 243,112,408 1,027,468
3,997,233 536,118  1,277,078,062 15,279,501
FVOCI
ECL
3,885
2022 12 31
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0000000
225,702,432 62,314 1,030,231 118,066 - -
23,985,995 26,607 968,818 41,250 - -
69,128,050 21,958 - - - -
441,557,544 1,467,682 13,261,515 2,577,553 20,898,190 9,088,489
4,688,298 659 - - - -
FVoCl 166,550,713 102,509 40,578 3,936 - -
15,899,857 406,525 5,338 330 668 427
225,880,558 206,377 4,698,776 246,468 1,340,630 495,462
1,173,393,447 2,294,631 20,005,256 2,987,603 22,239,488 9,584,378
2022 12 31
- - 226,732,663 180,380
- - 24,954,813 67,857
- - 69,128,050 21,958
4,007,217 746,263 479,724,466 13,879,987
- - 4,688,298 659
FVoCl - - 166,591,291 106,445
- - 15,905,863 407,282
10,949 9,205 231,930,913 957,512
4,018,166 755,468  1,219,656,357 15,622,080
FvoCI
ECL
3,870
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POCI
2023 441,557,544 13,261,515 20,898,190 4,007,217 479,724,466
(4,920,593) 4,920,593 - - -
(2,939,764) - 2,939,764 - -
2,077,788 (2,077,788) - -
- (3,333,754) 3,333,754 - -
- 803,872 (803,872) - -
343,820 - (343,820) - -
(5,438,749) 312,923 5,125,826 - -
28,721,617 (597,203) 314,976 72,756 28,512,146
(54,149) (39,110) (3,414,704) (87,509) (3,595,472)
2023 12 31 464,786,263 12,938,125 22,924,288 3,992,464 504,641,140
2023 225,880,558 4,698,776 1,340,630 10,949 231,930,913
(2,498,137) 2,498,137 - - -
(289,335) - 289,335 - -
1,272,562 (1,272,562) - - -
- (1,256,121) 1,256,121 - -
- 5,311 (5,311) - -
50 - (50) - -
(1,514,860) (25,235) 1,540,095 - -
12,764,745 (360, 245) (1,216,825) (6,180) 11,181,495
2023 12 31 237,130,443 4,313,296 1,663,900 4,769 243,112,408
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PoCI
2022 388,015,124 18,324,871 16,807,188 5,692,979 428,840,162
(3,464,539) 3,464,539 - - -
(1,354,932) - 1,354,932 - -
2,075,805 (2,075,805) - - -
- (5,213,887) 5,213,887 - -
- 611,917 (611,917) - -
282,362 - (282,362) - -
(2,461,304) (3,213, 236) 5,674,540 - -
56,038,576 (1,823,426) 822,758 (1,509,131) 53,528,777
(34,852) (26,694) (2,406,296) (176,631) (2,644,473)
2022 12 31 441,557,544 13,261,515 20,898,190 4,007,217 479,724,466
2022 210,751,733 4,687,188 1,188,949 15,724 216,643,594
(1,285,235) 1,285,235 - - -
(89,763) - 89,763 - -
189,652 (189,652) - - -
- (302,849) 302,849 - -
- 3,291 (3,291) - -
(1,185,346) 796,025 389,321 - -
16,314,171 (784,437) (237,640) (4,775) 15,287,319
2022 12 31 225,880,558 4,698,776 1,340,630 10,949 231,930,913
2023 12 31 2022 12 31 2023 12 31 2022 12 31
AAA 26,603,942 48,671,797 694,307 367
A A 117,559,014 85,179,548 24,034,798 15,221,548
BBB B 28,885,291 34,775,195 14,783,335 12,648,673
cce 657,718 145,062 14 39
5,938,638 3,578,875 5,696,339 3,946,170
179,644,603 172,350,477 45,208,793 31,816,797
(1,329) (659) - -
179,643,274 172,349,818 45,208,793 31,816,797
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CRM
SBLC
2023 12 31 2022 12 31
0-50 12,969,664 12,372,115
51-100 5,031,317 4,457,912
100 1,622,194 1,686,910
19,623,175 18,516,937
2023 2022
CCp
1SDA
1SDA
CCP

I1SDA

161/318



EDINETOOOO
OoooDoO0oooooooo0ooo00o00DoO00DDO000bDo00DO00bDO000o0O00DbOO00D0o00no(e25742)
oOoOooodn

ECL

6(a)(

30

PD

12 PD

162/318



PD

ECL

EDINETOOOO
OoooDoO0oooooooo0ooo00o00DoO00DDO000bDo00DO00bDO000o0O00DbOO00D0o00no(e25742)
oOoOooodn

90

51(e)

ECL

40
30 2023

2022
OECD

163/318



EDINETOOOO
OoooDoO0oooooooo0ooo00o00DoO00DDO000bDo00DO00bDO000o0O00DbOO00D0o00no(e25742)
oOoOooodn

IFRS
ECL

I+

10 ECL + 0.5

164/318



EDINETOOOO
OoooDoO0oooooooo0ooo00o00DoO00DDO000bDo00DO00bDO000o0O00DbOO00D0o00no(e25742)

ooooooo
2023 12 31 2024 2028 12 31
12 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028
MENA -4.16 -14.55 -2.04 1.39 2.41
-1.47 -16.79 -2.14 1.39 2.41
-30.99 0.43 12.25 1.36 3.15
UAE GDP 3.46 2.89 1.82 1.53 1.96
6.22 3.47 1.82 1.53 1.96
-2.70 0.80 3.68 2.80 2.07
UAE 2.19 2.31 -0.35 -1.15 -0.57
5.63 3.56 -0.95 -1.72 -0.72
-5.07 -0.27 0.52 0.09 0.29
GDP 5.35 5.55 4.86 4.85 4.84
7.95 5.61 4.86 4.85 4.84
0.22 5.62 5.77 5.58 5.33
6.58 4.65 5.37 3.89 2.60
20.75 1.56 3.41 1.02 2.14
-34.95 28.93 20.99 9.36 4.63
GDP 0.26 0.83 1.22 1.35 1.61
3.76 1.07 1.18 1.38 1.82
-5.80 1.18 2.56 1.36 1.52
1.92 3.76 7.46 4.44 3.54
12.26 1.07 4.65 2.63 3.84
-17.88 12.80 13.95 6.34 2.81
@
@)
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PD
PD
PD
@C )
12 12
2023 12 31 202 12 31
10,300,822 10,644,491
5,123,452 5,818,785
3,357,261 3,007,972
ECL
ECL @ )

PD
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LGD

PD

PD
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EAD
PD
LGD
EAD
EAD
ECL EAD
@C )
PoCI
2,294,631 2,987,603 9,584,378 755,468 15,622,080
(41,001) 41,001 - - -
(40,671) - 40,671 - -
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Ooooood
109,284 (109,284) - - -
- (1,278,494) 1,278,494 - -
- 172,695 (172,695) - -
57,501 - (57,501) - -
85,023 (1,173,992) 1,088,969 - -
270,416 557,650 2,575,833 (87,288) 3,316,611
(78,761) (122,106)  (3,326,261) (132,062) (3,659,190)
2023 12 31 2,571,309 2,249,155 9,922,919 536,118 15,279,501
ECL
pOCI
2022 2,387,282 3,912,101 7,953,179 1,038,891 15,291,453
(55,302) 55,302 - - -
(65,455) - 65,455 - -
151,013 (151,013) - - -
- (1,508,638) 1,508,638 - -
- 106,377 (106,377) - -
61,618 - (61,618) - -
91,874 (1,497,972) 1,406,098 - -
(244,121) 664,764 2,498,585 (21,685) 2,897,543
59,596 (91,290)  (2,273,484) (261,738) (2,566,916)
2022 12 31 2,294,631 2,987,603 9,584,378 755,468 15,622,080
ECL
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2023 12 31 2022 12 31

231,634,656 226,732,663
40,496,350 27,954,342
10 25,324,087 24,954,813
11 78,590,879 69,128,050
12 504,641,140 479,724,466
13 52 175,091,282 171,279,589
40,067,774 30,216,153
1,095,846,168 1,029,990,076
44 40,151,122 51,162,442
44 6,269,564 7,711,401
46,420,686 58,873,843
43 165,268,955 154,595,004
43 77,843,453 77,335,909
243,112,408 231,930,913

1,385,379,262

1,320,794,832
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2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022

12 31 12 31 12 31 12 31 12 3 12 31 12 31 12 31

3,562,139 2,679,359 - - - - 116,361 153,426
36,217,487 32,056,358 4,408,791 5,903,063 - - 17,261,588 17,986,173
26,399,122 22,808,173 1,096,337 899,410 - - 4,208,170 3,961,004
10,763,916 11,332,923 839,498 995,513 - - 742,725 838,086
85,806,459 89,696,672 1,215,052 1,335,067 - - 5,417,963 7,211,121
22,177,179 25,606,349 89,408 117,764 - - 2,964,725 4,677,329
37,884,844 42,895,098 3,856,756 4,518,113 - - 14,399,425 17,876,434
12,607,202 7,920,375 28,316,927 28,947,199 60,943,330 55,656,317 - -
83,956,221 77,283,322 20,492,739 14,352,089 9,926,987 10,345,007 17,727,042 15,756,617
42,469,885 34,709,356 4,197,750 149,416 - - 9,465,092 4,873,501
61,310,050 55,910,901 160,340,138 146,949,640 7,720,562 3,126,726 5,506,489 3,976,650
50,439,551 49,891,748 - - - - 33,873 25,568
31,047,085 26,933,832 - - - - - -
504,641,140 479,724,466 224,853,396 204,167,274 78,590,879 69,128,050 77,843,453 77,335,909
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UAE
2023 12 31
63,849,453 342,631 20,992,209 148,208,562 161,824 - 233,554,679
20,021,703 2,058,114 15,086,537 3,104,039 4,931,028 7,372 45,208,793
890,632 15,079,462 6,146,918 364,217 2,563,885 278,973 25,324,087
8,319,542 23,734,813 39,103,370 - 2,699,871 4,733,283 78,590,879
1,558,324 42,188,276 1,368,626 51,163 1,192,914 61,383 46,420,686
364,816,990 39,278,305 50,525,813 26,994,236 16,291,302 6,734,494 504,641,140
32,258,042 38,084,483 28,439,216 41,745,072 37,472,674 1,645,116 179,644,603
1,500,904 - - - - - 1,500,904
493,215,590 160,766,084 161,662,689 220,467,289 65,313,498 13,460,621 1,114,885,771
2022 12 31
30,079,524 1,378,373 14,482,802 182,469,183 139,327 - 228,549,209
13,216,587 1,806,724 12,865,134 1,629,911 2,282,333 16,108 31,816,797
1,054,462 12,870,427 6,475,368 650,202 3,743,931 160,423 24,954,813
5,555,751 25,845,595 29,534,900 23,244 5,582,610 2,585,950 69,128,050
3,310,700 52,620,274 1,477,805 76,299 1,286,409 102,356 58,873,843
351,085,949 36,274,357 45,418,453 25,819,384 16,593,039 4,533,284 479,724,466
36,638,427 25,361,564 30,823,478 33,911,226 43,877,003 1,738,779 172,350,477
1,559,303 - - - - - 1,559,303
442,500,703 156,157,314 141,077,940 244,579,449 73,504,652 9,136,900 1,066,956,958
43
2023 12 31 2022 12 31 2023 12 31 2022 12 31
122,785,913 119,907,304 36,556,938 25,726,513
995,368 536,497 1,919 779,326
13,494,209 15,529,732 678,064 786,919
26,685,161 27,916,727 1,631,766 1,030,472
15,683,952 8,460,217 6,340,106 3,493,567
179,644,603 172,350,477 45,208,793 31,816,797
(1,329) (659) - -
179,643,274 172,349,818 45,208,793 31,816,797
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2023 12 31

233,390,285 233,390,285 - - - - -
45,208,793 15,258,140 21,009,901 3,194,189 457,216 576,904 4,712,443
25,266,370 25,266,370 - - - - -
78,503,863 25,666,137 33,158,369 16,513,208 3,166,149 - -
46,420,686 2,694,633 3,454,947 9,572,738 8,166,370 22,531,998 -
483,953,520 59,050,079 76,374,840 116,860,110 81,269,669 135,099,984 15,298,838
179,643,274 36,965,724 20,982,003 33,274,557 30,904,220 52,963,449 4,553,321
41,332,686 30,999,514 10,333,172 - - - -
1,500,904 - - - - - 1,500,904
8,161,737 - - - - - 8,161,737
5,114,876 - - - - - 5,114,876
20,135,567 - - - - - 20,135,567
1,168,632,561 429,290,882 165,318,232 179,414,802 123,963,624 211,172,335 59,477,686
71,527,631 63,503,395 4,351,236 3,673,000 - - -
26,096,108 12,936,286 6,268,611 6,891,211 - - -
19,658,769 13,826,494 5,832,275 - - - -
51,002,064 3,502,120 2,891,043 9,699,450 7,861,517 27,047,934 -
759,862,632 625,503,252 127,958,376 5,462,468 720,816 222,720 -
46,931,908 35,198,931 11,732,977 - - - -
63,938,927 4,835,775 7,459,653 24,436,102 16,170,076 11,037,321 -
4,191,417 - - - 4,191,417 - -
125,423,105 - - - - - 125,423,105
1,168,632,561 759,306,253 166,489,171 50,162,231 28,943,826 38,307,975 125,423,105
77,843,453 6,979,356 66,879,118 1,696,995 2,119,364 168,620 -
165,268,955 83,806,783 12,873,717 23,337,762 26,360,976 18,889,717 -
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2022 12 31

228,368,829 228,368,829 - - - - -
31,816,797 16,644,294 9,405,184 829,273 680,340 395,251 3,862,455
24,886,956 24,886,956 - - - - -
69,106,092 28,904,283 25,635,985 9,056,324 5,509,500 - -
58,873,843 3,057,711 4,368,204 12,222,893 12,039,210 27,185,825 -
459,593,327 67,208,857 57,307,559 116,723,716 91,926,009 126,427,186 -
172,349,818 36,480,423 21,502,193 35,702,399 36,448,860 41,145,055 1,070,888
30,205,655 22,654,241 7,551,414 - - - -
1,559,303 - - - - - 1,559,303
7,168,089 - - - - - 7,168,089
5,795,207 - - - - - 5,795,207
20,332,179 - - - - - 20,332,179
1,110,056,095 428,205,594 125,770,539 174,534,605 146,603,919 195,153,317 39,788,121
61,560,340 54,854,969 3,032,371 3,673,000 - - -
39,004,515 14,164,027 8,516,896 16,323,592 - - -
31,738,356 30,961,721 776,635 - - - -
62,024,540 3,940,128 4,687,064 11,824,864 11,681,781 29,890,703 -
700,573,371 531,533,489 157,829,862 5,118,485 710,687 5,380,848 -
37,048,977 27,786,733 9,262,244 - - - -
62,635,133 7,588,148 3,486,363 23,812,000 20,435,359 7,313,263 -
420,620 - - - 420,620 - -
115,050,243 - - - - - 115,050,243
1,110,056,095 670,829,215 187,591,435 60,751,941 33,248,447 42,584,814 115,050,243
77,335,909 39,560,238 36,581,724 871,410 407 322,130 -
154,595,004 80,159,980 20,528,575 16,879,437 23,064,804 13,962,208 -
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2023 12 31
71,527,631 72,310,770 63,881,999 4,680,024 3,748,747 - -
26,096,108 27,615,185 13,005,879 6,591,361 8,017,945 - -
19,658,769 22,242,927 14,126,001 8,116,926 - - -
759,862,632 783,338,737 642,681,856 133,342,459 6,141,019 857,117 316,286
63,938,927 92,132,975 5,881,921 9,546,418 29,220,604 18,493,945 28,990,087
4,191,417 6,488,673 - 251,118 502,236 882,873 4,852,446
945,275,484  1,004,129,267 739,577,656 162,528,306 47,630,551 20,233,935 34,158,819
77,843,453 77,843,453 6,979,356 66,879,118 1,696,995 2,119,364 168,620
165,268,955 165,268,955 83,806,783 12,873,717 23,337,762 26,360,976 18,889,717

2022 12 31
61,560,340 62,348,623 55,146,704 3,267,480 3,934,439 - -
39,004,515 41,084,160 14,230,036 8,824,918 18,029,206 - -
31,738,356 31,867,385 31,075,899 791,486 - - -
700,573,371 711,563,649 536,176,208 163,390,447 5,805,192 766,679 5,425,123
62,635,133 87,013,220 8,495,932 5,328,795 29,373,376 23,470,465 20,344,652
420,620 515,821 - 19,749 39,607 456,465 -
895,932,335 934,392,858 645,124,779 181,622,875 57,181,820 24,693,609 25,769,775
77,335,909 77,335,909 39,560,238 36,581,724 871,410 407 322,130
154,595,004 154,595,004 80,159,980 20,528,575 16,879,437 23,064,804 13,962,208

©
IMCO
IMCO

G-ALCO

175/318



EDINETOOOO
OoooDoO0oooooooo0ooo00o00DoO00DDO000bDo00DO00bDO000o0O00DbOO00D0o00no(e25742)

ooOoooOoo
IMCO
G-ALCO BRESGC
VaR
VaR
VaR
99
12
VaR
VaR IMCO G-ALCO
VaR
VaR VaR
VaR
VaR sVaR ES
MAT VaR
2023 12 31
VaR
92,571 81,140 135,252 50,507
138,946 85,024 166,962 24,381
17,771 18,716 27,225 10,967
9,538 13,868 29,388 4,684
2,600 3,734 14,092 923
190 635 9,406 48
(76.474) (40,837) (111,821) 9,504
2022 12 31
VaR
49,405 44,646 62,720 22,194
48,667 24,674 49,953 8,746
13,471 19,908 42,549 8,248
6,704 17,996 47,008 4,735
3,297 2,445 5,834 242
793 1,168 8,202 19
(23,527) (21,545) (90,826) 204
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VaR VaR
VaR
VaR
IMCO G-ALCO
VaR VaR
2023 12 31
VaR
384,860 358,265 412,698 271,670
100,123 110,637 176,236 59,887
402,545 355,241 416,944 252,484
133,394 82,591 160,395 14,224
18,015 16,608 19,036 14,456
(269,217) (206,812) (359,913) (69,381)
2022 12 31
VaR
316,418 228,550 317,105 156,074
156,276 142,034 237,113 103,304
299,477 243,445 302,574 135,816
15,404 10,243 27,641 4,108
17,940 17,164 22,566 8,794
(172,679) (184,336) (272,789) (95,948)
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UAE
2023 12 31
4,829,630 61,707,400 66,537,030
(1,435,313) 1,430,982 (4,331)
11,793,680 (11,702,271) 91,409
163,859 (222,120) (58,261)
1,621,240 (4,036,743) (2,415,503)
4,691,673 (4,695,598) (3,925)
(5,279,971) 5,222,908 (57,063)
9,974,021 (5.931,447) 4,042,574
11,638,378 (10,697,160) 941,218
1,229,805 (168,525) 1,061,280
188,592 - 188,592
10,548,204 (11,059,107) (510,903)
2022 12 31
36,418,533 14,166,986 50,585,519
(6,087,696) 5,987,604 (100,092)
6,494,186 (5,268,504) 1,225,682
(261,244) 338,652 77,408
1,497,762 (44,272) 1,453,490
4,659,046 (4,671,459) (12,413)
(5,286,379) 5,245,329 (41,050)
9,071,533 (3,972,014) 5,099,519
9,419,923 (9,720,529) (300,606)
1,166,757 (108,076) 1,058,681
157,243 - 157,243
3,873,670 (5,168,276) (1,294,606)
2023 2022 12 31
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2023 12 31 + 9,412 + 914 + 43 + 39 + 10,613
2022 12 31 + 3,006 + 12,257 + 1,001 + 124 + 10,587
2023 2022 12 31
2023 12 31 2022 12 31
73,020 60,228
1,192 1,575
157,217 112,459
4,193 18,860
235,622 193,122
2023 2022 12 31
2023 12 31 2022 12 31

177,340 16,456
40,122 26,881
10,204 10,207
227,666 53,544
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44
50 2022 12 31 50
2023 2022 2023 2022
12 31 12 31 12 31 12 31
448,523 685,219 560,398 659,590
(493,125) (724,449) (538,046) (603,224)
747,850
2022 12 31 730,469 716,184

12 31 639,419
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2023 12 31

233,390,285 194,897,448 143,383 - - 239 38,349,215
45,208,793 17,353,355 22,149,274 2,054,080 457,216 576,905 2,617,963
25,266,370 20,871,070 96,260 - 103,897 - 4,195,143
78,503,863 25,745,686 33,158,369 16,433,659 3,166,149 - -
46,420,686 - - - - - 46,420,686
483,953,520 349,716,762 58,747,544 43,342,239 26,794,335 5,352,640 -
179,643,274 43,714,796 20,759,165 33,386,003 30,584,997 46,644,992 4,553,321
41,332,686 - - - - - 41,332,686
1,500,904 - - - - - 1,500,904
8,161,737 - - - - - 8,161,737
5,114,876 - - - - - 5,114,876
20,135,567 - - - - - 20,135,567

1,168,632,561 652,299,117 135,053,995 95,215,981 61,106,594 52,574,776 172,382,098

71,527,631 59,821,960 4,351,236 - 213,058 - 7,141,377
26,096,108 12,936,286 6,268,611 6,891,211 - - -
19,658,769 13,825,491 5,833,278 - - - -
51,002,064 - - - - - 51,002,064
759,862,632 462,430,431 132,774,844 19,032,564 145,524,690 100,103 -
46,931,908 - - - - - 46,931,908
63,938,927 14,238,783 3,703,233 20,275,131 13,485,246 12,236,534 -
4,191,417 - - - 4,191,417 - -
125,423,105 - - - - - 125,423,105

1,168,632,561 563,252,951 152,931,202 46,198,906 163,414,411 12,336,637 230,498,454

89,046,166 (17,8717,207) 49,017,075  (102,307,817) 40,238,139 (58,116,356)

22,911,182 15,643,364 4,302,980 (13,770,543)  (29,086,983) -

111,957,348 (2,233,843) 53,320,055  (116,078,360) 11,151,156  (58,116,356)

111,957,348 109,723,505 163,043,560 46,965,200 58,116,356 -
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2022 12 31

228,368,829 204,494,879 138,020 - - 239 23,735,691
31,816,797 18,311,815 9,393,433 822,248 680,340 395,251 2,213,710
24,886,956 21,456,922 37,545 - 113,719 - 3,278,770
69,106,092 28,926,241 25,635,985 9,056,324 5,487,542 - -
58,873,843 - - - - - 58,873,843
459,593,327 314,333,511 72,446,033 35,604,724 31,176,979 6,032,080 -
172,349,818 41,313,933 21,686,320 32,437,867 35,473,128 40,269,817 1,168,753
30,205,655 - - - - - 30,205,655
1,559,303 - - - - - 1,559,303
7,168,089 - - - - - 7,168,089
5,795,207 - - - - - 5,795,207
20,332,179 - - - - - 20,332,179
1,110,056,095 628,837,301 129,337,336 77,921,163 72,931,708 46,697,387 154,331,200
61,560,340 48,279,949 3,110,268 - 3,911,329 - 6,258,794
39,004,515 13,768,730 8,516,896 16,718,889 - - -
31,738,356 30,962,208 776,148 - - - -
62,024,540 - - - - - 62,024,540
700,573,371 360,350,394 157,465,046 7,279,965 175,439,565 38,401 -
37,048,977 - - - - - 37,048,977
62,635,133 13,969,224 2,219,929 20,484,853 18,096,432 7,864,695 -
420,620 - - - 420,620 - -
115,050,243 - - - - - 115,050,243
1,110,056,095 467,330,505 172,088,287 44,483,707 197,867,946 7,903,096 220,382,554

161,506,796  (42,750,951) 33,437,456  (124,936,238) 38,794,291 (66,051,354)
6,800,753 40,111,769  (17,696,737)  (19,383,796)  (9,831,989) -

168,307,549 (2,639,182) 15,740,719  (144,320,034) 28,962,302 (66,051,354)
168,307,549 165,668,367 181,409,086 37,089,052 66,051,354 -
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IBOR ARRS
IBOR
LIBOR I1BOR
IBOR ARRS
FAB IBOR
LIBOR LIBOR
I1BOR LIBOR
2024 30
FCA IBA ICE Benchmark Administration Limited
LIBOR 2024 30
2023 LIBOR LIBOR
CME SOFR 1SDA
LIBOR
2023 12 31 LIBOR
IBOR FAB
IBOR IBOR
IBOR 2023 12 31
IBOR
1BOR
2023 12 31 2022 12 31
LIBOR SOFR
LIBOR SONIA
EONIA €STR
EURIBOR EURIBOR
LIBOR TONAR TORF
LIBOR SARON
FAB
FAB 2023 12 31
FAB 1BOR
LIBOR
2023 2022

- 322,714
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1,140,845 389,095
78,473 4,726,354
590,561 29,901,779
29,521,189 91,894,639
2,520,298 8,380,834
33,851,366 135,615,415
5,522,934 27,218,069
6,945,524 32,857,465
- 30,930,714
14,369,166 258,404,465
9,538,986 16,647,997
36,376,610 366,058,710
IBOR
2023 12 31
2023 2022
- 2,471,929
oTC 18,386,877 748,469,269
oTC - 1,443,489
oTC 1,032,036 158,509,522
19,418,913 910,894,209
2021 1SDA
€STR SOFR
IBOR IBOR
FAB FAB

@
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CBUAE
ICAAP
1CAAP
CBUAE
1CAAP
2023

UAE UAE 2020 11 12

CBUAE/BSD/N/2020/4980 UAE

FAB UAE 14.5

UAE FAB

D-SIB 2019 1.50 D-SIB

14.5
2.5 FAB
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UAE 2020 22 CBUAE/BSD/N/2020/2016 IFRS
2019 12 31 IFRS (
IFRS
2024 12 31
CBUAE CET
2023 12 31 2022 12 31
11,047,612 11,047,612
53,557,581 53,557,581
36,393,333 27,078,852
14,098,861 13,084,313
478,081 478,081
(1,185,349) (2,270,259)
110,272 12,460
(2,924,527) (2,175,695)
(7,843,805) (5,744,758)
@ 103,732,059 95,068,187
(6,505) (6,505)
(237,725) (134,767)
(21,986,016) (22,543,127)
(270,788) (281,789)
(22,501,034) (22,966,188)
81,231,025 72,101,999
10,754,750 10,754,750
91,985,775 82,856,749
3,899,025 210,310
6,414,338 6,200,441
10,313,363 6,410,751
102,299,138 89,267,500
513,147,062 496,035,297
36,309,861 42,880,507
37,992,409 32,974,585
587,449,332 571,890,389
CET 13.8 12.6
15.7 14.5

187/318




EDINETOOOO
OoooDoO0oooooooo0ooo00o00DoO00DDO000bDo00DO00bDO000o0O00DbOO00D0o00no(e25742)
oOoOooodn

17.4 15.6
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BOD
(i)  ESG

ESG ESG

ESG
ESG
ESG
ESG
ESG ESG

52

2022 12 31 1.5

2022 75 2022

2022 12 31 169

2022 12 31 381
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2022 12 31 3,444

53
2023 FAB
10.3 2.2
FAB
FAB 2.7 576
FAB
1.4 370
54

2023 12 31
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FAB(

Consolidated statement of financial position Pt b Dbl sk
As at 31 December 2023
MNaote 31 Dec 2023 31 Dec 2022
AED 000 AED'D00

Assets
Cash and balances with central banks B 133,390,285 128,368,820
Investments at falr value through profit or loss 9 45,208,793 31,816,797
Due from banks and firancial institutions 10 25,266,370 24,886,956
Reverse repurchase agreements 11 78,503,863 69,106,092
Derivative financial instruments a4 46,420,686 58,873,843
Loans, advances and Islamic financing 12 483,953,520 459,593,327
Non trading investment securities 13,52 179,643,274 172,349,813
Other assets 14 41,332 686 30,205,655
Investrent in ass0ciates 15,52 1,500,904 1,559,303
Investment properties 16 8,161,737 7,168,089
Property and equipment 17 5,114,876 5,795,207
Intangibles 18 20,135,567 20,332,179
Total assets 1,168,632,561  1,110,056,045
Liabilities
Due to banks and financial institutions 15 71,527,631 51,560,340
Repurchase agreements 20 26,096,108 35,004,515
Commercial paper il 15,658,769 31,738,356
Derivative financial instruments a4 51,002,064 62,024,540
Customer accounts and other deposits 22 755,862,632 T00,573,371
Other liahilities 23 46,931,908 37,048,977
Term borrowings 24 63,938,927 62,635,133
Subordinated notes 5 4,191,417 420,620
Total liabilities 1,043,209 456 955,005,852
Equity _
Share capital 26 11,047,612 11,047,612
Share premium 53,557,581 53,567 581
Treasury shares [6,505) [6,505)
Statutory and special reserves 13,084,313 13,084 213
Other resenves 6 208,702 [835,.463)
Tier 1 capital notes i 10,754,750 10,754,750
Share based payment 8 249,816 149 816
Retained earmings 36,416,564 27,185,679
Total equity attributable to shareholders of the Bank 125,312,833 115,037,783
Non-controlling interest 110,272 12.460
Total equity 125,423,105 115,050,242
Total liabilitles and equity 1,168,632,561 1,110,056,095

To the best of aur knowledge, the consolidated financial statements present fairly in all matevial respects the financial condition finarcial
perfarmance and eash flows of the Group as of and for, the periods presented thersin

These consobdated financial statesments wene approved by the Board of Directors and autherized for issee on 31 January 2024 and signed on s
behalf:

[TV

Group Chief Executive Officer Group Chief Financial Officer

The aﬁ:ommmllng nates forms an integral part of these consolidated financial statements,
The independent auditor's repart on sudit of the consobidated fimancial statements is set out on page 2to 9.

10| 112
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Consolidated statement of profit and |oss FAB(

For the year ended 31 December 2023 P Ao Dt sk
Mot 31 Dec 2023 31 Dec 2022
AED 000 AEDAOD0
Interest income 2852 59,712,319 28,140,801
Interest expense 30,52 {43,204,331) [15,169,960)
Met Interest Incorme 16,507 988 12,870,841
Incame from Islamic financing and investing products 31 2,910,357 1,963,434
Distribution an Islamic deposits 3252 {1,316,812] (717.047)
Met Income fram lslamlc financing and Investing products 1,593,585 1,246,387
Total net interest income and income from Islamic financing
and investing products 18,101,573 14,217,228
Fiee and commission incam EE] 4,282 884 3,975,860
Fee and commission expense 33 [1.275,333] 11,195,322}
MNet fee and commission Income 3,007,551 2,780,547
Met foreign exchange gain 34 2,596,955 1,776,676
Net gain on investments and derivatives 35,52 3742176 2,317,854
Other operating income / (loss) 36 3,151 (252,089}
Operating Income 27,471 406 20,840,216
Gain on disposal of stake in subsidiary and fair value gain on retained interast 7 283,775 3,093,703
Total income Including gain on disposal of stake In subsidlary and falr value
23,933,919
gain on retained interest R
General, administration and other operating expenses 38 (7.125,289] 6,704,829}
Profit before net impairment charge and taxation 20,629,852 17,229,090
MNet impalrment charge 39 (3.077,906] {2,839,358)
Profit before taxation 17,551,585 14,389,732
Income tax expence 40 11,041,742] [967,621)
Prafit for the year 16,510,244 13,432,111
Profit attributable to:
Shareholders of the Bank 16,405,493 13,411,198
Hon-contrelling interest 104,751 10,913
Basic and diluted earnings per share {AED) £ 143 118

The acoomparying notes forms a0 integral part of these conseidated Fnandy statlements.
The independent auditor's repart o awdit of the comsolidated Finandal statements is set Gt on page 2 16 9.

11112
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Sl pabg el
Consolidated statement of other comprehensive income FAB(

For the year ended 31 December 2023 First Al Db Bank
31 Dec 2023 i1 Dec 2022

AED'000 AEDDOD

Profit for the year 16,510,244 13,422,111

Other comprehensive income
Iterns that are or may be reclassified subsequently to profit or boss
Exchange difference on translation of foreign aperations {748,102) 1,647,757}
Met change in fair value reserve during the year (including ECL) 1,391,973 (3,625,620

Iterns that will not be reclassifled to profit or loss
Equity investments at fair value through other comprehensive income net change in

fair value {327 424) (7.500)
Re-measurement of defined benefit obligations (9,811) 34,737
Board of Directors” remuneration {45,150) {48,000)
Gther adjustments 3,000 5,750

Other comprehensive income Jf{loss] for the year 264 486 {5,284,390)
Total camprehensive income far the year 16,774,730 8,133,721
Comprehensive iIncome attributable to:
Shareholders of the Bank 16,669,240 B, 129,893
Non-controlling interast 105481 3,828
Total comprehensive income for the period 16,774,730 8,133,721

The accompanyng notes farms an integral part of these conselidated finandal statements,
Tre independent auditor's report on awdit of the consoldated Tinandal statements s set oat on page 2 1o 3,

12 | 112
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Consolidated statement of cash flows FABA(

For the year ended 31 December 2023 PR A DR
Mate 3] Dec 2022
AEDADON
Cash Alows from operating activities
Profit before takation 17,551 586 14385732
fdjustrments far:
Deprecation and armoertization 38 930,296 1,062 293
{Gain}/less en revaluation of investment properties 16 (1405} 127314
Gaim on sale of ivestment groperty {148, 160§
Gain on sale of fed assets {502} {4.335)
Gain ondisposal of stake in subsidiasy and fa's value gain on retained inberest a7 {283,775} {3,093, 703}
Kt impairment cha e 9 3,584,560 1116645
Accreted interest 531,843 547915
22,214,843 16,347 861
Changes in:
Ivestrnents at fair valee throwgh profit or loss {13,510, 745} 13808297
D From cenbral banks, banis and linandal institutions 1,026,819 2,796,164
Rewerse reparchise agreements {muz,mj [22,840,045)
Loans, advances and lslama financag (27,808,242} [52.568,833)
Othir ssels (10,023,041} 19,994, B16)
Due to banks and Fnancial institutions 89,967,291 4,575,160
Repurchase agreements [12,908.407) 16,069,579
Customer soogants and other deposits 59,289,261 BB, 1979599
Derivative financal instrurments 2,492,430 (6,201,390}
Quher Fabtties _&H:r,m 14 486647
31,235,390 X3 RIEOGS
Incame tax pad, net ol recoveries 23 (1,058,282} (B69.415)
Directors’ rermuneration pald 4 {45, 000}
it cash from operating activities' 30,132,108 921650
Cash flows from investing activities
Ket purchase of non trading investments securities (6,702,264} [29.562.853)
Het movement in investment progerties {1.041,483) (532,827}
Proceeds from sale of subsidiary 334,960
Purchase of property and equipment, net of dsposals {L,D‘?EJH} (558 593
Mt cash used n investing actrvities (8,479,541} [31,054,673)
Cash flows fram Hinancing activities
Dividend pa'd to shareholders of the Bank 26 15,720,357} {5.327.691)
Dividend pad to minarity sharehoiders (7,665} [6.796)
ket movement of comenercial paper [12,079,587) {7,925, 8096}
bsue of term borowings 24 8,135,830 10625674
Repayment of term Dorrewings 24 8,296,933} [13,430.531)
hsuance of subord nated notes 3,673,000
PFayment on Tier 1 capital notes 27 155&“‘] {376, 465)
Mot cash used in financing activities {15,044, 540} [16.442.705)
Het increase | {decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 5BOBO2T  [15373.728)
Forelgn currency tranalation adjuit-nent {206, 154} 13,444 371)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 250,796,021 AT2,E14, 100
Cash and cash eguivalenis at 31 December 41 257,197,584 150, 796,021
'Refer note 52 = Comparative Fgures
The sccompangng notes farms an integral part of thise consolidated financial statements,
The indegendent auditar's report on audit of the censelidated Fnancal statements is set oul on page 2 1o 9.
14112
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1 Legal status and principal activities

First Abu Dhabd Bank PISC (the "Bank™} is a public joint stock company with limited llability incarporated in the emirate of Abu Dhabi, United
Arab Emirates (LUAE) under the Commercial Companies Law (Federal Law Number & of 1984 as amended). The registered address of the
Bank is P. O, Box 6316, FAB Building, Khalifa Business Park, Al Qurum, Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates.

Thesa consolidated financial statements as at and for the year ended 31 December 2023, comprise the Bank and its subsidiaries (together
referred to as the “Group”). The Group is primarily engaged in corporate, consumer, private and investment banking activities, payment
sarvices, managemant services, [slamic banking activities, real estate activities; and carries out its operations through its local and owerseas
branches, subsidiaries and representative offices bocated in the United Arab Emirates, Babrain, Brazil, Cayman Islands, China, Egypt, France,
Hang Kong, India, Indonesia, Irag, Jlordan’, Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, Kuwait, Lebanon®, Libya, Malaysla, Oman, Qatar’, Singapore, South
Korea, Switzerland, the United Kingdom and the United States of America,

The Group's |slamic banking activities are conducted in accordance with Islamic Sharia’a rules and principles as interpreted by the Internal
Shariah Supervision Committes (1550} in accordance with the resolutions issued by the Higher Shariah Authority [“HSA").

The Group is listed on the Abu Dhabi Securities Exchange (Ticker: FAB). The consolidated financial statements of the Group as at and for
the year ended 31 December 2023 are avallable upon request from the Group's registered office or at website (httpy//www. bankfab.com).

! Under closure.

“The Bank has notified the Qatar Financial Centre Regulatory Authority [“QFCRA") that it will relinguish its Qatar Financial Centre (“QFCT)
branch license and permanently clase its QFC branch.

2 Basis of preparation

{a) Basis of measurement

Thesa consolidated financial statements are prepared under the historical cost basis except for the following material items, which are
measured on the following basis:

Hems Measurement basls
Investrnents at fair value through prafit or loss Fair value
Derivative financial instrumints Fair value

Debt and equity instruments designated at fair value through other

camprehensive income iakdazs

Invastment properties Fair value

Recognised assets and liabilivies designated as hedged items in qualifying | Adjusted for changes in fair value attributable to the risk
hedge relationships being hedged

Man-financial assets acquired in settlement of Loans, advances and Islamic | Lower of their fair value less costs to sefl and the carrying
financing amaount of the loans, advances and kslamic financing

{b) Functional and presentation currency

These consolidated financlal statements are presented in United Arab Emirates Dirhams [“AED"), which & the Bank"s functional currency.
Al amaunts have been rounded to the nearest thousand, unless atherwise indicated. ltems included in the financal statements of each of
the Bank's overseas subsidiaries and branches are measured using the currency of the primary economic emdronment in which they
operate.

{e} Use of estimates and judgements

The preparation of consolidated financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect
the application of accounting policies and reported amaunts of assets and labilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis and are based on historical experiences and other factors, including
expectation of future events that may hawve a financial Impact on the Group and considerad to be reasonable under the crcumstances.

Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised prospectively,

Information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgements in applying accounting pelicies that have the mast
significant effect on the amounts recognised in these consolidated financial statements are described in note 7.,

15| 112
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 e A O B

3  Statement of Compliance

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, a5 management is satisfied that the Group has
adequate resources to continue as a golng concern for the foreseeable future, In accordance with Intermational Financlal Reporting
Standards Accounting Standards (IFR5) as Bsued by the International Accounting Standards Board [1A58") and comply with the
requirements of applicable laws in the UAE. IFRSs comprise accounting standards issued by the |ASE as well as Interpretations issued by
the | nternational Financial Reparting Interpretations Committes | “IFRICT).

On 20 September 2021, the UAE Federal Decree Law No. 32 of 2021 was issuved and came into effect on 2 lanuary 2022 which repealed the
UAE Federal Law No. 2 of 2015 [as amended). The Bank is in compliance with applicable provisions of the UAE Federal Decree Law No. 32
of 2021 and the applicable provisions of Law Mo. (1) of 2017 [as amended] concerning the financial system of the Government of Abu Dhabi
and instructions isswed by the Department of Finance as at the date of these consolidated financial statements,

These consalidated financal statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 31 January 2024,

4 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures

{a) Mew and amended standards and interpretations adopted

The following amendments to existing standards and framework have been applied by the Group in preparation of these consolidated

financial statements. The adoption of the below amended standards did not result in changes to previously reparted net prafit ar equity of
the Group,

Description Effective from
Marrow scope amendments to 1AS 1, Practice statement 2 and 1AS 8 1 Januwary 2023
Amendment to 145 12 - deferred tax related bo assets and llabilities arksing from a single transaction 1 January 2023
IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and amendments to IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts 1 January 2023
Amendment to 145 12 - International tax reform 1 January 2023

{b) Standards issued but not yet effective

& number of new standards and amendments to standards are effective for annual periods beginning after 1 January 2024 and earlier
application is permitted; however, the Group has not early adopted them in preparing these consolidated financial statements.

The following new standard and amendments to the standards are applicable to annual reparting periods beginning on or after 1 January
2024 and early application is permitted. The Group & currently evaluating the impact of the new standard and amendments to the
standards and expects to adopt them on the effective date.

Amendments to IFRS 16 = Lease liability in a sale and leaseback

Amendment to A5 1 = Non-current liabilities with covenants

Amendment to A5 7 and IFRS 7 = Supplier finance arrangements

Amendments to 1AS 21 = Lack of Exchangeability

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 - Sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture
IFR5 51 — General requirements for disclosure of sustainability related financial information

IFR5 52 — Climate related disclosures

5 Basis of consolidation

{i} Business combinations

The Graup accounts for busineds combinations wiing the scquisition method when the acquired set of activities and asets mests the
definition of a business and contral is transferred to the Group,

In determining whether a particular set of activities and assets Is a business, the Group assesses whether the set of assets and activities
acquired includes, at a minimum, an input and substantive process and whether the acquired set has the ability to produce outputs. The
Group has an option to apply a ‘concentration test’ that permits a simplified assessment of whether an acquired sat of activities and assets
I& nat & business, The optional concentration test is met f substantially afl the fair value of the gross assets acquired is concentrated in a
single identdfiable asset or group of uimilar identifiable assets,

The cost of an acquisition s measured as the aggregate of the consideration transferred measured at acguisition date fair value and the
amount of any non-contralling Interests in the acquires, The consideration transferred does not include amounts related to the settlement

of pre-existing relationships. Such amounts are generally recognised in profit or less. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred
and included in general, administration and other operating expenses, except If related to the issue of debt or equity securities.

16 ] 112
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5 Basis of consolidation {continued}

{i} Business combinations (continued)

When the Group acquires a business, it assessas the financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and designation
in accordance with the contractual terms, econamic droumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This incledes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by the acquiree, If the business combination is achieved in stages, any previously
held equity interest is re-measured at its acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or lass ks recognised in profit or loss. It s then
considered in the determination of goodwill.

Any contingent consideration is measured at fair value at the date of acquisition, If an obligation to pay contingent consideration that meets
the definition of a financial instrument Is classified as equity, then it & pot remeasured and settlement |s accounted for within equity.
Otherwise, other contingent consideration i remeasured at fair value at each reporting date and subsequent changes in the fair value of
the contingent consideration are recagnised in profit or loss.

Gaodwill s initially mesdured at cost, being the exciess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred and the amount recognited for
nan-cantralling interests, and any previous interest held, over the net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the fair value
of the net assets acquired is in excess of the aggregate consideration transferred or in an excess of the fair value of net assets acquired
over the aggregate consideration transferred, then the gain is recognised in profit or boss.

afrer initial recognition, goodwill s measured at cost bess any accumulated impairment losses, For the purpose of impairment testing,
poedwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group's cash-generating units [“0GU")
that are expected to benefit from the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those
umits. Where goodwill has been allocated to a CGU and part of the operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with
the dispated aperation is included in the carrying amount of the oparation when determining the gain ar loss an disposal. Goodwill disposed
in thiese crcumstances is measured based on the relative values of the disposed operation and the portion of the CGL retained,

(i} Subsidiaries

IFRS 10 — “Cansalidated financial statements” governs the basis for consolidation where it establishes a single contral model that applies
to all entities including special purpose entities or structured entities. The definition of contral is such that an investor controls an investee
when it is exposed to, or has fghts, to variable returns from its inwolvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power aver the investee. To meet the definition of contral in IFRS 10, all three criteria must be met, including:

[a} the investor has power over an Investee;
(b} the investar has exposure to, of rights, to varlable returns from its invoheement with the investes; and
[c] the investor has the ability to use its power over the investee to affect the amount of the investor's returns.

Generally, it is presumed that a majonity of voting rights results in control. However, in individual circumatances, the Group may still exercise
contral with a less than 506 shareholding or may not be able to exercise cantral even with ownership over 50% of an entity’s shares. When
assessing whether it has power over an investee and therefore controls the variability of its returns, the Group considers all relevant facts
and circumstances, including:

{a] The purpose and design of the investes,

[b) The size of the Group's halding of vating rights relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of the other vate halders,

(¢) Potential voting rights held by the Group.

{d} The relewant facts and circumstances that indicate that the Group has, or does not have, the current ability to direct the relavant
activities at the time the decision needs to be made (incleding voting patterns at previous shareholders’ meetings) and whether the
Group can direct those activitieg

(#] Contractual arrangements such as call rights, put rights and liquidation rghts.

() ‘Whether the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee, and has the power to affect
the variabilay of such returns.

Subsidiaries are entities that are controlled by the Group. The Group controls the investee if it meets the control criteria set out above, The
Group reassesses whether i has control if, there are changes te one or more of the elements of control, This includes circumstances. in
which protective rights hekd become substantive and lead to the Group having power over an investes, The financial statements of
subsidiaries are Included in these consalidated financial statements from the date that control commences until the date that control
ceases. Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income (“0C1%) are attributed to the equity halders of the Bank and to
the nen=controlling interests [“NCI7), even if this results in the NCIhaving a deficit balance. When necessarny, adjustments are made to the
financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with the Bank's accounting policies,

& change in the ownership interest of 4 subsidiany, without loss of control, 5 accounted for as an equity transaction. If the Bank loses
control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the related assats (including poodwill), liabilities, NCI and other components of equity, while any
resultant gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. Any investment retained is recognised at fair value at the date of loss of contral.
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5 Basis of consolidation (continued}

{ii} Subsidiaries [continuwed)

FABT

Wil Al Db Bk

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Bank and those of its principal subsidiaries which are set

out below:
Legal Name i Principal activities HARHIE R | e
First Any Dhab Bank UGS NV, Curacan Eaniing 100 104rs
FAB Securdies LLC United Arn Emisates Brokerage e 106
Abu Dhabl Natlonal Leas ing LLC United Araln Emirates Leasing 100 10
A Dhabi National Propsriass Pt, 150 United! Arat Emiirates Fropmy Management 1005 100
FAR Private Bank {Suiie) S Switreriand Banking [E T 100°%
First Ay Dhabl klamic Finance PISC Unifed Aran Emrvirates Islamic Finance 101% 100
Abu Dhabi Securties Brokerage Egyot! bgyat Broserage b5 Siite
MBAD Ernplopbe Shate Optioos Lmited United Arad Emvicabes Shafes and Sedurftie 1005 10
National Banicof Abu Dhabd Represe maghes Lida Brazi Representative affice L[ 12 100FE
FAB Gioba! Maroets {Cayman] Uimited Cayman Bands Flmancal bstitutan A0 1005
Mawat Managerment Servioes - Dne Mas Campany LLC Unitedl Ara Emicates Servioes I 100F
M miak Propeties Coo LLC {"Mismak™] United Araln Emiicates Real estabe Investmants [ 1066
Moera Propertics Co, LUC (S bs'clang of Mizmal) Unifed Aran Ermiirates Real estate investments B BIE
Shangri La Dubal Hode! LLE (Subsidiany of Mismak) United Ara Emirates Heal estate inwvestments 1013 10
First Merchast bybernational LU ("FAIC) Unitesl Aran Emirates Real estate investments [ 1005
FAR Esnpitry vkl Sefvoed LLC {Subddiasy af FME) United Arad Ermifatis Reaureing Sefvided 10 1R
FAB Resourcing Services LUC {Subs diary of #M1) Unifed Aran Emirates Resourcing services e i 106
:::?:iaﬁ; :HF::\‘:';TTNM“‘.&‘N:W LLL. {"Horkon') Unived Aral Ervirates Real eSTALe relabed servces HIE 1 10658
Horipen Guif Geseral Contracting LU [Sabsdiary of Bosinon) Uniti Arah Eriates sl E5tati relabes ot N 1005
POCS Engineering LLC {Sutsid ey of Rarzaa) United Arad Emicates Real estate related services el 10
Horzon GuA OF and Gas Services LLC {Subsidiary of Horizon) Unided Araln Emibrates Real estate related services [0 100
FAR Syuk Company Limited Cayman B anes Spbgial purpose vehile Lo 100r
First Gulf Lioyan Bank? Libwa Banking services S0 SiFs
FAR Properiles LLE? Unlied Ara Emirates :';r::l':::m'::;“md . 10
First Gul |mharmation Techaology LUC (TG United Arah Emicates IT Services [ e 10058
FAB Giobal Busines Seryices Limited (Subsidiany of FGIT) Inc & IT Servioes A0 106
irhmeediniroyce IR EARA W Financal lnstitutian 100% 100
First Any Dhabl Bank Misr 5AF ["FAB Msrt) Egyat Banking N 1008

¥ nder liquidation,

 Although the Bank owna 50% of the outstanding shares of Frst Guif Uyyan Bank, the investment has been classfied as a subsidiary as the Bank exerciss
contrad aver the investee because it casts the majority of the votes on the beard of directors

"hote 37
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5 Basis of consolidation {continued)
{iii) Structured entities

A structured entity is established by the Group to perform a specific business objective. Structured entities are designed so that their voting
of similar rights are not the dominant factar in deciding who controds the entity, such as when any voting rights relate to sdministrative
tasks only and the relevant activities are directed by means of contractual arrangements. In assessing whether the Group acts as a principal
of has power over investees in which it has an interest, the Group considers factors such as the purpose and design of the investee, its
practical ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee; the nature of its relationship with the imvestee; and the size of its exposure
to the variability of returns of the investee,

The Group acts as fund manager o a number of investment funds. Determining whether the Group contrak such an investrnent fund
usually focuses on the assessment of the ageregate economic interests of the Group in the fund including the Investors right to remove the
fund manager. Whilst assassing control, the Group reviews all facts and circumstances to determine whather as a fund manager the Group
I acting as agent or principal. If deemed to be a principal, the Group controls the fund and would consolidate them else as an agent the
Group would account for thim as investments in funds.

The Group's interest in investment funds in which it acts as an agent is set out below, these funds are included as part of investments.

Type of Structurad Entity Nature and purpose Interest held by the Group

Investrment funds managing | Generate fees from managing assets on behalf of | Investmants in units issued by the fund amounting
SRS third-party investors to 3,083 AED thousand (2022: AED 3,259 thausand)

{iv) Joint Arrangements and Investments in Associates

An associate is an investee over which the Group has significant infleence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial
and eperating policy decisions of the investes but not contral or jaint contral ever those pelickes, Investment in associates is accounted
under the eguity method of accounting.

& jobnt arrangement & an arrangement between the Group and other parties where the Group along with one or more parties has joint
control by virtue of a contractual agreement. Jaint arrangement may be a joint operation or a joint ventura,

A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint contral of the arrangement have rights to and record their
respective share of the assets, and obligations for tha liabilities, relating to the arrangameant.

A foint VeRtUre i4a joint arrangement whetaby the parties that have joint contral of the arrangemaent, have Aghts to thee net aaets af the
arrangement and, thus, are accounted under the equity method of accounting.

Under the equity method, the investment in an assoclate |s inltally recognised at cost, which includes transacthon costs. Subseguent to
initial recognition, the consolidated financial statements indude the Group's share of the profit or loss and OC1 of equity accounted
imvestees, until the date on which significant influence or joint control ceases. Goodwill relating to the associate is included in the careying
amount of the investment and is neither amortised nor individually tested for impaiement separately. The consolidated statement of
income reflacts the Group’s share of the results of operations of the ascociates. Any change in other comprehensive income of those
Imvestees is presented as part of the Group™s other comprehensive income. In addition, when there has been a change recognised directly
in the equity of the associate, the Group recognises its share of any changes, when applicable, in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity.

The financial statements of the assocate are prepared for the same reporting period as the Group, When necessary, adjustments are made
to being the accounting policies in line with those of the Group.

After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise an impairment loss on investment in its
associate. At each reporting date, the Group determines whether there is objective evidence that the investment in the associate i5
impaired, If there iz such evidence, the Group calculates the amaunt of impairment as the difference betwean the recoverablie amount of
the associate and its carrying value, and then recognises the loss in the consolidated staterment profit or loss.

The list of associates are as follows:

Legal Marme Country of incorporation Principal activities Holding % 2023
BEP Growth Holdings Limited United Arab Emirates Financial services A0%
tidmak Progerties LLC United Arab Emirates Real estate Inviestments 16%
Emirates Digital Wallet LLE United Arab Emirates Financial services 35
191112
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5 Basis of consolidation (continued}
{v) MNon-controlling interests

Mon-controlling interests are measured initially at their proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets at the date of
acquisition. Changes in the Group's interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions.

{vi} Transactions eliminated on consolidation
The carrying amaunt of the Graup™s indestment in each subsidiary and the equity of each subsidiary are eliminated on consalidation, All
significant intra-group balances, transactions and unrealised inco me and expenses (except for foreign currency transaction gains or losses)

arking from intra-group transactions are eliminated on consolidation. Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains,
but anly to the extent that there is no evidence of impalrment.

{vii) Fiduclary assets

The Group provides trust and other fiduciary servioes that result in the helding or investing of assets on behalf of its clients. Assets held in
a fiduciary capacity are not reported in the finandal statements, as they are not assets of the Bank.

6 Material accounting policies
{a) Financial assets and liabilities
{il Recognition and initial measuremeant

The Group initially recognises loans, advances and Islamic financing, deposits, debt securities Bsued and subordinated liabilities on the date
on which they are ariginated.

All other finandial instruments [excleding regular way purchases and sales of financial assets) are recognised on the trade date, which is
the date on which the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases and sales of
financial assets are recognised on the settlement date, Le. the date the asset is delvered to or received from the counterparty. Regular
wiay purchases of sales of financial dssets are those that requine delivery of assets within the time frarme generally established by regulation
of convention in the marketplace.

fill Classification

The classification of financial instruments at initial recognition depends on their contractual terms and the business model for managng

the instruments. On initial recognition, a financial asset s classified as measured at: amortised cost or Fair Value through Other

Comprehansive Income [“FWVOLI™) or Fair Value through profit or loss (“FVTPLY).

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated as at FYTPL:

e the financial asset is held within a busines model with the objective to hald financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows;
and

#  the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payment of principal and interest
{“5PPI").

A debt instrument is measured at FVOC only if it meats both of the following conditions and & not designated as at FVTPL:

»  the financlal asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling
financial assets; and

=  the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are SPPL.

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the Group may revocably elect to present subseguent changes
in fair value in OCI. This election is made on an investment-by-investment basis.

All ather financial assets are classified as maasured at FWTPL,
In addition, on initial recognition, the Group may Irfevocably designate a financial asset that otherwise meets the requirements to be

measured at amartised cost or at FYOC! as FYTPRL if doing so eliminates or significantly redwces an accounting mismatch that would
otherwise arlse.

0112
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6 Material accounting policies (continued]
{a) Financial assets and liahbilities {continued)
{l) Classhfication (continued)

Business model assessment

The Group makes an assessment of the objective of a business model in which an asset is held at 2 portfolio level because this best reflects
the way the business is managed and information is provided to managemeant. The information considerad includes:

#  the stated policles and abjectives for the portfalio and the operation of thase policies in practice. In particular, whether management's
strategy focuses an earning contractual interest revenue, maintaining a particular interest rate profile, matching the duration of the
financial assets to the duration of the liabilities that are funding those assets or realising cash flows through the sale of the assets;

s how the performance of the partfolio i evaluated and reported to the Group™s management;

& the risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within that business model] and its strategy
far how those risks are managed;

= how managers of the business are compensated |e.g. whether compensation is based on the fair value of the assets managed or the
contractual cash flows collected); and

*  the frequency, volume and timing of sales in prior periods, the reasons for such sales and its expectations about future sales activity,
Haowever, information abaout sales activity s not considerad in isolation, but as part of an overall assessment of how the Group's stated
objective for managing the financial assets is achieved and how much cash flows are realised.

The business model assessment is based on the reasonably expected scenarios without taking “worst case’ or "stress case’ scenarios into
account, If cash flows after initial recognition are realised in a way that is different from the Bank's original expectations, the Bank does nat
chanpge the classification of the remaining financial assats hedd in that business model but incorparates such infermation when assessing
newly originaved or newly purchased financial assets going forward.

Financial assets that are either held for trading or managed and whose performance is evaluated on a fair value basis are measured at
FUTPL because they ate neither held to collect contractual cash flows nor held both to collect contractual cash flows and to sell financial
AESETS.

The Group's consumer and corporate banking business comprises primarily loans to customers that are held for collecting contractual cash
flows. In the consumer business the loans comprise mortgapes, overdrafts, unsecured personal lending and cradit card facilies, Sales of
laans from these portfolios ane very rare,

Certain debt securities are held by the Group in a separate portfolio for long-term yield. These securities may be sold, but such sales are
not expected to be more than infrequent, The Group considers that these securities are held within a business model whose objective is to
hald assets to collect the contractual cash flows. Certain other debt securities are held by the Group in separate portfolios bo meet everyday
liquidity needs, The Group seeks to minimise the costs of managing these liquidity needs and therefare actively manages the return an the
partfalio. That return consisns of collecting contractual cash flows as well as gains and losses fram the sale of financial a3sets, The vestrment
strategy often results in sales activity that is significant in value,

The Group considers that these financial assets are held within a business model whose objectve is achieved by both collecting contractual
cash flows and selling financial assets,

Assessment of whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest (“SPPI¥)

For the purposaes of this assessment, "principal’ is defined as the fair value of the financial asset on initial recognition and may change ower
thae life of the finansial assets due to repayments of principal or amoartisation of premium of discount. “Interest’ & defined 5 consideration
fior thie time value of money and for the credit risk associated with the principal amount cutstanding during a particular period of time and
fiar ather basic lending risks and costs (e.g. Nguidity risk and administrative costs), as well as prafit margin.

I assassing whethar the contractual cash flows are SPPI, the Group considess the contractual terms of the instrument. This includes
assessing whether the financial asset contains a contractual term that could change the timing or amount of contractual cash flows such
that it would not meet this condition. In making the assessment, the Group considers:

cantingent events that would change the amount and timing of cash flows;

leverage features;

prepayment and extension terms;

terms that limit the Group®s claim to cash flows from specified assets (e.g. non-recourse asset arrangement); and
features that modify consideration of the time value of money (e.g. periodical reset of interest rates).
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6 Material accounting policies (continuwed]

{a) Financial assets and liahilities {continued)

(i} Classification (continued)

Assessment of whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest ("SPPI"] (continued)

The Group holds a portfalio of long-term fixed-rate loans for which the Group has the option to propose to revise the interest rate at
pericdic reset dates. These resat rights are limited to the market rate at the time of revision. The borrowers have an option to either accept
the revised rate or redeem the loan at par without penalty. The Group has determined that the contractual cash flows of these loans are
SPPI because the option varies the interest rate in a way that ks consideration for the time value of money, credit risk, other basic lending
risks and costs associated with the principal amount sutstanding.

Reclassifications

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition, except in the period after the Group changes its business model
far managing financial assets.

Financial liabilities are naver reclassified.

{ili} Derecognition

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire
{note & [al{w)}, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which substantially all of the risks and
rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred or in which the Group neither transfiers nor retains substantially all of the risks
and rawards of ownership and it does not retain contral of the financial asset.

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference bebween the carrying amount of the asset (or the carrying amount allocated to the
portion of the asset derecognised) and the sum of (i} the consideration received (including any new asset obtained less any new Hability
assurmed) and (i) any cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in OC1 is recognised in profit or loss.

Any cumulative gain or lass recognised in OCI in respect of equity investment securities designated as at FVOL! is not recognised in prefit
of loss on derecognition of such securities. Any interest in transferred financial assets that qualify for derecognition that is created or
retained by the Group Is recognised as a separate asset or liability.

The Group enters into transactions whareby it transfers assets recognised on its consolidated statement of financial position but retains
elther all or substantially all of the risks and rewards of the transferred assets or a portion of them, In such cases, the transferred assets
are not derecognised, Examples of such transactions are securities lending and sale-and-repurchase transactions.

When assets are sold to a third party with a concurrent total return swap on the transferred assets, the transaction |s accounted for as a
secured financing transaction similar to sale-and-repurchase transactions, because the Group retains all or substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of such assets,

In ransactions in which the Group neither retains nor transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a financial asset and
it retains control over the asset, the Group coentinues to recognise the asset to the extent of its continuing involvement, determined by the
extent to which it is exposed to changes in the value of the transferrad asset.

In cartain transactions, the Group retains the obligation to service the trangferred financial asset for a fee, The transferred asset is
derecognised if it meets the derecognition criteria, An asset or liability ks recognised for the servicing contract if the servicing fee is more
than adequate [asset) or is less than adequate (liabllity) for performing the servicing.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled or expired.

vl Modifications of financial assets and financial abilities

Modification of financial assets

If the terms of a financial asset are modified, then the Group evaluates whether the cash flows of the modified asset are substantially
different.
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6 Material accounting policies (continued]

{a) Financial assets and liahbilities {continued)

{iv] Modifications of financlal assets and financial labllities {continued)
Modification of financial assets {continued)

If the cash flows are substantially different, then the contracteal rights to cash flows from the ariginal financlal asset are deemed to have
expired, In this case, the original financial asset is derecognised and a new financial asset is recognised at fair value plus any eligible
transaction costs, Any fees received as part of the modification are accounted for as follows:

#  fees that are considered in determining the fair value of the new asset and fees that represent reimburserment of eligible transaction
costs are included in the initlal measurerment of the asset: and
= other fees are included in profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on derecognition.

If cash flows are modified whan the borrower is in financial difficulties, then the objective of the modification is usually to maximisa recavery
of the arginal contractual terms rather than to originate a new asset with substantially different terms. If the Group plans o modify a
firancial asset in a way that would result in forgivenass of cash flows, then it first considers whether a portion of the asset should be written
off before the modification takes place. This approach impacts the result of the guantitative evaluation and means that the derecognition
criteria are not usually met in such cases.

If ehia madification doasn’t result into cash flows that are substantially different, then a financial asset does not result in deracognition of
the financlal asset Im this case, the Group first recalculates the gross carrying amount of the financial asset using the original effective
interest rate of the asset and recognises the resulting adjustment as a modification gain or loss in prafit or loss. For flaating-rate financial
assets, the original effective interast rate used to calculate the modification gain or loss is adjusted to reflect current market terms at the
time of the moedification. Any costs or fees incurred and fees receivable as part of the modification adjust the gross camrying amount of the
modified financial asset and are amartised over the remaining term af the modified firancial aset.

Modification of financial Habilities

The Group derecognises a financial lability when its terms are modified and the cash flows of the modified liability are substantially
different. In this case, a new financial liability based on the modified terms Is recognised at fair value. The difference between the carrying
amount of the financial lability derecopnised and cansideration paid is recognised in profitor loss. Consideration paid includes non-financial
assets transferred, if any, and the assumption of Babilitses, including the new modified financial liability.

i the modification af a financial lability is not accounted for a5 derecognition, then the amortised cost of the lability is recalculated by
discaunting the modified cash Mows a1 the anginal effective intefest rate and the resulting gain of lods i recopnised in profit of less, Far
floating-rate financial labilities, the original effective interest rate used to calculate the modification gain or loss s adjusted to reflect
current market terms at the time of the madification. Any costs and fees incurred are recegnised as an adjustment to the carrying amount
of the liability and amortsed over the remaining term of the modified financial liability by re-computing the effective interest rate on the
instrument.

Interest rate benchmark reform

In the context of IBOR reform, the Group’s assessment of whether a change to a financial asset or liabilities is substantial, is made after
applying the practical expedient introduced by IBOR reform Phase 2, This requires the transition from an IBOR to an BFR [“Bick free rate”)
to be treated as a change to a floating Interest rate as described In note §{q). Under the Phase 2 Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
amendments to IFRS 9, changes to the basis for determining contractual cash flows as a direct result of interest rate benchmark reform ane
treated as changes to a floating interest rate to that instrument, provided that change is necessary as a direct consequence of the reform
and the transition from the IBOR benchmark rate to the alternative RFR takes place on an economically equivalent basis,

Where the instrument Is measured at amortized cost, this results in a change in the instrument's effective interest rate, with no change In
the amortized cost value of the instrument. If the change to the instrument does not meet these criteria, the Group applies judgement to
assess whether the changes are substantial and if they are, the financial mstrument is derecognized and a new financial instrument is
recognized, If the changes are not substantial, the Group continues to carry the financial instrument At its current carnying value with the
difference adjusted in revised effective interest rate on prospective basis. Adjusts the gross carrying amount of the financial instrument by
the present valve of the changes not covered by the practical expedient, discounted using the revised effective interest rate.

{v] Offsetting
Financial assets and financial liabilities are generally reported gross in the consolidated statement of financial position except when IFRS
netting criteria are met, Financial assets and liabilites are offset and the net amount presented in the consolidated staterment of financial

position when, and only when, the Group has a enforceable legal right to set off the recognised amounts and intend either to settle on a
net basis, or to realise he asset and settle the liability simultaneoushy.
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6 Material accounting policies (continued]
{a) Financial assets and liahbilities {continued)
vl  Offsetting (continued)

Inceme and expendes are presanted on a net basis only when permitted under IFRS, or for gaing and lasses arising from a group of similar
transactions such as in the Group’s trading activity.

{vi] Fair valueé measurament

Fair value s the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderdy transaction between market
participants at the measurement date in the principal market, of in its absence, the most advantageows market te which the Group has
acoess at that date regardless of whether that price is directly observable ar estimated using valuation technique. The Group applies
judgement as described below to assess if there is quoted price avallable in an active market, which determines the level in the fair value
hierarchy into which the fair valug instiument is classified.

The fair value of a liability reflects its non-perfarmance risk. When one is avallable, the Group measures the fair value of an instrument
using the quoted price in an active market for that instrument. & market is regarded as active if transactions for the asset or liability take
place with sufficient frequency and velume to provide pricing information an an on-going basis. If there is no quoted price in an active
market, then the Group uses the valuation technbgues that maximize the use of relevant observable Inputs and minimize the use of
unobservable inputs, The chesen valuation technique incorporates all the facters that market participants would consider in pricing a
transaction. The best evidence of the fair value of a financial instrument at initial recognition is normally the transaction price = i.e. the fair
value of the consideration given or recaived. If the Group determines that the fair value at initial recognition differs from the transaction
price and the Fair value is evidenced neither by a quoted price in an active market for an identical asset or lability nor based on a valuation
technigue that uses only data from observable markets, the financial instrument is initially measured at fair value, adjusted to defer the
difference between the fair value at inktlal recognition and the transaction price. Subsequently, that difference is recognised in the
consclidated statement of profit o loss on an appropriate basis over the life of the instrument but no later than when the valuation is
supported wholly by observable market data or the transaction is closed out.

If an asset ar a Bability measured at fair value has a bid price and an ask price, the Group measures assets and long positions at a bid price
and liabilities and short positions at an ask price.

Partfalios of financial asses and financial liabilities that are exposed wo market rik and credit risk that are managed by the Group based
on the net exposure to aither market or credit risk, are measured based on a price that would be received to sell a net long position ar paid
to transfer a net short position for a particular risk exposure. Portfolio-level adjustments = eg. bid-ask adjustment or credit risk adjustments
that reflect the measurement based on the net exposure — are allocated to the indiwidual assets and llabilitles based on the relative risk
adjustment of each of the individual instrumeants in the portfolio.

The fair value of investments in mutual funds, private equity funds or similar investment vehicles are based on the 135t net asset value
published by the fund manager, For other investments, a reasanable estimate of the fair value is determined by referance to the price of
recent market transactions invehding similar investments, are based on the expected discounted cash flows.

The fair value of a financial liability with a demand feature (demand deposit) & not less than the amount payable on demand, discounted
from the first date an which the amount could be required to be paid.

The Group recognizes transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy as at the end of the reparting perkod during which the change
has occurred.

{vil] Impairment

The Group recognises loss allowances for Expected Credit Loss (ECL) an the following financial Instruments that are not measured at PUYTPL:

Balances with central banks;

Due from Banks and financial institutions;

Reverse repurchase agreemaents;

Mon trading investrient at fair value through other comprehensive incoma;
Loans, advances and lslamic financing;

Gther financial assets;

Undrawn commitment to extend credit; and

Financlal guarantees.

Mo impairment loss i$ recognised on equity investments,

The Group measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECL, except for the following, for which they are measured as 12-
manth ECL:
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6 Material accounting policies [continued)
{a) Financial assets and liabilities {continued)
{vil) Impairment [continued]

= debt investment securities that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date; and
L other financial instruments an which aredit risk has not increased significantly since their initial recognition [note S1(a)).

The Group considers the abowve financial instruments o have low credit sk when its credit risk rating is equivalent to the globally
understood definition of ‘investment grada’,

Credit boss allowancss are measured using a three-stage approach based on the extent of credit deterioration since origination:

& Stage 1 — Where there has not been a significant increase in cradit risk (“3ICR™} since initial recognition of a financial instrument, an
ameunt equal ta 12 months expected credit loss is recorded. The expected credit loss is computed using a probability of default
occurring aver the next 12 months. For those instruments with a remaining maturity of less than 12 menths, a probability of default
corresponding to remaining term to maturity is used.

®  Stage 2 =‘When a financial instrument experiences a SICR subsequent to origination but is not considered to be impaired, it is included
in Stage 2. This requires the computation of expected credit loss based on the probability of default over the remaining estimated life
of the financial instrument.

= Stage 3 — Financial instruments that are considered to be impaired are included in this stage, Similar wo Stage 2, the allowance for
credit lass captures the lifetime expected credit loss.

Measurement of ECL

The key inputs into the measurement of ECL are:

=  Probability of default (*PD");
s Exposure at default ("EAD™); and
*  Loss given defaule [(“LGD");

Thesa parameters are generally derived from statistical models and other historical data. They are adjusted to reflect forward-looking
infarmation. Additionally, the Group hat elaborate review process ta adjust ECL for factars not availabli in the model.

Details of these statistical parametersfinputs are as follows:

=  PD=The probability of default s an estimate of the likelihood of default over a given time horizon.

»  EAD = The exposure at default is an estimate of the exposure at a future default date, considering expected changes in the exposure
afver the reporting date, including repayments of principal and interest, whether scheduled by contract or otherwise expected
drawdawns on cammitted facilities, and accrued interest from missed payments,

®  LGD - The loss given default is an estimate of the loss arising in the case where a default occurs at a given time, It i5 based on the
difference between the contractual cash flows due and those that the lender would expect to receive, including from the realization
of any collateral or credit enhanocements that are integral to the loan and not required to be recognised separately. It is usually
expressed as a percentage of the EAD,

ECL are a probability-weighted estimate of credit loss. They are measured as follows:

& financial assets that are not credit-impalired at the reporting date: as the present value of all cash shortfalls [i.e. the difference between
the cash flows due to the entity in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receivel;

*  financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the difference between the gross carrying amount and the present
value of estimated future cash flows;

= yndrawn loan commitments: as the present value of the difference between the contractual cash flows that are due to the Group if
the commitment is drawn down and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive; and

= financial guarantee contracts: the expected paymants to reimburse the halder less any armounts that the Group expacts to recover,

Restructured financlal assets

If the terms of a financial asset are renegotiated or modified or an existing financial asset is replaced with a new one due to financial
difficulties of the borrowier, then an assessment is made of whather the financial asset should be devecognised and ECL are measured a5
fallows.

L] if the expected restructuring will not result in derecognition of the existing asset, then the expected cash flows arising from the
madified financial asset are included in calculating the cash shortfalls from the existing asset.
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6 Material accounting policies (continued]
{a) Financial assets and liahilities {continued)
{vil] Impalrment jcontinued)

Restructured financial assets [continued)

= jfthe expected restructuring will result in derecognition of the existing asset, then the expected fair value of the new asset is treated
as the final cash flow from the existing financial asset at the time of its derecognition. This amount is included in calculating the cash
shartfalls from the existing financial asset that are discounted from the expected date of derecognition to the reponing date using the
original effective interest rate of the existing financial asset.

Credit-impaired financial assets

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost and debt financial assets carried at FVOL,
and finance lease receivables are credit-impaired (referred to as ‘Stage 3 financial assets’). A financial asset & ‘credit-impaired” when one
of fmare events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have accurred. Evidence that a
financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable data:

significant financial difficulty of the barrower or issuer;

a breach of contract such as a default or past due event;

the restructuring of Leans, advances and Islamic financing by the Group on terms that the Group would not consider otherwise;
it & becoming probable that the barrower will anter bankruptcy or another financial rearganisation; ar

the disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties,

Purchased or Originally Credit Impaired | “POCIT) financlal assets

POO financlal assets are assets that are credit-impaired on initial recognition. For POQ assets, lifetime ECL are incorporated on initial
recognition, The amount recognided ad a loss allowance subsequent ta initial recognition i3 sgual to the changes in lifetime ECL Sinde initil
recognition of the asset,

Presentation of allowance for ECL In the consolidated staterment of financial position
Loss allowances for ECL are presented in the consolidated statement of financial position as follows:

= financial assets measured at amortised cost: as a deduction from the gross camying amount of the assats;

= loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts; generally, as a provision reported under other liakilities; and

L] debt instruments measured at PVOCI: no loss allewance & recognised in the consalidated statement of financial position because the
carrylng amount of these assets is their falr value. However, the loss allowance is disclosed and s recognised in the fair value reserve.

Write-off

Financial assets are written off (either partially or in full] when there is no reasonable expactation of recovering a financial asset in its
entirety of a portian thereaf, This is generally the case when the Group determines that the borrower does not have assets or sources of
income that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off. This assessment ks carried out at the
Individual asset level,

Recoveries of amounts previously written off are included in ‘net impairment charge’ in the consolidated statement of profit or loss,
Financial assets that are written off could still be subject o enforcement activities to comply with the Group's procedures far recavery of
armounts due.

Central Bank of UAE {"CBUAE"] pravision requirements

As per the CBUAE notice no, CBUAE/BSD/2018/458 dated 30 April 2018, dause 6.4, if the specific provision and general/collective provision
cumulatively is higher than the impakrment allowance computed under IFRS 9, the differential should be transferred to an “Impairment

Reserve™ as an appropriation from the Retained earnings. This Impairment reserve should be split to that which relates o difference in
specific provision and general.n’cullettive provision, The Impairment reserva will not be available for payment of dividend.

26112

208/318



EDINETOOOO
OoooDoO0oooooooo0ooo00o00DoO00DDO000bDo00DO00bDO000o0O00DbOO00D0o00no(e25742)
oOoOooodn

g ke del
Notes to the consolidated financial statements FAB‘(

For the year ended 31 December 2023 e A Ol B

6 Material accounting policies (continuwed]

{b) Cash and cash equivalents

Far the purpose of consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise notes and coins on hand, unrestricted
balances held with central banks and highly liquid financial assets with original maturities of three maonths or less from the date of its

acquisition.

Cash and cash eguivalents are non-derivative financlal assets measured at amortised cost in the consokdated statement of financial
proesition.

{c} Duefrom banks and financial institutions

These are non-derivative finandal assets that are measured at amortised cost, less any allowance for impairment.

{d] Investments at fair value through profit or loss

These are securities that the Group acquire principally for the purpose of selling in the near term or holding as a part of portfolio that is
managed together for short-term profit or position taking. These assets are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently alsa
mieasuried ag fair value in the consolidated statement of financial position. All changes in fair values are recognised as part of profitor loss.

(e} Reverse repurchase agreements

Ascets purchased with a simultaneous commitment to resell at a fived price on a spedified future date are not recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position, The amount paid to the counterparty under these agreeménts is recorded as reverse
repurchase agreements in the consalidated statement of financial position, The difference betwean purchase and resale price is treated
as interest income and accrued over the life of the reverse repurchase agreement and charged to the consalidated statement of profit or
lass using the effective interest rate methoad,

{fl Loans, advances and Islamic financing
Loans, advances and Islamic financing’ captions in the consolidated statement of finandial position include:

= loans and advances measured at amortised cost; they ane inftially measured at fair value plus incremental direct transaction costs, and
subseguently at their amortised cost using the effective interast method;

*  lease receivablies;

®=  loans and advances measured at FYTPL of designated as at FYTPL; these are measured at fair value with changes recognised in prafit
of koss; and

= Klamic financing and investing contracts,

Loans, advances and |slamic financing are non-derivative financlal assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not guoted in an
active market and that the Greup does not intend to sell immediately of in the near term,

When the Group & the lessor in a lease agreement that transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the asset
o the lessee, the arrangement & dassfied as a finance lease and a receivable egual to the net investment in the lease is recognised and
presented within loans and advances.

In determining whether an arrangement is a lease, the Group ascertaing the substance of the arrangemant and assesses whether the
fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets and whether the arrangement conveys a right 1o use the
assets.

These are derecognised when either the borrower repays its obligations or the loan are sold or written-off.

Istamic firancing and inmvesting contracts

The Group engages in Sharia’a compliant Islamic banking activities through varsous Islamic contracts such as ljara, Ferward ljara, Murabaha,
Mudaraba and Wakala.
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6 Material accounting policies (continuwed]

{f] Loans, advances and Islamic financing jcontinued)
Definitions

ljara f Forward ljara (continued)

ljara / Forward ljara is a3 mode of Islamic financing whereby the Group (lessor) leases an asset acquired by the Group based on the
customer's [lessea) request and promise to lease the assats for a specific period against certain rent instalments. At the end of the financing
tenor and upon settlement of the financial obligation agreed between the lesor and the lessee, the ownership of the asset shall be
eranaferred to the [esaed via exersise of a purchase / sale undertaking, Alss, the Group transfers zubstantially all the risks and rewards
related to the ownership of the leased asset to the lessea.

Murabaha

& sale contract whereby the Group sells to a customer commadities and other assets at an agreed upon cost price plus marked up profit
(Dwferred Sale Price). The Group purchases the assets based on a promise recedved from customer to bury the item purchased according to
specific terms and conditions. The Deferred Sale Price of the Murabaha is quantifiable and fived at the commancement of the transaction.

Mudaraba

& contract between the Group and a customer, whereby one party provides the funds (Rab Al Mal) and the other party (the Mudarib)
imvests the funds in a project ar a particular activity and any profits generated are distributed between the partes according ta the profit
shares that were prée-agreed in the contract, The Mudarib would bear the loss in case of negBpence or vialation of any of the terms and
conditions of the Mudaraba, otherwise, losses are borne by the Rab Al Mal.

Wakala

A agreement between the Group and customser whereby one party (Muwakkil) provides a certain sum of money to an agent (Wakil), who
inviests it according to specific conditions and expected return in consideration of performance incentive andfor a certain fee based on the
Wakala agreement. The agent is obliped to guarantee any losses arises due to its negligence or violation of any of the terms and conditions
of the Wakala otherwise, losses are borne by the Muwakkil. The Group may be Wakil or Muwakkil depending on the nature of the
transaction.

{g] Mon trading investment securities

The 'naon trading Investment securities’ caption in the consalidated statement of financial position includes:

*  debt investment securities measured at amertised cost; these are initially measured at fair value plus incremental direct transaction
costs, and subsequently at their amortised cost using the effactive interest method;

= debt sacurities measured at FYOCH; and

= equity investment securities designated as at FYOC).

For debt securities measured at FVOC, gains and losses are recognised in OCI, except for the following, which are recognised in profit or
loss in the same manner as for finandal assets measured at amortised cost:

* interest revenue using the effective interest method;
= ECLand reversals; and
*  foreign exchange gains and losses.

When debt security measured at PO is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in GCl is reclassified from equity
to profit or loss.

The Group elects to present changes in the fair value of certain investments in equity instruments that are not held for trading in OCL, The
election i made on an instrument-by-instrument basks on initlal recognition and is irrevocable. Fair value gains and losses on such egquity
instruments are never reclassified to profit or loss and no impairment is recognised in profit ar lass. Dividends are recognised in profit or
lass unless they clearly represent a recovery of part of the cost of the investment, in which case they are recognised in OCl. Cumulative
gains and losses recognised in OCI are transferred to retained earnings on disposal of an investment. These investments are hald for long
Lirm StrabRRic purposes,
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6 Material accounting policies (continuwed]

{h) Investment properties

Investment properties are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties
are stated at fair value which reflects market conditions at the balance sheet date. Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of
investment properties are included in the consolidated staterment of profit or loss under ‘Other operating income | (o)’ in the year in
which they arise.

Investment properties are derecognised when either they have been disposed of or when the investment property is permanently

withdrawn from use and ne future economic benefit is expected from its disposal. Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an
imvestment property are recognised in the consolldated statement of profit or loss statement in the year of retiremeant or disposal.

{i} Property and equipment

{il Recognition and measuremant

Iterms of property and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any, Capital
projects in progress are initially recorded at cost and regularly tested for impairment and upon completion are transferred to the

appropriate category of property and equipment and thereafter depreciated.

Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset, Purchased software that & integral to the
functionality of the related equipment ks capitalised as part of that eguipment.

Gains and losses on disposal of an item of property and equipment are determined by companing the proceeds from disposal with the
carrying amount of property and equipment and are recognised net within 'Other operating income/[loss)’ in the consolidated statement
of prafit or koss,

{il] Subsequent costs

Subsaquent expenditures are only capitalised when it is probable that the future economic benefits of such expandituras will flow ta the
Group. On-going expenses are charged to consolidated staterment of profit or loss as incurred.

I significant parts of an item of proparty and equipment have different useful lives, then they are accounted for as separate Rems (major
companents) of property and equipment.

{iii) Depreciation
Deprectation is calculated to reduce the cost of items of property and equipment bess their estimated residual values using the straight-line
mithod over their estimated useful lives and |5 generally recopnised in prafit ar loss, Freehold Land and Capital work in progress & not

depredated.

The estimated useful lives of assets for the curnent and comparative period are as follows:

Buildings and villas 20 to S0 years
Office furniture and eguipment 5 to 10 years
Eit-out leased pramises 3-10 years
Safes 10 yiears
Computer systems and eguipment Ao 7years
Wehicles 3 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual valves are reviewed at every reporting date at each reporting date and adjusted if
appropriate.

{iv] Capital work in progress
Capital wark in progress a55ets are as5ets in the course of construction far production, supply of administrative purposes, are carried at
cost, bess any recognised impairment loss. Cost includes all direct cost attributable to design and construction of the property capitalised

In accordance with Group's accounting policies. When the assets are ready for the intended use, the capital work in progre<s is transferred
o the apgropriate progerty and equipment category and is depreciated in accordance with the Group's policies,

9112

211/318



EDINETOOOO
OoooDoO0oooooooo0ooo00o00DoO00DDO000bDo00DO00bDO000o0O00DbOO00D0o00no(e25742)
oOoOooodn

g ke del
Notes to the consolidated financial statements FAB‘(

For the year ended 31 December 2023 O Ay Ol

6 Material accounting policies (continuwed]
{i} Property and equipment [continusd)
{v] Impalrment of non-financial assets

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its non<financial assets [other than investment properties and deferred
tax assets] to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount
I= estimated. Goodwill is tested annually far impalrment.

Far impairment testing, assets are grouped together into smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use that is
largely independent of the cash inflows of ather assets or CGUSs. Goodwill arising from a business combination is allocated to CGUs or group
of CGUs that are expected benefie from the synergies of the combination,

The recoverable amount’ of an asset or CGU s the greater of its value In use and its fair value less cost to sell. Value in use’ is based on
the estirnated future cash flows, discaunted to thisir present valie uSing pre-tax discount rati that reflects current market Assessmients of
the time value of money and the risk specific to the asset or CGL.

An impairment loss is recognised if the canrying amount of an asset or CGU excesds its recoverable amount.

The Group's conporate assets do not generate separate cash inflows and are used by mare than one OGU. Corporate assets are allocated
o CGUS on a reasonable and consistent basis and tested for impairment as part of the testing of the CGUSs to which the corporate assets
are allocated.

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or lass, They are allacated fiest to reduce the carrying amount af any goodwill allecated to the
G, and then to reduce the carrying amounts of any other assets in the CGU on a pro rata basis.

An impairment bass in respect of goodwill is not reversed. For other assets, an impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset's
cafrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation of amortization, if no
impairment loss had been recognized.

{il Intangible assets

Goodwill arises on the acquisition represents the excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-contralling interest in the
acquires and the acguisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the identifiable net assets
acquired. If the tatal of consideration transferred, non-contralling interest recognised and previously held interest measured at fair value
is less than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired in case of a bargain purchase, the difference is recognised directly in
the income statement.

For the purpose of impairment testing, poodwill and license acquired in & business combination is allecated to each of the CGLS, or proups
of CGUs, that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. Each unit or group of units to which the goodwill is allocated
represents the lowest level within the entity at which the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes, Goodwill 5 monitored
at the operating segmant level,

Goodwill and license Impairment reviews are undertaken annueally or more frequently If events or changes In circumstances indicate a
patential impairment, The carrying value of the CGU containing the goodwill s compared to the recoverable amount, which 15 the higher
of value in use and the fair value less costs of dispasal. Any impairment is recognised immediately as an expense and is not subsequantly
reversed,

The Group's intangible assets other than goodwill inclede intangible assets arising out of business combinations, The cost of intangible
assets acquired in a business combination is their fair value at the date of acquisition. Intangible assets acquired separately are measured
o Initlal recognition at cost. Following Initial recognition, Intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and
accumulated impairment losses,

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed as elther finive or indefinite. |ntangible assets with finite lives are amortised ever the useful
ecanomic e and assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaised. The amortisation
period and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite wseful life are reviewed at least at the end of each reporting period.
Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the asset are
considered to modify the amonisation period or method, as appropriate, and are treated as changes in accounting estimates, The
amortisation expense on intangible assets with finite lives i% recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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6 Material accounting policies (continuwed]
{ij} Intangible assets [continued)

Impairment lossas are recognised in profit or loss. They are allocated first to red uce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the
CGLU, and then to redwce the carnying amounts of the other assets in the CGU on a pro rata basis. Animpairment loss in respect of goodwill
i% not reversed, For other intangible assets, an impairment less is reversied only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount dees not
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been
recognised.

The estimated useful lives of the intangible assets for the calculation of amortisation are as follows:

Customer relationships 7.5 =15 years
Care deposits. 2.5 years = 15 years.
Brand 20 years.

{k)} Collateral pending sale

Real estate and other collateral may be acquired as the result of settlement of certain loans, advances and Islamic financing and are
recorded as assets held for sale and reported in “Other assets”. The asset acquined is recorded at the lower of its fair value less conts to sell
and the carrying amount of the kans, advances and Islamic financing (net of impairment allowance) at the date of exchange. No
deprediation is provided in respect of assets held for sale. Any subsequent write-down of the acquired asset to fair value fess costs to sell
is recorded as an impairment loss and included in the consalidated statement of profit or loss, Any subsequent increase in the fair value
less costs to sell, to the extent this does not excesd the cumulative impairment loss, is recognised in the consclidated statement of profit
of loss. The Group's collateral disposal pelicy & in line with the respective regulatory requirement of the regions in which the Group
operates.

{l} Dwe to banks and financial institutions, customer accounts and other deposits and commercial paper

Due to banks and financlal institutions, customer accounts and other deposits and commercial paper are financial liabilitles and are initially
recagnised at their fair value minus the transaction costs and subsequently measured at their amortised cost using the effective interest
rate method.

{m) Repurchase agreements

Assets sold with a simultaneows commitment to repurchase at a fived price on a specified future date ara not derecognised, The liability to
the counterparty for amounts received under these agreements is shown as repurchase agreements in the consolidated statement of
financial position, The difference between sale and repurchase price is treated as interest expense and accrued over the life af the
repurchase agreement and chargied to the consalidated statement of profit or loss using the effective interest rate method.

{n}) Term borrowings and subordinated notes

Term borrowings and subordinated notes include convertible notes that can be converted into share capital at the option of the holder,
where the number of shares [ssued do not vary with changes in their fair value, are accounted for as compound financial Instruments. The
equity component of the convertible notes is calculated as the excess of issue proceeds owver the present value of the future interest and
principal payments, discounted at the market rate of interest a pplicable to similar labilities that do not have a conversion option.

Tarm borrowing which are designated at FYTPL, the amount of change in the fair value of the liability that is attributable to changesin its
credit risk &= presented in OC1 as a liability credit reserve. On Initial recognition af the financial liability, the Group assesses whether
presenting the amount of change in the fair value of the liability that s attributable vo credit risk in OCI would create or enlarge an
accounting mismatch in profit or koss. This assessment is made by using a regression analysis to compare:

»  the expected changes in the fair value of the liability related to changes in the credit risk; and
e the impact on profit or loss of expected changes in fair value of the related instruments,

Amounts presented in the liability credit reserve are not subsequently transferred to profit or loss, When these instruments ane
derecognised, the related cumulative amount in the liability credit reserve b transferred to retained earnings.

Term barrowings and subordinated notes without conversion option and that are not at fair value through profit or loss ane financial
labilities which are intially recopnised at their fair value mines the transaction casts and subsequently measured at their amartised cost
using the effective interest rate method and adjusted to the extent of fair value changes for the risks being hedged.
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6 Material accounting policies (continuwed]
{o) Treasuryshares

Own equity instruments which are acquired [treasury shares) are deducted from the equity and accounted for at weighted average cost.
MNa gain or loss is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on the purchase, sale, ssue or cancelation of the Bank's own
equity instruments. Any difference between the carrying amount and the consideration, if reissued, is recognised in share premium. if
treasury shares are distributed as part of a bonus share issue, the cost of the shares is charged against retained eamings. Voting rights
relating to treasury shares are nullified for the Group and no dividends are allocated to thermn respectively.

{p) Share based payment

On the grant date fair value of options granted to staff is estimated and the cost is recognised as staff cost, with a corresponding increase
in equity, ower the period required for the staff to become unconditionally entitled to the options. The amount recognised as an expensa
i% adjusted to reflect the number of share options far which the related service conditions are expected to be met; as such the amount
ultimately recognised as an expense is based on tha number of share aptions that do meet the related service and non-market performance
conditions at the westing date. These shares may contribute to the calculation of dilutive EPS once they are deemed as potential ardinary
shares,

{g) Interest income and expense
Effective interest rate

Interest income and axpense are recognised in profit or loss using the effective interast method, The “affective interest rate’ & the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial instrumeant to:

& the gross carrying amount of the finandal asset; or
& the amortised cost of the financial lkability.

When calculating the effective interest rate for financial instruments other than purchased or ariginated credit-impaired assets, the Group
estimates future cash flows considering all contractual terms of the financial instrument, but not ECL.

The calculation of the effective interest rate includes transaction costs and any discount or premium on the acguisition of the financial
asset, as well fees and costs that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. Transaction costs include incremental costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or Bsee of a financial asset or financial liabity,

IBOR reform Phase 2 allows as a practical expedient for changes to the bask far determining contractual cash flows to be treated as changes
to a floating rate of interest, provided certain conditions are met. The conditions include that the change is necessary as a direct
consequence of IBOR reform and that the transition takes place on an economically equivalent basis

Amartised cost and gross carrying amount

The ‘amortised cost” of a financial asset or financial liability is the amount at which the financial asset or financial liability i measured on
initial recognition minus the principal repayments, plus ar minus the cumulative amortisation using the effective interest method of any
differance batween that initial amount and the maturity amount and, for financial assets, adjusted for any expected credit loss allowance.

The ‘gross carrying armount of a financial asset’ s the amortised cost of a financial asset before adjusting for any expected credit loss
albowance.

Caleulation of Interest income and expense

The effective interest rate of 2 financial asset or financial liability is caleulated on initial recognition of a financial asset or a financial liability.
In calculating interest income and expense, the effective interest rate is applied to the gross carrying amount of the asset (when the asset
I= not credit impaired) or to the amartised cost of the kability. The effective interest rate s revised as a result of periodic re-estimation af
cash flows of floating rate instruments to reflect movements in market rates of interest, The effective interest rate is also revised for fair
walue hedge adjustments at the date amaortisation of the hedge adjustment begins,

For information an when financial assets are credit-impained, note &lajvii).
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6 Material accounting policies (continuwed]

{g) Interest income and expense (continued)

Presentation

Intarest income caloulated using the effective interest method presentad in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and OC1 includes;

=  nterest on financial assets and financial Eabilities measured at amortised cost;

*  interest on debt instruments measured at FVOCL

®  the effective portion of fair value changes in qualifying hedging derivatives designated in cash flow hedges of variability in interest
cash flows, in the same period as the hedged cash flows affect interest income/fexpense;

= the effective portion of fair value changas in qualifying hedging derivatives designated in fair value hedges of interest rate risk; and

=  negative interest on financial liabilities measured at amortised cost,

Interest expense presented in the consalidated statement of profit or boss and OC) includes:

& financial labilities measured at amorntised cost;

s the effective portion of fair value changes in qualifying hedging derivatives designated in cash flow hedges of varlability in interest
cash flows, in the same period as the hedged cash flows affect interest income /expe nse,

»  the effective portion of fair value changes in qualifying hedging derivatives designated in fair value hedges of interest rate risk,

®  negative interest on financial assets measured at amontised cost; and

= Interest expense on lease liabilities,

{r) Income from Islamic financing activities

ljara inconme is recognised on an effective profit rate basis over the lease term, until swch time a reasonable doubt exists with regard to its
collectability.

bdurabaha intome is recognised on an effective profit rate basis over the period of the contract, until such time a reasonable doubt exists
with regard to its collectabilivg.

Mudaraba income is recognised on an accrual basis if they can be reliably estimated. Otherwise, income is recognised on distribution by
the Mudarib, whereas the losses are charged to the consolidated statement of profit or less on their declaration by the Mudarib. Whereas
the Group is the Rab Al Mal the lesses are charged to the Group's consolidated statement of prafit or loss when incurred,

Wakala income is recognised on the effective profit rate basis over the period, adjusted by actual income when received. Losses are
accounted for when incurred.

{s] Depositors’ share of profit

Depasitors’ share of profit s amount accrued as expense on the funds accepted from banks and customers in the form of wakala and
mudaraba deposits and recognised as expenses in the consolidated statement of profit or loss, The amounts are calculated in accordance
with agreed terms and conditions of the wakala deposits and Sharia'a principles.

{th Fee and commission income and expense

The Group earns fee and commission income from a diverse range of financial services provided to its customers. The basis of accounting
treatment of fees and commission depends on the purposes for which the fees are collected and accordingly the revenue is recognised in
consolidated statement of profit or loss. Fee and commission incormee i accounted for as follows:

= income earned fram the provision of senaces is recognised as revenue as the senvices are provided;

*  income earned on the execution of a significant act & recagnized as revenue when the act is completed; and

= income which farms an integral part of the effective interest rate of a financial instrument s recognised as an adjustment to the
effective interest rate and recorded in “Interest income™,

A contract with a customer that results in a recognised financial instrumant in the Group's consalidated financial statements may be

partially in the scope of IFRS 9 and partially in the scope of IFRS 15, If this s the case, then the Group first applies IFRS 9 to separate and
measure the part of the contract that is in the scope of IFRS 9 and then applies IFRS 15 to the residual.

Fee and commission expense relates mainhy to transaction and service fees which are expensed as the services are received.
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6 Material accounting policies (continuwed]
{t} Feeand commission income and expense [continued)
Customer loyalty programme

The Group operates lovalty programs, which allow customers to accumulate paints when they use the Bank's products and services that
can then be redeemed for free or discounted products or services, subject to certain conditions. The loyalty programs give rise to separate
performance obligations under the separate schemes. The fair wvalue of ssued points is generally estimated based aon equivalent standalone
prices far the mix of awards expected and i racognized in other [abilities until the points get redeamed or lapsed. Management jud gment
s inwolved in determining the redemption rate to be used in the estimate of points to be redeemed as evidenced by the Group’s historical
ENPErEnCE.

{u) 2akat

Lakat is only paid on behalf of shareholders in jurisdictions where zakat payment is made mandatory by the regulations of the jurisdictions,
Such payment s made in accordance with the regulations of the jurisdictions. On annual basis, the Group notifies shareholders on the Zakat
per share payable with regards to FAB Group Islarmic banking activities/ assets,

{v] Metgainf{loss) on investments and derivatives

Met gain/f[loss) on investments and derivatives comprises realized and unrealised galns/losses on investments at fair value through profit
or loss and derivatives, realised gainsflasses an non trading investment securities and dwidend income. Net gain/{lass) on investment at
fair value through prafit or kss abso includes changes in the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities designated at fair value.
Interest income and expense on financial assets and financial liabilities at FVTPL are included wnder net gain / loss on investment and
derivatives,

Gains and losses arksing from changes in fair value of FVOCT assets are recognised in the statement of other comprehensive income and
rescorded in fair value resana with the exception of ECL, interest calculated using the effective interest rate method and foreign exchange
Fains and letses on monetary assets which are recognised directly in the consolidated statement of profit or [oss, Where the investment is
sold or realised, the cumulative gain or loss previously recagnised in egquity under fair value reserve ks reclassified to the consolidaved
statement of profit or loss in case of debt instruments.

Man trading investment securities includes PWOC and amortised cost instruments,

The Group also halds investrments in assets issved in countries with negative interest rates. The Group discloses interest paid on these
assets in the line where its economic substance of transaction is reflected [note 34).

Amortised cost investmants, which are not close to their maturity are not ardinarily sold. Howawer, whan they are sold or realised, the
gain or loss i recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established,
{w) Foreign currency
{1} Forelgn currency transactbons

Transactions in foreign currancies are translated into the respective functional currencies of the Group entities at spot exchange rates at
the dates of the transactions,

Monetary assets and liakilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are retranslated to the functional currency at the
spot exchange rates at the reparting date. The forelgn currency gain or loss an monetary items i the difference between amortised cost
in the functional currency at the beginning of the period, adjusted for effective interest and payments during the period, and the amortised
cost in foreign currency translated at the exchange rate at the end of the period.

Man-manetary assets and llabilities that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated into the functional currency at the
spot exchange rate at the date on which the fair value is determined. Non-manetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction.

Forirign currency differences arsing on transaction are generally recognised in profit or loss, However, foreign currency differences arising
from the transaction arising from the translation of the foBowing item are recognised in GCL

*  equity investments in respect of which an election has been made to present subseguent changes in fair value in OCI,;
#=  afinancial Bability designated as a hedge of the net investment in a forelgn operation to the extent that the hedge is effective; and
»  qualifying cash flow hedges to the extent that the hedge is affective,
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6 Material accounting policies (continuwed]
{w) Foreign currency [continued)
{ii}] Foreignoperations

The activities of subsidiaries and branches based outside the UAE are not deemed an integral part of the head office operations. The assets
and labilities of the forelgn operations are translated into UAE Dirhams at rates of exchange at the reporting date. The income and expense
of foreign operations are translaved at average rates, as appropriate, Exchange differences (including those on transactions which hedge
such imaestments) arising from retranslating the opening net assets, are taken directly to foreign currency translation adjustment account
inother comprehensive income accumulated in the translation reserve, except to the extent that the translation difference is allocated to
MNCI

‘Whan a foreign operation is disposed of such that control is lost, the cumulative amount in the translation reserve related to the foreign
operation is reclassified to profit or loss as part of the gain or boss on dispasal. If the Group disposes of anly part of its interest in a subsidiary
that includes a foreign oparation while retaining contral, then the relevant proportion of the curmulativie amount & reattrbuted 1o NCI

If the settlement of a monetary receivable from or payable to a foreign operation is neither planned nor likely in the foreseeable future,
then foreign currency differences arising on the item form part of the net investment in the foreign aperation and recognised in OC1 and
accumulated in the translation resarve in the equity.

{x) Income tax

Income tax expense comprises of current and deferred tax. Itk recognised In profitor loss except to the extent it relates to items recognised
directly in equity or OCI,

Current income tax assets and Habilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or pald to the taxation authorities.
Current tax is provided for in accardance with fiscal regulations of the respective countries in which the Group cperates and is recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. Current tax is the expected tax payabla on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years. Taxable profit differs
from profit as reported in the consobidated statement of profit or boss statement because it excludes items of income or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible.

Defarred tax is recognised in respect of tamporary differences at the reporting date between the carrying amounts of assets and labiltties
for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes.

Deferred tax is recognised for all taxable differences, except for the following:

= temporary differences: the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that & not a business combination and that affects
neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss,

= temporary differences relating to investments in subsidiaries where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be
controlled and it i+ probable that temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future,

& axable temparary differences arlsing on the initial recognition af goodwill

Defarred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when they reverse, using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

A defersed tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probabde chat future taxable profits will be available against which the asset
can be utilised. The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that suffickent taxable profit will be available to allow for all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.

The measurement of deferred tax reflects the tax conseguences that would follow the manner in which the Group expects, at the reporting
date, to recover o settle the carrying amaunt of its assets and liabilities.

In determining the amount of current and deferred tax, the Group considers the impact of tax exposures, Including whether additional
taxes and Interest maybe due. This ascessment relies on estimates and assumptions and may invalve a series of judgements about future

events, New information may become available that causes the Group to change its judgement regarding the adequacy of existing tax
liabilities; swch changes to tax labilities would impact tax expense in the period in which such a determination is made,
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6 Material accounting policies (continuwed]
{y}] Derivative financial instruments and hedging

A derivative is a financial instrument or other contract between two parties where payments are dependent upen movemeants in the price
of one ar mone underlying financial instrument, reference rate or index with all three of the following characteristics:

- Its value changes in response to the change in a specified interest rate, finandial instrument price, commaodity price, foreign exchange
rate, index of prices or rates, credit rating or credit index, or other varlable, provided that, in the case of a non-financial variable, it ks
not specific 1o & party to the contract [i.e., the "'underlying'].

= It requires no initial net investment or an initial net investment that is smaller than would be required for other types of contracts
expected to have a similar response to changes in market factors.

= ltissettled at a future date,

Derivative financial instruments are initially measured at fair value at trade date and are subsequently re-measured at fair value at the end
of each reporting peried, All derivatives are carried at their fair values as assets where the fair values are positive and as liabilities where
the fair values are negative. Derivativee assets and liabilities arising from different transactions are only offset if the vransactions are with
the same counterparty, a legal right of offset exists and the parties intend to settle the cash flows on a net basis.

Derivative fair values are determined from guoted prices in active markets where available. Where there is no active market for an
Instrurment, fair value is derived from prices for the derivative's companents using appropriate pricing or valuation models mainky
discounted cash flow models. The method of recognising the resulting fair value gains or losses depends on whether the derivative is held
for trading, or Is designated as a hedging instrument and, if so, the nature of the risk being hedged. All gains and losses from changes in fair
value of derivatives held for trading are recognised In the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Embedded derivatives

Darivatives may be embeddad in another contractual arrangement [a host contract). The Group accounts for an embedded derivative
separately from the host contract when:

thie host contract 5 not an asset in the scope of IFRS 9;

the host contract is not itsalf carried at FVTPL;

the terms of the embedded derivative would meet the definition of a derivative if they were contained in a separate contract; and
the econemic characteristics and risks of the embedded derivative are not closaly related to the economic characterstics and risks of
the hast contract.

Separated embadded derivatives are measured at fair value, with all changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss unbess they form part
of a qualifying cash flow or net investment hedging relationship. Separated embedded derivatives are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position together with the host contract.

{z} Hedge aceounting
When derivatives are designated as hedges, the Group classifies them as either:

= fair value hedges which hedge the exposure to changes in the fair value of & recognised asset or labilty;

- cash flow hedges which hedge exposure to variability in cash flows that is either attributable to a particular risk associated with a
recognised asset or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction;

= hedge of net investment which are accounted similarly to a cath flaw hedge, Hedge accounting is applied to dervatives designated as
hedging instruments in a fair value or cash flow, provided the criteria are met.

It i the Group's policy to document, at the inception of a hedpe, the relationship between hedging instruments and hedged items, as well
as risk management abjective and strategy. The policy also requires documentation of the assessment, at inception and on an on-going
basis, of the effectiveness of the hedge.

The Group makes an assessmant, both at the inception of the hedge relationship as well as on an an-going basis, as to whether the hedging
instrurnent|s) is (are ) expected to be highly effective in offsetting the changes inthe fair value or cash flows of the respective hedged item(s)
during the period far which the hedge is designated. The Group makes an assessrment for a cash flow hedge of a forecast transaction, as to
whether the forecasted transaction is highly probable to occur and presents an exposure to variations in cash flows that could ultimately
affect profit or loss.

The Group normally designates a portion of the cash flows of a financial instrument for cash flow or fair value changes attributable to a
benchmark interest rate risk, if the portion is separately identifiable and reliably measurable.
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6 Material accounting policies (continuwed]
{z} Hedge accounting {cantinued)

The Group considers that a hedging relationship is directly affected by IBOR reform if it is subject to the following uncertainty arising from
the refarm;

®  an interest rate benchmark subject to the reform is designated as the hedged risk, regardiess of whether the rate is contractually
specified; and/or
= the timing or amount of interest rate benchmark-based cash flows of the hedged item or of the hedging instrument is uncertain.

IBOR reform Phase 1 reguires that for hiedging relationships affectid by IBOR refarm, the Group assumis that for the pufpade af assessing
expected future hedge effectiveness, the interest rate is not altered as a result of IBOR reform, Also, the Group doesn't discontinue the
hedging relationship if the economic relationship between the hedged item and the hedging instrument fails to exist, although any hedge
ineffecthveness |5 recognized in profit or loss, as normal.

When the uncertainty arising from 1BOR reform i no longer present with respect to the timing and the amount of the interest rate
benchmark-based cash flows of the hedged item or hedging instrument or when the hedging relationship is discontinued, the Group ceases
o apply the respective Phase 1 amandments.

IBOR reform Phase 2 provides temporary reliefs that allow the Group®s hedging relationships to continue upon the replacement of an
existing interest rate benchmark with an RFR. Under The reliefs, the Group amends the hedge designations and hedge documentation of
that hadping relationship to reflect the change(s) required by IBOR reform, These amendments in the formal hedge documentation do nat
constitute the discontinuation of the hedging relationship or the designation of a new hedging relationship.

If the changes are made in addition to those economically equivalent changes reguired by 1B0OR reform described abowe, the Group
considers whether those additional changes result in the discontinuation of the hedge accounting relationship. if the additional changes
do not result in the discontinuation of the hedge accounting relationship, then the Group amends the formal hedge documentation for the
changes required by IBOR reform as mentioned above.

Fair valuse hedge

When a derivative is designated as the hedging instrument in a hedge relationship, changes in the falr value of the derivative are recagnised
immediately in profit or loss, The change in fair value of the hedped item attributable to the hedged risk is recognised in profit or loss If
the hedged item would otherwise be measured at cost or amortised cost, then its carrying amount ks adjusted accordingly,

If the hedging derivative expires or s sold, terminated or exercised, or the hedpe no longer meets the criteria for fair value hedge
accounting, of the hidge designaticn is revaked, then hedge accounting is dacontinuid prospictiviely, Hawiver, if thi difivative is novated
to a clearing counterparty (“CCP) by both parties as a consequence of laws of regulations without changes in its terms except for those
that are necessary for the novation, then the derivative is not considered expired or terminated.

Any adjustment up to the point of discontinuation to a hedged itern for which the effective interest method is used is amortised to profit
of boss @ an adjustment to the recalculated effective interest rate of the tem over it remaining life.

On hedge discontinuation, any hedging adjustment made previously to a hedged financial instrument for which the effective interest
method is used is amaortised to profit or loss by adjusting the effective interest rate of the hedged itern from the date on which amortization
Beging, If the hedped item is derecognised, then the adjustrment i recognised immediately in prafit o loss when the item i derecogniced,

Cash flow hedge

When a derivative is designated as the hedging instrument in a hedge relationship, the effective portion of changes in the fair value of the
defivatives & recognised in OC and presented in the hedging reserve within equity. Any ineffective portion of changes in the falr value of
the derivative ks recognised immediately in the consalidated statement of profit or loss. The amount recognized in OC is reclassified to
consolidated statement of profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment in the same paricd as the hadged cash flows which affect profit or
loss and in the same line in the consolidated statement of profit or boss and OCIL

If the hedging derivative expires is sold, terminated or exercised or the hedge, no longer meets the criteria for cash flow hedge accounting
the hedge accounting is discounted prospectively. However, if the derivative is novated to a central counterparty by both parties as a
consequence of laws or regulations without changes in its terms except for those that are necessary for the novation, then the derivative
i% not considerad as expired or terminated. If the hedged cash flows are no longer expected to occur, then the Group immediately
reclassifies the amount in the hedging reserve from QC) to profit or koss. For terminated hedging relationships, if the hedged cash flows are
still expected to occur, then the amount accumulated in the hedging reserve s not reclazsified until the hedged cash flows affect profit or
lass; if the hedged cash flows are expected to affect prafit or loss in multiple reparting periods, then the Group reclassifies the amount in
the hedging reserve from OCI to profit or loss on a straight-line basis.
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6 Material accounting policies (continuwed]

{z} Hedge accounting {cantinued)
Cash flow hedge (continued)]

For interest rate benchmarks deemed in scope of IBOR reform, the Group will retain the cumulative gain or koss in the cash flow hedpe
reserve for designated cash flow hedges even though there is uncertainty arising from these reforms with respect to the timing and amount
of the cash flows of the hedged items. If the Group cansider the hedged future cash flows are no longer expectad to ootur due to ressons
other than IBOR reform, the cumulative gain or loss will be immediately reclassified to profit or loss,

Met investments hedges

When a derivative instrument or a non-derivative financial llabdity is designated as the hedging instrument in a hedge of a net investment
in a foreign oparation, the effective portion of the changes in the fair value of the hedging instrument is recognised in ather comprehensive
income in the translation reserve, The effective portion of the change in fair value of the hedging instrument is computed with reference
o the funetional currency of the parent entity against whase functional currency the hedged risk is measured, Any inefective portion of
the changes in the fair value of the dervativie or foreign exchange gains and bosses on the non-derivative i recognised mmediately in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss. The amount recognised under ather comprehensive income is fully or partially reclassified to
consolidated statement of profit or loss on disposal of the foreign operation or partial disposal of the foreign operation, respectively.

Other derivatives

Other non trading derivatives are recognised on balance sheat at fair value. If a derivative is not held for trading, and is not designated in a
qualifying hedging relationship, then all changes in its fair value are recognised immediately in profit or boss as a component of net gain on
investments and derivatives or net foreign exchange gain.

{aa) Provisions

A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Group has a present obligation (kegal or constructive) that can be estimated
rellably, and it is prabable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. Where the effect of time value of
moey is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows, at a pre-tax rate, that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and, whera appropriate, the risks specific to the liability.

{ab) Employees” end of service benefit

The Group provides end of service benefits for its employees. The entittement to these benefits is based upon the employees’ length of
service and completion of a minimum senvice period. The expected costs of these benefits are accrued over the period of employment.
With respect to its UAE national employees, the Group makes contributions to the relevant government pension scheme calculated as a
percentape of the employeas’ salaries. The Group's obligations are limited to these contributions, which are expensed when due.

Defined eantribution plan

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an antity pays fixed contributions into a separate antity or to
a gavernment afganisation and will have no legal or constructive obligation t pay further ameunts. Obligations for contributions to defined
contribution pension plans are recogniaed as an emplayes benefit expense in consolidated statement of profit of loss in the perieds during
which services are rendered by employees.

Pension and national insurance contributions for eligible employees are made by the Group to Pensions and Benefits Fund in accordance
with the applicabla laws of country whare such contributions are made.

Defined benefit plan

A defined benefit plan s a post-employment benefit plan other than a defined contribution plan. The Bability recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position in respect of defined benefit gratuity plans is the present value of the defined benefit abligation at the end
of the reporting period together with adjustments for unrecognised past-service costs. The defined benefit obligation is calculated annually
by independent actuaries using the projected unit credit method. The present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by
discounting the estimated future cash outflows using interest rates of high-quality corporate bonds that are denominated in the currency
in'which the benefits will be paid, and that have terms to maturity approximating to the terms of the related pension obligation,

Remeasurements of the net defined benefit liability, which comprise actuarial gains and losses, the return on plan assets {excluding
interest] and the effect of the asset ceiling (if any, excleding interest), are recognised immediately in OCL Net interest expense and other
expenses related to defined benefit plans are recognised in Staff cost in consolidated statement of profit or loss. When the benefits of a
plan are changed or when a plan is curtailed, the resulting change in benefit that relates to past service or the gain or loss on curtailment
is recognised immediately vo profit or loss. The Group recognises gains and losses on the settlement of a defined benefit plan when the
sattlement oocurs,
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6 Material accounting policies (continuwed]
{ac) Directors’ remuneration

Pursuant to Article 171 of Federal Decree-Law no. {32) of 2021 and in accordance with the Bank's Articles of Assodiation, Directars’ shall
b entitled for remuneration which shall not exceed 10% of the net profits after deducting depreciation and resernves.

{ad) Earnings per share

The Group prasents basic and diluted earnings per share (EP5) data for its ordinary shares. Basic EP5 is calculated by dividing the profit or
loss attributable to ordinary sharehaolders of the Group by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year.
Diluged EPS i3 determined by adjusting the prafit o loss attributable to ordinary sharehalders and theweighted sverage number of ordinary
shares outstanding for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares, which comprise of convertible notes and share options granted
o staff,

{ae) Segment reporting

An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues and incur expenses,
including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the Group's other components. All aperating segments’ operating
results ane reviewed regulacly by the Group's Chief Executive, being the chief operating decision maker, to make decisions about resources
to be allocated to the segment and to assess its perfarmance far which discrete financial infarmation is available, Segment results that are
reparted to the Group Chief Executive include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable
basks.

{af) Leases

At Inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether a contract s, or contalns, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a kease if the contract
conveys the right to cantral the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. To assess whether a contract
conweys the right to control the use of an identified asset, the Group uses the definition of a lease in IFRS 16

Group acting as a lessee

At commencement or on modification of a contract that contains a lease component, the Group allocates consideration in the contract to
each beasie companent an the basis of its relative standalone price. However, for leases of branches and office premises the Group has
elected not to separate non-kease componants and accounts far the lease and non-kease components as a singhe lease companant,

The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date, The right-of-use asset & initially measured
at cost less any accumulated depreciation and impairment lossas if any, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted
for any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, plus any initial direct costs incurred and an estimate of costs to
dismantle and remeove any improvements made to branches or office premises.

The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the commencement date to the end of the lease
term. In addition, the right-of-use asset is periodically reduced by impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for certain remeasurements of
the [ease liability.

The lease lability Is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not pald at the commencernent date, discounted
using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, the Group's incremental barrowing rate. Generally,
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate.

The Group determines its incremental borrowing rate by anahsing its borrowings from various external sources and malkes cartain
adjustments to reflect the terms of the lease and type of asset leased.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease lability comprise the following:

fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments;

variable lease payments that depend an an index ar a rate, initially measured using the index or rate a4 a1 the commencemint date;
amounts expected to be payable under a resideal value guarantes; and

the exercise price under a purchase option that the Group is reasonably certain to exercise, lease payments in an optional renewal
pieriod if the GRoup 4 ressonably certain to exerciie an extension aption, and pemalties for early termination of & lease unlews the
Group is reasonably certain not to terminate early.

The lease Hability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, It is remeasured when there is a change in futere
lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, if there is a change in the Group's estimate of the amount expected to be payable
under a residual value puarantee, If the Group changes its assessment of whether it will exercise a purchase, extension or termination
option of if there ks a revised in-substance fixed lease payment.
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6 Material accounting policies (continuwed]
{af) Leases [continued)
Group acting as a lessee [continued)

When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset or
Is recorded tn profit or loss if the carmmying amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.

Where the basis for determining future |ease payments changes as reguired by interest rate benchmark reform
the Group remeasures the lease llability by discounting the revised lease payments using the revised discount rate that reflects the change
o an alternative benchmark interest rae,

The Group presents right-of-use assets in ‘property and equipment’ and lease liabilities in *other liabilities’ in the consalidated statement
of financial position,

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for leases of low-value assets and short-term leases, incleding
leases of IT equipment. The Group recognizes the lease payments associated with these leases as an axpense on a straight-line basis over
the lease term,

Group acting as a lessar

At imception or on modification of a contract that contains a lease component, the Group allocates the consideration in the contract to
each lease component based on their relative stand-alone selling prices. When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at lease inception
whither thee lease is a finance lease or an oparating lease,

Tor classify each lease, the Group makes an overall assessment of whether the lease transfers substantially all of the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of the underbying asset, IF this is the case, then the lease i a finance lease; # not, then it is an cperating lease, As
part of this assessment, the Group considers certain indicators such as whether the lease is for a major part of the econamic life of the
a5Eat.

At the commencement dabe of a finance lease, as a lessor, the Group recognises assets held under a finance lease in its consolidated
statement of financial position and presents them as a recelvable at an amount equal to the net investment in the lease.

At the commencement of an operating lease, as a lessor, the Group recognises lease payments from operating leases as income on either
a straight-line basis or another systematic basis. The Group applies another systematic basis if that basis i more representative of the
pattern in which the benefit from the use of the underlying asset is diminished,

The Group applies the derecognitlon and Impairment requirements in IFRS 9 to the net investment in the lease. The Group further regularhy
reviews estimated unguaranteed residual values used in calculating the gross investment in the lease.

{ag) Settlement date accounting

Purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the settlemaent date, i the date that the Group setthes the purchase or sale of
an assat,

{ah) Financial guarantees, letter of credit and undrawn commitment

The Group issues financial guarantees, letter of credic and loan commitments. Financial guarantees are contracts that require the Group to
rake ipecified payments to reimburse the holders for a loss they incur because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due, in
accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. Loan commitments are irrevocable commitments to provide credit under pre-specified
terms and conditions.

Financial puarantes contracts are initially measured at fair valee and subsequently measured at the higher of
& the amount of the loss allowance; and
& the premium received on initial recognition less income recagnized in accordance with the principles of IFRS 15.

Financial guarantees are reviewed periodically to determine the credit risk to which they are exposed and, if approgriate, to consider
whether a provision s required. The credit risk is determined by application of criteria similar to those established for gquantifying
impairment losses on loans, advances and lslamie financing. If a specific provisian is required for financial guarantees, the related unearned
commissions recognised under ather liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet are reclassified to the appropriate provision, Undrawn
loan commitments and letters of credits are commitments under which, over the duration of the commitment, the Bank Is required to
provide a boan with pre-specified terms to the customer. Similar to finandal guarantee contracts, these contracts are in the scope of ECL
reguiremants,
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7 Use of estimates and judgements

In the process of applying the Group's accounting policies, IFRS require management to select suitable accounting policies, apply them
consistently and make judgements, estimates and assumptiens that are reasonable and prudent and would result in relevant and reliable
informatian, Management, based on guidance in IFRS and the IASBs Framework for the preparation and presentation of financial
statements has made these estimates and judpements. Listed below are those estimates and judgement which could have the most
significant effect an the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

{a) Going concern

The Group’s management has made an assessment of the Group's ability to continue as a geing concern and is satisfied that the Group has
resources to continue in business for the foreseeable future. In making this assessment, management has considered a wide range of
infarmation incleding projections of profitability, regulatory capital requirements and funding needs. The assessment also includes
consideration of reasonably possible downside economic scenarios and their potential impacts on the profitability, capital and liquidity of
the Group, In making this assessment, the Group has contidered the impact of climate-related matters on their going cOncern assassment,

Furthermore, management is not aware of amy material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt upon the Group's ability o continue
as a going concern. Therefore, the consclidated financial statements continue to be preparad on going conoern basis.

{b) Impairment charge on financial assets

Inpairment losses are evaluated a2 described in accounting policy 6{a){vii).

The measuremeant of impairment losses both under IFRS 9 across all categorses of financial assets requires judgement, in particular, the
estimation of the amount and timing of future cash flows and collateral values when determining impairment losses and the assessment
of a significant increats in credm risk, These estimates are driven by a number of factors, changes in which can result in different levels of
allowances.

The Group's ECL calculations are outputs of multiple models with a number of underlying assumptions regarding the choice of variable
inputs and their interdependendies. Elemants of the ECL modaks that are considered accounting judgements and estimates include:

#  The Group's internal credit grading madel, which assigns PDs to the individual grades.

»  The Group's criteria for assessing if there has been a significant increase in credit risk and so allowances for financial assets should
e measured on a | ifetime ECL basis and the qualitative assessment.

#  The segmentation of financial assets when their ECL & assessed on a collective basis.

=  Development of ECL models, including the various formulas and the choice of inputs.

=  Determination of impacts between economic inputs, such as oil prices, gross domestic product and collateral values atc. on PDs, EADs
and LGDs.

»  Selection of forward-looking macroeconomic scenarios and their probability weightings, to derive the economic inputs into the ECL
medels. The Group is currenthy in process for assessing the impact of climate risk in the Group's risk medels.

It is the Group's policy to regularly review its models in the context of actual boss experience and adjust when necessary.
{c} Impairment charge on property and equipment

Impairment losses are evaluated as described in accounting policy nate &laj(vil).

In determining the net realisable value, the Group uses the selling prices determined by external independent valuer companies, having
appropriate recognised professional qualifications and recent experience in the location and category of property being valued. The salling
prices are based on market values, being the estimated amount for which a preperty could be exchanged on the date of the valuation
between a willing buyer and a willing seller in an arm”s length transaction.

{d) Contingent liability arising from litigation

The Group operates in a regulatory and legal environment that, by nature, has a heightened element of litigation risk inherent to its
operations. As a result, it i involved in various litigation, arbitration and regulatory investigations and proceedings, arising in the ordinary
course of the Group’s business.

When the Group can reliably measure the outflow of economic berefits in relation to a specific case and considers such outflows to be
probable, the Group records a provision against the case, no provision & made where the probability of outflow i considered to be remote,
of probable, ar a reBable estimate cannot be made. Given the subjectivity and uncertainty of determining the probability and amount of
lasses, the Group takes into account & number of factors including legal advice, the stage of the matter and historcal evidence fram similar
incidents. Significant judgement is required to conclude on these estimates,
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7 Use of estimates and judgements (continued)
{e) Share based payment

The fair value of the share based payment scheme is determined using the Black-Schales model. The model inputs comprise of share price,
e rcise price, share price volatility, contractual life af the option, dnidend yield and risk-feee interest rate,

{f) Valuation of financial instruments

The valuation technigues of financial instruments may require certain unobservable inputs to be estimated by management. These are
diseussed in detall in note & [a)vi) & note 50,

Further, as a result of IBOR Reform, when finandal instruments transition to RFRs, any change to the referenced interest rate affects the
cash flows of the financial instrument and therefore its fair value. The transitien may also result in a change to the interest rate used for
the purpose of discounting the cash flows, which akao affects the fair value of the financial instrument. Therefare, for measuring fair values
of financial instruments using net present value and discounted cash flow models, the Group applies judgement to select the discount
rate which is most appropriate for the financial instrument as IBOR reform affects the different possible interest rate benchmarks that
could be selected,

{g) Defined benefit plan

The present value of the defined benefit abligation depends on a number of factors that are determined on an actuarial basks using a
number of assumptions. The assumptions used in determining the net cost [income) for abligations include the discount rate. Any changes
in these assumptions would impact the carrying amount of the defined benefit obligation.

The Group determines the appropriate discount rate at the end of each year. This is the interest rate that should be used 1o determine
the present value of the estimated future cash flows expected to be required to settle the future obligations. In determining the
appropriate discount rate, the Group considers interest rate of high-quality corporate bonds that are denominated in the currency in
which the benefits will be paid and that have the terms to maturity approximating the terms of related benefit obligation. Other key
assurmnptions for defined benefit obligations are based in part on current market conditions. Additional information on these assumptions
Is disclosed in note 23,

{h) Financial asset and liability classification

The Group's accounting policies provide scope for the classification and assessment of the business model for finandial assets and liabilities
to be designated on Inception into different accounting categories. The classification criteria are mentioned tn policy
note & [a)fi.

{i} Structured entities

The Group's accounting policies provide scope for the classification and consolidation of structured entities in palicy note 5 (lii).

Far all funds managed by the Group, the investors are able to vote by simple majority to remove the Group as fund manager, and the
Group's aggregate economic interest in each fund Is not material. As a result, the Group has concluded that it acts as an agent for the
investars in these funds, and therefore has not consolidated these funds,

{i} Operating segments

In preparation of the segment information disclosure, management has made certain assumptions to arrive at the segment reporting.
These assumptions would be reassessed by management on a perlodic basis. Operating segments are detailed in note 45,

(k) Effective Interest Rate (EIR) method

The Group's EIR method, as explained in note & (g), recognises Interest income using a rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial Instrument to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset; or the
amortised cost of the financial liability along with recognising the impact of transaction costs and fees and points paid or received that are
an imtegral part of the effective interest rate. This estimation, by nature, requires an element of judgement regarding the expected
behaviour and life cyche of the instruments, 35 well expected changes ta the base rate and ather fee incomefexpense that are integral parts
of the instrument.
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7 Use of estimates and judgements (continued)

{k) Effective Interest Rate (EIR) method (continued)

The IBOR refarm Phase 2 requires as a practical expedient for changes to the basis for determining contractual cash flows that are
necessary as a direct consequence of IBOR reform, to be treated as a change to a floating rate of interest provided the transition fram
IBOR to RFR takes place on a basis that is economically equivalent. Far changes that are not required by IBOR referm, the Group applied
judgment to determine whether they result in the financial instrument being derecognised or adjust it carrying value as described below
in 7 {0},

Therefare, as financial instruments transition from IBOR to RFRS, the Group applies judgment to assess whether the transition has taken
place on an economically equivalant basis. In making this assessment, the Group considers the extent of any changes to the contractual
cash flows as a result of the transition and the factors that have given rise to the changes, with consideration of both quantitative and
qualitative factors.

{l} Derecognition of financial instruments

As explained In note 6{a) (dl & W), the Group derecognises financial assets and financlal liabilities If there has been a substantial
medification of their terms and conditions. In the context of IBOR reform, many financial instruments have already been amended by the
end of 2023. In addition to the interest rate of a finandal instrument changing, there may be other changes made to the terms of the
financial instrument at the time of transition. For financial instruments measured at amortized cost and FVOCI, the Group first applies the
practical expedient a5 described in note 7 (k) abowe, ta reflect the change in the referenced interest rate from an IBOR to an RER. Sacond,
fior any changes not covered by the practical expedient, the Group applies judgement to assess whether the changes are substantial and
if they are, the financial instrument ks derecognised and a new financial instrument is recognised. If the changes are not substantial, the
Group adjusts the gross carrying amount of the financial instrument by the present value of the changes not covered by the practical
expedient, discounted using the revised EIR.

{m) Hedge accounting

Thir Group has designatied hedpe relationships a5 both fair value and cash flow hedges. The Group's hedge accounting palicies include an
element of judgement and estimation in note 6 (z).

The Group's hedped items and hedging instruments (that have not transitioned) continue to be indaxed to IBOR benchmark rates, for US
Dallar LIBOR. This IBOR benchmark rates are quoted each day and IBOR cash flows are exchanged with its counterparties as wsual, The
Group's cash flow hedping relationships of US dollar LIBOR ricks extend beyond the anticipated cessation dates for the LIBOR. The Group
enpects that US dollar LIBOR will be replaced by SOFR, but there is uncertainty over the transition of and timing of transitioning the Group’s
hedged items and hedging instruments and over the amount of replacement rate cash flows. Such uncertainty may impact the hedging
relationship = e.g. its effectiveness assessment and highly probable assessment.

The Group applies the tempaorary reliefs provided by the IBOR reform Phase 1 amendments, which enable its hed ge accounting to continue
during the period of uncertainty, before the replacement of an existing interest rate benchmark with an akernative nearly risk-free interest
rate. For the purpose of determining whether a forecast transaction i highly probable, the reliefs require it to be assumed that the |BOR
on which the hedged cash flows are based is not altered as a result of IBOR reform. The reliefs end when the Group judges that the
uncartainty arising from 1BOR reform is no longer present for the hedging relationships referenced to IBORs. This applies when the hedged
item has already transitioned from IBOR to an RFR and also to exposures that will transition via fallback to an RFR when certain LIBORs
=L

The IBOR reform Phase I amendments provide temporary reliefs to enable the Group's hedge accounting to continue upen the
replacement of an IBOR with an RFR. Under one of the reliefs, the Group may elect for individual RFRs to be deemed as meeting the IFRS
9 requirement to be separately identifiable companents of the hedged item. For each RER to which the reliaf has bean applied, the Group
judges that both the volume and market liguidity of financial instruments, that reference the RFR and are priced using the RFR, are already
sufficient and will increase during the 24- month period with the result that, the hedged RFR risk component Is separately identifiable in
the change in fair value or cash flows of the hedged item

{n) Goodwill Impairment

The Group estimates that reasonably possible changes in the assumptions used for the impalrment would not cause the recoverable
amount of either CGL) to decline below the carrying amount.

An impairment loss |5 recognised f the carrying amount of an asset or its CGU exceeds its recoverable amount. CGU is the smallest
identifiable asset group that generates cash flows that largely are independent from other assets and groups. Impairment losses are
recaognised in the Group consolidated statement of profit or loss statement. Impairment losses recognised in respect of OGUs are allocated
first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the units and then to reduce the carrying amount of other assets in the
unit [Froup or units) on a pro rata basi.
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7 Use of estimates and judgements {continued)

{n) Goodwill Impairment {continued)

The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their prasent value using a discount rate that reflects current market assessmants of the
time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.

{o} Effect of Climate risk on accounting judgments and estimates

The Group makes use of reasonable and supportable information to make accounting judgments and estimates, this includes information
about the abservable effects of the physical and transition risks of climate change. Many of the effects arlsing from climate change will be
longer term in nature, with an inherent kevel of uncertainty, and have limived effect on accounting judgments and estimates,

(p) Tax

The measurement of deferred tax reflects the tax consequences that wauld fallow the manner in which the Group expacts, at the reporting
date, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

In determining the amount of current and deferred tax, the Group considers the impact of tax exposures, including whether additional
taxes and interest maybea due. This assessment relies on estimates and assumptions and may invalve a series of judpements about future
events. New Infarmation may become avallable that causes the Group to change its judgement regarding the adequacy of existing tax
Habilities; such changes to tax Habilities would impact tax expense in the period in which such a determination Is made.

{g)] Investment properties

The fair value of investrment propertes is determined by using valuation technigues. For further detalls af the judgments and assurmptions
made [note 16).

44 | 112
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& Cash and balances with central banks

31 Dec 2023 EESESETI N
AED"OOD AECYO00

Cash on hand 1,920,023 1816546
Central Bank of the UAE

cash resernve deposits 34,172,748 8,413 183

ather balances 28,000,000 10,000,000
Balances with other central banks 169461908 194319480
Gross cash and balances with central banks 233,554,679 124,549,209
Less: expected credit loss [164,394) [1&0,380)
Total cash and balamces with cantral banks 133,390,285 123,368 829

Ae por the CBUAE regulations, the Bank is allowed to draw their balances held in the UAE reserve account, while ensuring that they meet
the resene requirements over a 14 day period. Balances with other central banks includes mandatory reserves which are avallable for day-
to-day operations under certain spacifiad conditions.

9  Investments at fair value through profit or loss

31 Dec 2023 31 Deg 2022

AED'DOD AEDDOR
Investrments in managed funds 8484 8,734
Imvestmnent in private equities 3,135 857 2,240,442
Imvestments in equities 1,568,102 1,613,279
Debt securities 40,496,350 27,854,342
Total Investments at falr value through profit or loss 45,208,793 31,816,747

10 Due from banks and financial institutions

31 Dec 2023 31 Dec 2022
AED D00 AED 000

Current, call and notice deposits 4,439,610 3 424 994
Margin deposits 14,728,939 15,944,139
Flwed deposits 6,155,534 3,585,680
Grogs Due from banks and financial institutions 25,324,087 24,954,813
Less: expected credit loss |57.717) (67,857}
Total Due from banks and financlal institutions 25,266,370 24,886,956

11 Reverse repurchase agreements

The Group enters into réverse fepurchase agreements in the normal course of business in which the third-party transfers financial assets
to the Group for short term financing.

31 Dec 2023 31 Dec 2022

AED'DD0 AED'DOD
Reverse repurchase with banks and athers T7113,521 66,001,324
Reverse repurchase with central banks 1,477,358 1,126,716
Gross reverse repurchase agreements 78,590,879 63,128,050
Less: expected credit hoss {87.016) (21,958}
Total reverse repurchase agreements 78,503,853 59,106,092

At 31 Dacember 2023, the fair value of financial assets accepted as collateral that the Group is permitted to sall re-pledpe in the absence
of default was AED 89,895 million (31 December 2022: AED 73,791 million). At 31 December 2023, the fair value of financial assets
accepted as collateral that have been sold or re-pledped wid AED 8,331 million (31 December 2022; AED 11,220 millisn), The Graup is
obliged to return equivakent securities.

These transactions are conducted under terms that are usual and customary o standard lending, and securities barrowing and lending
activities,
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12 Loans, advances and Islamic financing

31 Dec 2023 [EENRSERIEE
AED' 000 AED'O00

Gross loans, advances and Islamic financing 504,641,140 473,724 466
Less: interest suspended {7,186,531) [6.251,152)
Less: expected credit lass (13,501, 089) (13 E79,987)
Met loans, advances and Islamic financing 483,953,520 459,593,317
31 Dec 2022
AED'DO0 AEDDOQ

By counterparty:
Government sectar 61,310,050 55,910,301
Bublic sectar 79,383,113 80,035,562
Banking sectar 12,607,202 7920375
Corparate | private sector 269,854,139 249,032,048
Personal f retail sector 81,486,636 76,625,580
Gross loans, advances and Islamic financing 504,641,140 479,724,466
31 Dec 2023 31 Dec 2022

By product:

COverdrafts 21,031 461 20,485,474
Term loans 414 881,146 359 460,027
Trade related loans 32,199,144 34,108,130
Persanal loans 29,252,312 28,749,858
Credit cards 5,540,986 4,960,609
‘\fehicle financing loans 1,736,091 1,979,359
Gross |oans, advances and Islamic financing 504 641,140 479,724 466

The Group provides lending against investmant in equity securities and funds. The Group is authorised to liquidate thesa instruments if
their coverage falls below the certain agreed threshold. The carrying value of swuch lending s AED 77,557 million
{31 December 2022: AED 55,460 million) and the fair value of instruments held as collateral agalnan such loans i3 AED 138,577 million
(31 Decernber 2022; AED 178,348 million), During the year, the Group has lquidated insignificant amount of collateral due to fall in the
coverage ratio.

Islamic financing
Included in the above loans, advances and klamic financing are the following Islamic financing recevablies;

31 Dec 2023 EEREREGedr

AEC 000 AEDVOO0
ljara 11682712 12,276,718
Murabaha 25428860 25,637,275
Others 561,264 B76,607
Gross Islamic financing contracts 38,672 836 38,590,600
Lass: expected credit loss {1,146,283) 11,135,335}
Less: suspended profit {208,217 {175.060)
Tatal Islamic financing contracts 37,318,336 37,280,215
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13 Non trading investment securities

FABT

i Al Dbl Bk

31 Dec 2022

31 Dec 2023
AED'000

AED'O00
Fair value through other comprehensive incomea:
= with recycle to profit or loss (Debt Investments) 170,715,855 166,591,251
- withaut recycle ta prafit or kass [Equity Investrments) 4,553,371 1,070,888
Armortised cost 4,375,427 A,GER 208
179,544,603 172,350,477
Less: expected credit loss {1,329) [659)
179,643,274 172,349 818
Equity investments measurad at FVOC! are strategic investments for long term purposes,
an analysis of non trading investrment securities by type at the reporting date i shown below;
31 Dec 2023 31 Dec 2022
AED'DDD AED'D00
Cuoted Unquotad Total Ouoted Unquated Tatal
Equity invastments 1,051,385 3,501,936 4,553,321 866,742 204,146 1,070,888
Dbt investments 174,026,558 1,064,724 175,091,282 167,117 450 4,162,138 171,279,589
175,077,943 4 566,660 179,644,603 167 584,192 4,366,285 172,350,477
Less: expected credit loss {1,329) - {1,329) [659) - [659]
175,076,614 4,566,660 179,643,274 167,983,533 4,366,285 172,349,818

Debt instruments under repurchase agreements included in non trading
AED 18,360 million (31 Decernber 2022: AED 26,896 million).

As at 31 December 20I3, the fair value of inwestment securities measured at amortised cost amounted to AED 4,154 million

(31 December 2022: AED 4,389 million].

14 Other assets

Intenest rece vable

Acceptances

sundry debtars and ather recenables
Deferred tax asset

Less: expected credit los
Met other assets

investment securities at 31 Oecember 2023 amounted to

31 Dac 2022

31 Dec 2023
AED'000

AED'000

28,077,493 18,333,696
7,658,608 6,378,274
5,659,249 5, 766,200
237,725 134,767
41,633,080 0,612,937
1300,334) (407,282}
41,332,685 30,205,655

The Group does not percelve any significant credit risk on interest receivable and acceptances.

Bcceptances arise when the Group is under an obligation te make payments against documents drawn under latters of credit. After
acceptance, the Instrument becomes an unconditional lability of the Group and is therefore recognised as a finandlal lability in the
consolidated statement of financlal position. However, every acceptance has a correspanding contractual right of reim burse ment from the

customer which is recognised as a finandial asset.

15 Investment in associates

Investment in associates

229/318

31 Dec 2023

31 Dec 2032
AEDNO00
1,559,303
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16 Investment properties

31 Dec 2023 EENRSERIEE

oo

Az at the beginning of year 7,168,089 6,962 576
Additions 1,560,382 532,827
Disposals {568,139) 5
Fair value adjustment 1,405 {327,314}
As at the year end 8,161,737 7,168,085

Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of prafit or loss in respect of net rental income of investment properties are as follows;

31 Dec 2023 [EEERE RN

AED'000 AEDO0O

Rental income derived from investment properties 168,212 156,785
Operating expensas {54,305} 58,515}
Met rental income from investment properties 113,907 58,270

Investment properties are stated at fair value which represents the price that would be received to sell an asset or pald to transfer a liability
im am arderly ransaction between market participants under prevalling market conditions at the measurement date.

The Group's investment properties consist of land, buildings and properties under development in Abu Dhabi and Dubai. Management
determined that these investment properties consist of two classes of cormmercial and retall assets, based on the nature, characteristics
and risks of each property,

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, fair value of the properties is based on the valuations performed by third party valuers and all are level
3 under fair value hierarchy. The valuers are accredited with recognised and relevant professional gualifications and with recent experience
in the location and category of investment properties being valued. The fair values have been determined based on varying waluation
models depending on the intended use of the investment properties; in accordance with the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyars
["RICS™) Valuation Standards,

Description of valuation technigues used and key inputs to valuation on investment properties as at 31 December 2023 and 2022:

Type 31 Dec 2023 | Valuation Significant unobservable | Inter-relationship between key
AED'DD0 | technique inputs unobservable inputs
Buildings 4,407,734 | Comparable and | Comparable transactions A
residual method
Sales  comparison | Current market price of
mthod similar assets
Properties  under - | Discounted cash | Discount rate Vaid periods were shorter [longer);
deweloprient flow methad
Cash inflows The oocupancy rate were higher {lower);
Cash outflows Rent-free periods were shorter (longer); or
The risk-adjusted discount rate were lower
[higher).
The estimated fair valve would
increase (decrease) if:
Expected market rental growth were higher
[lwerl:
Land 3,754,003 | Comparable and | Cost of construction A
residual method
Developer's profi
Financing cost

230/318
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17 Property and equipment

Land, Computer Furnfture,
buildings systems  equipment, Capital
and and safes and work -in-
alterations equipment vithicles progress Total
AED'D0D AEDDDO AEDDDO AED'DOD AEDDDD
Cost
As at 1 January 2022 2468740 3,881,532 624,963 1,209, 806 9,185,041
Additions 104,871 107870 13,533 1,238,207 1,464,481
Allacations fram capital work in progress 18,524 1,113,459 7,710 (1,140,053
Disgosals, transfers and write offs! {231,572 {371,492 (83,914) (416,222) (1,104,200}
At 31 December 2022 4,360,963 4,730,363 562,292 1 891,698 9,545,222
Ag at 1 January 2023 2,360,963 4,730,369 562,292 1,891,698 2,545,322
Additions 59,738 44,115 6,368 1,195,391 1,305,612
Allocations from capital work in progress 172912 1,042,291 15911 (1,231,114) -
Disposals, transfers and write offs® {117,803) 11,223,345] {110,016} {497,130) {1,548,294)
At 31 December 2023 2475810 4,593,430 474,555 1,358,845 8,902,640
Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses
As at 1 January 2022 7815941 1,994,942 442 897 = 3,219,780
Charge for the year 167 568 e51,160 40,610 - 859,333
Disposals, transfers and write offs® 1143,384) {160,205} [24,814) - (32%,003)
At 31 December 2022 805,525 2,485 857 458693 - 3,750,115
As at 1 January 2023 805,525 2,485,897 458,692 - 3,750,115
Charge for the year 153,891 553,581 35,219 - 742,691
Dispasals, transfers and write offs! {70,753) [536,262) (28,027) - [705,042)
At 31 December 2023 HEE 6R3 2,503,216 395 BES - 3,787,764
Carrying amounts
At 31 December 2022 1,555,438 2,244,472 103,599 1,491,638 5,795,207
At 21 December 2023 1,587,147 2,090,214 7B670 1,358,345 5,114,876

ladjusted for foreign exchange translation impact.
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18 Intangibles

Customer Core

Goodwill relationship depasit License Brand Total

AED D00 AED'DDD AED'OOD  AEDOOO  AED'0OD AED'D0O
Cost
At 1 January 2022 18,693,058 1,778,055 704,336 368,700 22,000 21,566,129
Additicns . - . - . -
At 31 December 2022 18,693,088 1 77ED55 704,336 368,700 22,000 21,566,129
At 1 January 2023 18,693,038 1,778,055 To4,336 368,700 22,000 21,566,129
Additions - - - - - -
At 31 December 2023 18,693,038 1,778,055 T04,336 368,700 21,000 21,566,129
Aceumulated amortisation and Impalrment
losses
At 1 January 2022 . 782,852 238,007 . 10,096 1,030,995
Charge for the year - 135,981 62,968 - 1,006 202,955
At 31 December 2022 - 921,873 300,975 - 11,102 1,233,950
At 1 January 2023 - 521,873 200,975 - 11,102 1,233,950
Charge for the year - 135,806 59,800 - 1,006 196,612
At 31 December 2023 - 1,057,679 360,775 - 12, 108 1,430,562
Carrylng amounts
At 31 December 2022 18,693,038 856,182 403,361 368,700 10,858 20,332,179
At 21 December 2023 18,693,038 720,376 343,561 368,700 5,892 20,135,567

Testing goodwill for impairment invelves a significant amount of judpment. This Includes the identification of iIndependent CGUs and the
allocation of goodwill to these units based on which units are expected to benefit from the acquisition. In a goodwill impairment test, the
recoverable amounts of the goodwill carrying CGUs are compared with the respective carrying amounts. The recoverable amount is the
higher of a CGUs fair value bess costs of disposal and its value in usa,

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to the Group's independent CGUs which are Cor porate & Investmant Banking
= AED 13,221 millian, Consumer Banking = AED 4,149 million and FAB Egypt operation = AED 1,323 million (FAS Misr).

The recoverable amount for the CGUs has been cakiulated based on their value in use, determined by discounting the future cash flows
expected to be generated from the continuing use of the CGLIs, assets and their ultimate disposal at a discount rate of 10% p.a. and a
terminal growth rate ranging from 55 bo 8% p.a. based on the CGU earning growth were used to estimate the recoverable amount.

The key assumptions described abowe may change as economic and market conditions change. The Group estimates that reasonably
possible changes in these assumptions would not cause the recoverable amount of above CGUs to decline below the carrying amount. The
recoverablie amount of the CGUs has been determined based on a value in use calculation, using cash flow projections covering a five-year
period and by applying a berminal growth rate thereafter, The forecast cash flows have been discounted using the Weighted Average Cost
of Capital.

The calculation of value in use in the CGUs is most sensitive to the following assumptions:
= Interest margins;

* DiSCount rates;

= Market share during the prajection period;

= Projected growth rates used to extrapolate cash flows beyond the projection period;

= Current local Grass Domestic Product ("GDP); and

* Local inflation rates,

Goodwill is tested for impatrment annually and when circurnstance indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. No impairment losses
were recognized during the year ended 31 Decernber 2023 (31 December 2022 nil) because the recoverable amounts of the CGU's were

determined to be higher than their carrying amounts.
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19 Due to banks and financial institutions

31 Dwec 2023 31 Dec 2022

AED'000 AEDF 000
Banks and financlal institutions
Current, call and notice deposits 6,430,082 5,302,698
blargin 11,946,284 14,512,501
Fived deposits 18,904,936 24,358 658
37,231,302 45,174,857
Central banks
Current and call deposits 214,974 550,310
hargin deposits 705,249 498,351
Fiwed and certificate of deposits 33,326,106 15,336,782
34,246,229 16,385,483
Total due to banks and financial institutions 71,527,631 61,560,340

Due to banks and financial institutions are denominated In wvarious currencies and carry a rate of interest in the range of
0,02 % to 5.32 % |31 December 2022: 0.02% to 5.01 %).

20 Repurchase agreements
The Group enters Into repurchase agreements in the normal course of business by which it transfers recognised financial assets directly

to third parties.
31 Dwec 2023 31 Dec 2022
AED'D00 AED QOO

Repurchase agreements with banks / financial institutions 16,096,108 39,004,515
Total repurchase agreaments 26,096,108 39,004,515

The carrying wvalue that is also the fair wvalue of financial assets collateralised at the reporting date amounted to
AED 18,360 million (31 December 2022: AED 26,896 milkon) amd thekr associated financial Habilities amounted to
AED 26,096 million (31 December 2022 AED 39,005 million). The net differance betwesn the fair value of the financial assets collateralised
and the carrying value of the repurchase agreement is AED 7,735 million (31 December 2022: AED 12,109 million) which represents
pledped financial assets received as collateral against reverse repurchase agreements or through security borrowing arrangement from
custodian,

21 Commercial paper

Thie Bank has a Euro Commercial Paper program with a limit of USD 3.5 billion and a US Dollar Commercial Paper program with a limit of
USD 10 billion.

The notes outstanding as at the end of the reporting date amounted to AED 10,659 milkon (31 December 2022: AED 31,738 million) and
have maturity period of less than 12 months,

The Growp did not have any defaults of principal, interest or other breaches with respect to its Commercial paper programs during the
wears ended 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022,
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22 Customer accounts and other deposits

31 Dec 2023 31 Dec 2022
AED'DO0
By account;
Current accounts 329,825,330 271,542,224
Savings accounts 30,873,736 25,537,000
hargin accounts 2,611,168 2,418,348
Matice and tim e deposits 362 481,237 353 348,794
715,791,471 663,336,366
Certificates of deposit 34,071,161 37,237,006
Total customer accounts and other deposits 759,862,632 700,573,371
31 Dwec 2023 31 Dec 2022
AED'000 AEDY 000
By counterparty:
Government sector 203,000,160 224,394,105
Pubilie sectar 72,682,261 86,309,756
Corporate / private sector 337,099,286 153,762,533
Personal / retall sector 113,000, 764 98,869,966
715,791,471 663,336,366
Certificates of deposit 34,071,161 37,237,005
Total customer accounts and other deposits 759,862,632 00,573,371
31 Dwee 2023 31l Dac 2022
AED 000 AEDDO0
By location:
LIAE 562,984 817 506,874,227
Europe 59,495,806 50,737,900
Arab countries 51,011,029 45,187,336
Armericas 35,019,223 38,908,437
Asia 15,136,645 15,010,897
Others 2,143,951 2,517,568
Ti5, 791,471 653,336,366
Cartificates of deposit 34,071,161 37,237,005
Total customer accounts and other deposits 759,862,632 70,573,371
Concentration by location ks based on the residential stavus of the depositars,
Islamic customer deposits
Included in the abowe Customer accounts and ather deposits are the following Islamic depasits:
31 Dec 2023 3l Dec 2022
AED"DOD AED D00
Current account deposits 2,025 8E9 2,082,064
bargin deposits 77910 72045
budaraba saving deposits 3,855,652 3,804 D6
hudaraba term deposits 72,281 498,944
Wakala depasits 6,557,545 5827059
hurabha deposits 437,429 35,262
Total Islamic customer deposits 13,026,706 12,335,860
52112
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23 Other liabilities

31 Dec 2023 31 Dec 2022
AED'000 AED'O00

Interest payable 24,217,471 15,955,534
Acceptances 6,831,842 4,867,808
Pravision employess’ end of service benefits 379,230 380,489
Accounts payable, sundry creditars and other liabilities 14,908,577 15,267,422
Income tax 544,788 577,724
Total other Nabilities 46,531,908 37,048,977

Employees end of service benefits
Defined benefit obligations

The Group provides for end of service benefits for its eligible employees. An actuarial valuation has been carried out as at
31 December 2023 to ascertain prasent value of the defined benefit obdigation. A registered actuary in the UAE was appointed to evaluate
the same. The present value of the defined benefit obligation, and the related current and past service cost, were measured using the
Projected Unit Credit Method,

The following key assumptions (weighted average rates) were used to value the labilities:

31 Dec 202

Discount rage 5.48% per annum  2.46% per annum

Salary increase rate 2.48% per annum  2.47% per annum

Demagraphic assumptions for maortality, withdrawal and retirement were used in wvaluing the liabilities and benefits under the plan,
Bacause of the nature of the banefit, which s 3 lurmp sum payable on exit due 1o any cause, a combined single decrement rate has been
used,

& shift in the In the dicount rate assumption by +/- 50 basis points would Impact the labily by AED 7,849 thousand
{31 December 2022: AED 11,633 thousand) and AED 8,221 thousand (31 December 2022: AED 3,273 thousand) respectively. Similarly, a
shift in the salary Increment assumption by +/ 50 bask points would impact the liabllity by AED &759 thousand
(31 December 2022: AED 2,842 thousand) and AED 8,450 theusand (31 December 2022: AED 11,254 thousand) respectively.

The mowvement in the employees’ end of service obligation was as follows:

31 Dec 2022

AEDTO00

Balance at the baginning of year 429,976
et chaarge during the yirar 53,415 58,432
Remeasuremeant losses in Ol 9811 (34,737)
Paid during the year and other adjustments. {64.485) [73,182)
Balance at the end of year 379,230 330,189

Defined contribution plan

The Group pays contributions for Its eligible employees which are treated as defined contribution plans. The charge for the year In respect
of these contributions is AED 120,084 thousand (31 December 2022: AED 116,285 thousand). As at the reporting date, pension payable of
AED 15,782 thousand (31 December 2022: AED 11,355 thousand) has been dassified under other liabilities.
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23 Other liabilities (continued)
Income tax

The Group has provided for income tax in accordance with management’s estimate of the total amount payable based on tax rates enacted
of substantially enacted as at the reporting date. Where appropriate the Group has made payments of tax on account in respect of these
estimated liabilities.

The income tax charge for the year ks calculated based upon the adjusted net profit for the year. The movement in the provision was as

follows:

31 Dec 2023 31 Dec 2022

e

Balance at the baginning of year 577 724 387,240
Charge for the year 1,041,742 957,621
Income tax paid, net of recoveries {1,058,282) (869,415}
Deferred tax movements 33,604 932,278
Balance at the end of year 594,788 577,724

On 9 December 2022, the UAE Ministry of Finance released Federal Decree-Law No, 47 of 2022 on the Taxation of Corporations and
Businesses [the “Law”] to enact a Federal corporate tax regime in the UAE. Furthermore, on 16 January 2023, a Cabinet Deckion was
published specifying the threshold of AED 375,000 of taxable income above which taxable entities would be subject to a 9% corporate tax
rate,

The Corporate Tax regime became effective for the Group from 1 January 2024, Accordingly, the Group has made a full and fair assessment
of its impact including any deferred taxation, The initial recognition of deferred tax has resulted in assets of AED 131 million from the

A55e55ment.

The Group may be subject to the application of the Global Minimum Tax at a rate of 15% in the future which is dependent on the
implementation of OECD Base Erosion Prafit Shifting Pillar Il by the UAE MoF, and countries in which the Group operatas its business,

24 Term borrowings

31 D 2023 31 Dec 2022

AED D00 AEDTO00

At amortised cost 63,551,008 62,084, 301
At fair value through prafit or bass 387,829 550,832
Total term borrowings 63,938,927 62,635,133

During the year, the Group has issued varicus fixed and floating rate notes. The values of the notes issued are stated below:

31 Dec 2023 31 Dec 2022
AED 000 AEDDOD

As at the beginning of year 62,635,133 71,643,816
Mew issuances 8,139,830 10,625,674
Redemptions (8,296,933 113,431,531}
Fair valuation, exchange and other adjustmants 1,560,897 16,202,826)
As at the end of year 63,938,927 62,635,133
54112
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24 Term borrowings [continued)]

During the year, the Group has issued various fixed and floating rate notes. The Group hedges its currency and interest rate exposure on
these notes. The nominal values of the notes issued during the year are stated belows:

31 Dec 2022
AEC'O00

Eixed rate
AED ’
CHF : 763,485
CNH . 475,075
EUR - 1,773,193
usD 6,353,281 4,407,106
HED B 136,402
NZID 82,837 -
Flaating r. - -
uso 168,958 2,710,663
7921126 10,265,924

The Group has hedged the interest race and foreign currency exposure on term borrowings. The nominal value hedped are AED &1 billion
[31 Decermber 2022: AED 57 billion) and the risks being hedged have a net positive fair value of AED 5507 million
(21 Decernber 2022: net negative fair value of AED 6,168 milkan). The Group has not had any defaults of principal, nterest, or other
breaches with respect to its term borrewings during 2023 and 2022,

25 Subordinated notes

31 Dec 2023 21 D 2022
AED'0OD AED'CO0

10 Decemnber 2012 issue [4.75 percent fixed rate maturing on 9 December 2027}

[eurrency of issuance - MYR] 384726 420,620
4 Qctober 2023 issue (6,32 percent fined rate until 4 April 2029 and if not called,

then fram 4 April 2029 to the maturity date, the prevailling 5-Year US Treasury rate + 1,705, 3,806,691

maturing on 4 April 2034) (currency of issuance - USD)

Total subordinated notes 4,191,417 420,620

Thie Group has hedged the interest rate and foreign currency exposure on the subordinated notes, The Group did not have any defaults
of principal, interest, or other breaches with respect to its subordinated notes during the years ended 31 December 2023 and
31 Decernber 2022,
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26 Capital and reserves

Share Capital
31 Dec 2023 31 Dec 2022
AED'DDO AEDOR0
Authorised share capital 11,047,612 11,047,612
Ordinary shares of AED 1 each 11,047,612 11,047,612
Treasury shares of AED 1 each 6,505 6,505

At the Annual General Meeting [AGM) held on 28 February 2023, the shareholders of the Bank approved a cash dividend of AED 0.52 per
ordinary share amounting to AED 5,745 millien (31 December 2021: cash dividend of AED 0.49 per ordinary share amounting to AED
5,351 million and a scrip dividend of AED 0.2 per ardinary share amaunting to AED 2,293 million),

Statutory and special reserves

In accordance with the Bank's Articles of Association and as required by Article 241 of UAE Federal Decree Law No. (32) of 2021, a
rinimum of 105 of the annual net profit should be transferred to both statutory and special reserve until each of these reservies equal
to 50% of the paid-up share capital. The statutory and special reserve are not available for distribution to the shareholders. Mo transfers
were made during the year because statutory and special reserve are egual to 50% of the paid-up share capital.

Dividends

The following dividends were paid by the Group during the year ended 31 December:

31 Dec 2023 31 D 2022
AED'DOO AEDOD0

Dividend @n ordinary shares pakd during the year 5,720,357 5327631

Other reserves

Other reserves include the Tollowing:

Fair vaduse General
reserve | Y 5 ific £ " Tatal
i Ci) iy £ igei AEDOOD
Asat 1 January 2033 (2,270, 259) 2,160,257 [835,.463)
Other comprehessive income [ {ioss) fee the yeas 1,064 549 : {748,837} k e 318 717
IFRS 9 reseroe mavement - . - - 708,087 708,087
Rea'sed foss o sale of PVOC! investment 20,361 - - - - 10,361
As at 31 Decernber 2023 (1,185,349} 228,265 (2,924,527} 1,221,969 2868344 208,702
Foreign
CUrrenoy IFES 2 IFRS 9
Fair wal e General transhation PR — L —
FeREnE fEsErE FERETYE sl oot v Total
AEDDOD AEDTO0 AEDDOD AED'DO0 AED D00 AEDTD0D
Asat 1 January 2022 1,366,215 238265 {535,023) 1.221.9649 1,287,759 1,559,185
Dther comprehensie loss bos the yeal {3,623 9480) 11,640,672) (5. 264 6121
IFRS 9 rissioge mavemenl 5734498
Reatsed gainon sale of AYOC! Investment [12.534)
Asat 31 December 2022 42,370, 259) 228 65 42 175,695) 1,221,964 2 160,257 {835 4E3)
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26 Capital and reserves [continued)

(i} Fair value reserve

The fair value reserve comprises:

- thie cumulative net change in the fair value of equity securities measured at FYOCH;

®  the cumulative net change in the fair value of debt securities measured at FYOC until the assets are derecognised or reclassified. This
amount is increased by the amount of lass allowance; and

o cash flow hedge reserves,

Hedping re

cash Flow
hedge ]
AEL DO AED 000
As at 1 January 2023 {1,511,573) {758,686] (2,270,259
Met unrealised fair value changes 447 674 455 461 903,135
Realised loss on sale of PYOC! instruments recycled through profit or loss 127,765 - 127,765
Realised loss an sale of FYOC! instruments recycled thraugh equity 20,361 - 20,361
Impact of ECL 33,649 - 33,649
As at 31 December 2023 |882,124) {303,225] (1,185,345)
Asat 1 January 2022 1,474,560 {108,345} 1,366,215
Net unrealised fair value changes [2,927,853) (650,341} (3,575,194
Realised gain on s ke of PYOC! mstruments recycled through profit or loss (43,280} [43,280)
Realised galn on <ale of FVOC! nstruments recyded threugh egquity [12,534) - [12,534)
Impact of ECL | 2,465) - [2,465])
As at 31 December 2022 [1,511,573) (758,636}  (2,270,259)

The hedging reserve comprises the effective portion of the curmulative net change in the fairvalue of cash flow hedging instruments related
to hedged transactions. During the year, there has been no signficant transfer from cash flow hedge reserve to profit or loss.
{ii) General reserve

The general reserde is available for distribution to the sharehalders at the recommendation of the Board of Directors.

{iii) Foreign currency translation reserve

Fareign currency translation reserve represents the exchange differences arising from translation of the net investment in foreign
operatons. During the year, there has been no significant transfers from forelgn currency translation reserve to profit or loss.

{iv) IFRS 9 reserve

In accordance with CBUAE circular 282010 of CBUAE, during any period if provision under CBUAE guidance exceed provision calculated
under IFRS 9, such excess ks required to be apportioned from retained earnings to IFRS 9 reserve and this reserve shall not be adjusted for
future excess provision. The details of the same as below:

31 Dec 2023 31 Dec 2022
AEDDD0 AEDGDO

Impairment reserve - Specific as at the year end

Specific provisions under Circular 282010 of CBUAE 10,657,551 9 683,615
Liess: Stage 3 provisions under IFRS 9 {10,450,131) [10,259,264)
Resenie requirement 207,420 [615,649)
Resarve balance carried forward from prior year 1,221,969 1,221,969
Specific provision transferred to the impalrment reserve - -
Reserve closing balance 1,221,969 1,221,959

Impairment reserve - Collective as at the year end

Callective provisions under Circular 28/2010 of CBUAE 7,697,206 7440529
Less: Stage 1 and Stage 2 provisions under IFR5 9 {4,824,862) [5,322,815)
Reservi requirement 2 868,344 2117714
Resarve balance carried forward from prior year 2,160,257 1,287,759
Callective provision transferred to the impairment reserve TOB 0RT £72.498
Reserve closing balance 2,868,344 2,160,257
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27 Tier 1 capital notes

e 31 Dec 2023 31 Dec 2022
ey AEDO00 AED'DO0

Gewvernment of Abu Dhabi Notes AED 8,000,000 8,000,000
(&6 month EIBOR plus 2.3 percent per annum)
usD 750 million Nates uso 2,754,750 2,754.750

[4.50 percent fixed rate per annum, thereafter reset on the first
date and every sixth anniversary thereafter on the basis of the
agpregate of the margin and the relevant sik-year reset on
the relevant U.5. Securities determination date)
Total Tier 1 capital notes 10,754,750 10,754,750

Tier 1 capital notes are perpetual, subordinated, unsecured and carry coupons to be paid semi-annually in arrears. The Bank may eheet
not to pay a coupon at its own discretion, The note holder does not have a right to claim the coupon and an election by the Bank not to
Liefvice coupan i ot considered an event of default. |n addition, there afe certain clfeumatances under which the Bank i prohibited from
making a Coupon payment on a relevant coupon payment date,

If the Bank makes a non-payment election or a non-payment event occurs, then the Bank will not (a) declare or pay any distribution or
dividend or (b} redeem, purchase, cancel, reduce or stherwise acquire any of the share capital or any securities of the Group ranking pari
passu with or junior to the notes except securities, the term of which stipulate a mandatory redemption or conversion into equity, in each
case unless or until two consecutive coupan payments have been pabd in full,

During the year, Tier 1 notes coupon payment election was made by the Bank in the amount of AED 652,82 thousand
[31 December 2022: AED 376,465 thousand).

28 Share based payment

The Groug had introduced in 2008 a share based payment scheme (the “Scheme”} for selected employees which would west over three
years and can be exercised within the next three years after the vesting perlod. The key vesting condition is that the option halder Is in
continued employment with the Group until the end of the vesting period. The options lipse sic years afver their date of grant rrespective
of whather they are exercised or not.

The Group established a subsidiary to issue shares when the vestad option i exercised by the employee, These shares are treated as
treasury shares until exercised by the option holders,

During the year, no shares (31 December 2022: nil) had been awarded, therefore reallocated from treasury shares held to share capital
by nil (31 December 2022: nil) and share premium has béan adjusted by nil (31 Decamber 2022: nil) accordingly relating to this

29 Interest income

31 Dec 2023 31 Dwec 2022
AED'DOO AED'OOD

Interest from;
Central banks 14,348,293 4,673,100
Banks and financial institwtions 8,525,037 1,501,489
Rewverse repurchase agreemeants 3,395,298 1,203,085
Non trading investmént Securities 65,060,625 4,683, 183
Leans and advances [excluding Islamic financing) 27,383,066 16,080,935
Total interest income 59,712,319 28,140,801

30 Interest expense

31 Dec 2023 31 Dec 2022
AED'DO0 AED'OOD

Irterest to:
Banks and financial institutions 2,097,112
Repurchase agreemants BLO0870
Cammercial paper 436,672
Customer accounts and ather deposits [excluding Ishamic customers’ deposits) 10376617
Term borrowings 1,3E8,984
Subordinated notes 19,705
Total Interest expense 15,168,960
59 | 112
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31 Income from Islamic financing and investing products

31 Dec 2023 31 Dec 2022
AED"DDD AED'ODO

Murabaha 1,672,036 960,832
ljara 765837 517,629
Sukuk investments 446,516 472,183
Others 26,008 12,750
Total income from Islamic financing and investing products 2,910,397 1,963,434

32 Distribution on Islamic customers’ deposits

31 Dec 2023 31 Dec 2022
Wakala deposits 175,545 135,654
hMudaraba saving and term deposits 175,015 9871
Isdamic sukuk notes 901,580 464,298
Othirs 64,673 17,337
Total distribution on lslamic customers” deposits 1,316,812 717,047

The Group maintains an investment risk reserve of AED 21,681 thousand (2022: AED 12,205 thousand) which represents a portion of the
depositors’ share of profits set aside as a reserve.

33 Net fee and commission income

31 Dec 2023 31 Dec 2022
AED D00 BEDODD
Fee and commission incomae:
Trade finance 891,863 836909
Callection services 47,081 26,315
Brokerage income 121,065 119,359
Asset managemant and investment sarvices 104,117 74,282
Consumer and corporate lending 1,757,957 1,847,026
Cards and e-services TE0,837 671,052
Accounts related services 81,685 69,354
Commission on transfers 168,307 124 848
Othirs 345,972 201 684
Total fee and commission Income 4,282,884 3,975,868
Fee and commission expense:
Trade finance 13,300 12,774
Brokerage commission 55919 64,134
Credit card charges 693,078 665,710
Consumer and corporate lending 290,485 301,360
Othar commission 206,621 135,862
Others 15928 1,482
Total fee and cornmission expense 1,275,333 1,185,322
Met fee and commission income 3,007,551 2,780,547
34 Net foreign exchange gain
31 Dec 2023 3] Dec 2022
Trading and retranslation gain on
foreign exchange and related derivatives®< 1,346,184 703,922
Daalings with customiers 1555?}"1 1,072,754
Total net foreign exchange gain 2,596,955 1,776,676

i Due o effective hedging strategies, the affsetting impact of hedging instrurments |s reflected in the net gains from sale of non trading
investment securities [note 35).
‘Incledes negative interest income of [AED 549) thousand (2022: AED 90 million} arising from placement with ECB.
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35 Net gain on investments and derivatives

31 Dec 2023 31 Dec 2022
AED D00 AED"ODO

MNet realised and unrealised gain on investments at fair value
through profit or loss and derivatives 3,768,188 2,188,107
Net {loss)fgain fram sale of non trading investment Securities {127,765) 43,280
Dividend incame 101,753 6467
Total net galn on investments and derivatives 3742176 2,317,854

36 Other eperating income/(loss)

] 31 Dec 2022
A B AED"O00

Investment proparty income f[lass) 149,565 {3.26,852)
Gain on sale of property and equipment 502 4,335
Lisasing ralated income B other income/{lais) [125,918) 70,428
Total ather aperating income/(loss) 23,151 [252,089)

37 Gain on disposal of stake in subsidiary and fair value gain on retained interest

On 8 September 2023, FAB and Aldar properties signed an agreement for the sale of FAB"s whally ewned subsidiary, FAB Properties LLC.
As per the verms of the agreement. FAB PISC concluded the sale of 100% af its whally owned subsidiary, FAR Properties LLC, to Provi
Real Estate Management LLC and the share transfer has taken effect and been reflectad in the trade boense of FAB Properties LLC on
27 December 2023, Accordingly, FAB properties LLC has been deconsalidated from the conselidated financial statements of FAR PISC for
the year ended 31 Decermber 2023,

On 25 Fabruary 2022, the Group entered into a sale and purchase agreement [SPA) with BCP V Growth Aggregator LP [“Purchaser™)
whereby the Bank has agreed 1o sell its contralling stake of 605 of its wholly owned subsidiary, Magnati Sole Proprietorship LLC “Magnan”
to the Purchaser. The Bank has recorded a gain of AED 3.1 billion within the results for the year ended as of 31 Decembaer 2027 based on
this sale.

38 General, administration and other operating expenses

31 Dwec 2023 31 Dec 2022

AED'D00 AED'DOD

Staff costs 3,469,247 3,233,289
Depreciation (note 17) T42,691 B59, 338
Infarmation technalogy expenses 1,218,054 901,290
Professional fees a77 884 465, 198
Communication expenses 208,831 212,438
Amartisation of intangibles 237,605 202,955
Prismisis axpensas 195012 207 948
Publicity and advertisement 111,106 114,099
Sponsorships and donatkons 105,198 46,302
ther genaral and administration expensas 359,661 451,371
Total general, administration and other operating expanses 7,125,289 6,704,829

Auditor's remuneration

31 Dec 2023 31 Dec 2022

AED' D00 AED'OOD

Audit services 11,700 5 250
Audit related services 8,190 5,251
Mon-audit services 4,611 -
Total auditor's remuneration 24,501 11,501

Audit services

Audit services can bie definid a5 services rendenid by the Group's statutory suditor for the audit and review of the financlal statements
or services that are normally provided by the statutery auditar in connection with statutary and regulatery filings.
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38 General, administration and other operating expenses (continved)
Audit related services

Audit related services are services other than “audit services’ for which the auditor of the entity is an appropriate provider particulasly
where those services are required by a law or regulation relating to the jurisdiction and activities of the subject entity.

Mon-audit services

Mon-audit services are services which do not fall in the above two segments of sarvice and are also not part of prohibited services.

31 Dec 2023 31 Dec 2022
AED'DO0 AEDDOD

39 Net impairment charge

| mpairment :hargﬁ an

loans, advances and lslamie financing 3,039,376 2,734,892
other financial assets 35,783 32,733
unfunded exposure 241,452 128,918
other non-financial instruments 1,594 6,891
Recoveries {506,654) [¥7a, 2ET)
wite-off of impatred financlal assets 266,355 214,211
Total net Impalrment charge 3,077,906 2 839 358

40 Income tax expensa

In addition to adjustments relating to deferred taxation, the charge for the year is calculated based upon the adjusted net prafit for the
year at rates of tax applicable in respective overseas locations. The charge to the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year Is

as follows:
31 Dec 2023 31 Dec 2022
AED OO0 AED"ODD
Charge for the year 1,041,742 B67.621

Recanciliation of Group's tax on profit based on accounting and profit as per the tax laws is as follows:

31 Dec 2023 3l Dec 2022
AED"DDD AED'QDD

Profit before taxation 17,551,986 14,389,732
Effect of tax rates in overseas jurisdictions 570,451 521,529
Tax effects of:
- Current year deferred tax (50,662) 10,348
- income not subject to tax {3.457) [3,331)
- Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 72,176 13,812
- LHiBsation of previously unrecognised deferrad tax 2,142 2,587
- Prior year adjustments — Corporation tan 17,347 588
- Prios year adjustments — Defarred tax {1,665) 3,869
- Withholding tax deducted at source 431,400 391,308
- Mandatory remittance tax 4,000 12,000
Total income tax expense 1,041,742 967 621

41 Cash and cash equivalents

31 Dac 2023 A1 Duec 2022

AED'0O0 AED'DD0

Cash and balances with central banks 233,554,679 228,549,203
Due from banks and financial institutions 25,324,087 24,954,813
258,878,766 253,504,022

Less: Balances with central banks maturing after three months of placement {558,971) [1,721,036)
Less: Due from banks and financial instibutions maturing after three months of placement {335,265) 1395.977)
Less: Restricted deposits with Central Banks for regulatory purposes | 786,945) | 590,98E)
Total cash and cash equivalents 257,197,584 250,796,021
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42 Leases

The Group leases a number of branch and office premises. The leases typically run for a period of 10 years, with an option to renew the
lease after that date. For some leases, payments are renegotiated every five years to reflect market rentals. Some leases provide for
additional rent payments that are based on changes in local price indices,

The Group also leases IT equipment with contract terms of one to three years. These leases are short-term and/for leases of low-value
Items. The Graup has elected nat to recognise right-of-use assets and lease llabdliies for these leases,

Informatian about leases for which the Group is a lessee is presanted below:
Leases as lessee
Right-of-use assets

The mavement during the year of nght-of-use & as follows:

Right-of-use assets 31 Dec 2023 31 Dec 2012

AED 00D AED 000
Balance as at the beginning of year 197,174 219,685
Increase during the year {13,329} 11,432
Deptreciation and other adjustments (26,122} (13 343)
Balance as at the end of year 157,723 197,174

Lease liabilithes 31 Dec 2023 31 Dec 2022
AED "000 AED 000

Maturity analysks = contractual undiscounted cash flows

Less than one year 140,908 137 443
One to five years 175,672 231,645
Maore than five years 5,434 012
Total undiscounted lease Nabilities at the end of year 322,014 378,100
Amounts recognised in profit or loss 31 Dec 2023 31 Dec 2022

AED 000 AED 000
Interest on lrase liabilities 19,709
Depreciation charge for the year 81,925
Expenses relating to short-term leases and low-value assets 50 989
Total amounts recognized In profit or loss 152 623

43 Commitments and contingencies

The Graup, in the ordinary course of busingss, entars into various types of transactions that involve undertaking certain commitments
such as lettars of credit, guarantees and undrawn laan commitments.

There were no other significant changes in contingent liabilities and commitments during the year other than those arising out of normal
course of business.

31 Dec 2022

31 Dec 2023

AED'D00 AED D00

Letters of credit 48,150,582 54,459,311
Letters of guarantees 115,894,301 99,310,954
Financial guarantees 1,223,982 824,739
Trade contingencies 165,268,955 154,595,004
Undrawmn commitment to extend credit 77,843,453 77,335,909
Commitments for future capital expenditure 1,592,962 1,085,254
Commitments for future private eguity investments 1,806 896 1,567,471
81243311 73,998,634

Total commitments and contingencies 246,512,166 234,593,638

Credit risk characteristics of these unfunded facilities closely resemble the funded facilities as described in note 51(a).

Letters of credit and guarantee (“Trade contingencies™} commit the Group to make payments on behalf of customers’ contingent upon
the production of documeants or the failure of the customer to perform under the terms of the contract.
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43 Commitments and contingencies [continued)
Commitments to extend credit represent contractual commitments to extend bans, advances and Islamic financing and revolving credits.
Cammitments generally have fixed expiration dates or ather termination clauses and may require a payment of a fee. Since commitments

may expire without being drawn upon, the total contracted amounts do not necessarily represent future cash reguirements.

Financial guarantes contracts mainly pertain to the banks and financial institutions.

Undrawn loan commitments
31 Dec 2023 31 Dec 2022

Trade contingencles
31 Dec 2023 31 Dec 2022

Concentration by location

AED000 AEDO00 AED'D00 AED'DOD
LIAE 46,492,636 48,941,650 | 114,215,073 106,056,562
Eurape 11,763,470 11,244,710 15,037,977 16,157,918
#Arab countries 7,465,304 9,269,282 13,919,184 12,848,528
Americas 3,545,828 4,013,900 10,232,941 9,266,851
Asia 4,038,955 3,866,867 11,527,303 10,030,410
Others 4,537,260 ! 335,477 132,815
Total concentration 77,843,453 77,335,909 | 165,268,956 154,505,004

Cancentration by location is based an the residentlal status of the customers.

44 Derivative financial instruments

I the ardinary course of business the Group enters into varous types of transactions that involve deriwative financial Instruments.
Derivatives are financial instruments that derive their value from the price of underlying items such as equities, bonds, interest rates,
foreign exchange, credit spreads, commodities and equity or other indices. Derivatives enable users to increase, reduce or alter exposure
ta credit or market risks, Derivative financial instruments include forwards, futures, swaps and aptions, These transactions are primarily
entered with banks and financial institutions.

Forwards and futures

Currency forwards represent commitments to purchase foreign and/or domestic currencles, including non-deliverable spot transactions
[ie. the transaction i net settled), Forward rate agreements are individually negotiated interest rate futures that call for a cash settlement
at a future date for the difference between a contracted rate of interest and the current market rate, based on a notional principal
amount. Farelgn currency and interest rate futures are contractwal obligations to receise or pay a4 net amount based on changes in
CUTTENCY FALES OF Interest raes, or to buy or sell foreign currency or a financial instrument on a future date at a specified price, established
in an ocrganised financial market. The credit risk for futures contracts is negligible, as thay are collateralised by cash or marketable
securities, and changes in the futures’ contract value are settled daily with the exchange.

Swaps

Currency and interest rate swaps are commitments to exchange one set of cash flows for another. Swaps result in an economic exchange
of cashflows arising out of currencies or interest rates (for example, fived rate for floating rate) or a combination of all these (Le., cross-
currency interest rate swaps), No exchange of principal takes place, except for certain cross currency swaps. The Group's credit risk
represents the potential loss if counterparties fail to fulfil their obligation, This risk is monitared on an angeing basis with reference to the
current fair value, notional amaunt of the contracts and the liquidity of the market. To control the level of credit risk taken, the Group
assesses counterparties using the same techniques as for its lending activities,

Options

Options are contractual agreements under which the seller [writer) grants the purchaser [holder) the right, but not the obligation, either
to buy (a call option) or sell [a put option) at or by a set date or during a set period, a specific amount of a financial instrument at a
predatermined price, The seller receives 2 premium from the purchaser in consideration for the assumption of risk, Options may be either
exchange-traded or nepotiated betweaen the Group and a customer over the counter (OTC),

Derivatives are measured at fair value by reference to published price guotations in an acthve market. Where there |5 no active market
for an instrument, fair value is derived from prices for the derivative’s components using appropriate pricing or valuation models like
counterparty prices or valuation technigues such as discounted cash flows, market prices, yield curves and other reference market data.

Ther table below shaws the positive and negative fair values of derivative financial instruments, which are equivalent to their fair values,
together with the notional amounts analysed by the term to maturity. The notional amount is the amount of a derivative's underlying,
reference rate or index and s the basis upon which changes in the value of derivatives are measured. The notional amounts indkcate the
valume of transactions outstanding at year end and are neither indicative of the market risk nor credit risk.

64 | 112

246/318



EDINETOOOO

OoooDoO0oooooooo0ooo00o00DoO00DDO000bDo00DO00bDO000o0O00DbOO00D0o00no(e25742)

oOoOooodn

TIT | 59
BTV L0S'6TS GILELTTLE G0L'BTE GRS Q9L TEE'ESS SHS 615 EBS TSE'T08' T Fo0'700'1S 9890 o [EI3L
00000 T OVE"99E'F 066 'BLI'0T 00SZET'6 9TE'SEL'F 9%9'ELS BE GEPESS IFa'S9E
= - : - 9TE'SET'F SZE'SET'Y GFYET vE PRI
saaeasap alueyaxa uliasey
000001 OVE"ISEF 066'BLS0T 005'ZET'E DEE'BIEFE 050°7ES B09'S9E S
SANIEALI DR AR J5a0a3|
salpay moy ysed se play
TOL'090'YS or9°L99F9 LBE'FISBS QEQ'BIEITT QEETIBY'TS LLT'TOR'SLE OB9'860'0T TLE'E06'S
TO9L'090'ts 9p9° 99D LBRYIS'ES 9EQ"BIR It OEE'T20'TS LITTOE'SLE 089'860'01 ITE'E06'S sdems
SAAJEARISP BB JEalaEqu|
Eﬂ#wz DAEA JIE) SE oy
951LYE 59t EBT'GLOEDE TTL'PTTOTS PIT TR TOF EEG'TFILTS BIELW'BOT'E SER'LYE O TELIsT'or
STFRLT'T BEO"BEE'GT OBL'SLE'FE PIS'ORLTT LEB'DG0'ST rIa'sIe'se GEL'GIE'T TOT'956'T FPEIU0T SANIEABE 134D
- 9O9L"SEE SETGET'T LET'S99"S BES"EOF'L 9LTE09PT STE'ES BLS'EL suopdn
SBSLT 006996 LE0'R5E'LT OELBET'LTT YEGBOPEST QET'BFSDON FOTTES'E SPE'SER'T SPABRMID
saAessap aueyixe uliaiog
EEQ'QLE'S EGF'DGE'ST FIL'SES'ET PER'BST'LE GOEBOOT E66'T9GEE LLVLOS QLE'LRE sucjdems 5§ suoidg
. = E LIB'SEEY TSP ETE T BEE'OTE'ST PIIPL L660F FRINYNS 7R SPIRMID
ETTTBT LS% QRS'EF0ISE QE0'HSS TER TIR9TI0'STE POL LTS LTT 198" 129091 9ER'09L'YE TEB'LO6'VE sdEms
SIMIEALI B 1B ISSAEIU|

000,03V 000.03% 000,03

siEak aAL
AN

sieah 2y
o3 Jeak

SR WE0ES DUD LD

TR I MY TR

)av4

TP it g

000,Q3v

JEBA U0
(=2 B LE
SR o

= Rpingeu o wuay Ag Sjunowe [Euojion

000,03

LTI
EerLEH]
uEY] 55

000,03

JUnOLIE
|EUQLIoN

000,03V
anjea
FEETTETT
aneday

‘Buipesy 10 play
000,03V

anjea
R
s

ETOT Hquiaoag T

(panuijuod) SJUBWINIISU] [EIJUBULL BAIEANRO th

£707 J90WaIB0 TE papua Jeak 3u1 Jo4
SIUILIAIRIS [BIZUBUL PIIEPI[OSUOD 3Y] O] SI10N

247/318



EDINETOOOO

OoooDoO0oooooooo0ooo00o00DoO00DDO000bDo00DO00bDO000o0O00DbOO00D0o00no(e25742)

oOoOooodn

F449 R -]
0L9°06E Tl SO T0T LEE TSIV Eas QLB Z0E' QLY SOT'VPER09% VPTLE STV T OPSREDTS ErE'ELE RS L0
0BER'STEE 056055 059958 = BRC'0BI'E BT TT BESVTL 58’19
- . - BLE'0BT'E g5r'062'E 1658 958"y SPIRMIOS
SaAIEASD FURYIXS udjanod
0BB'SIEE 056055 059°058'E * OEVETE'S LBE'S0L I00'6T e
SRAEALIDD RS 15230
s3dpay Moy ysea se pRY
095 6 BO5'TOE Ve 9L VB5 55 FOE'EST9ET 65 EEF 95T BEP'99E 09 £BSSRLE Er5 6L
109 E9L 6L BOS'TOZ'VS 004 eSS FOE'EDT OET B EENSST BEr'0SE'DaY LBSSHLE [Ty sdemg
ﬂﬂ__._bm.___tmﬂ I ¥53I03U|
salipay anjea Jiej Se play
GLTTTIT'BEL GRT'EVV'TLT SER0ES' 105 Q05 GET'VEE GRAOTS IOk LEETOE'ESE'T COE" G5 TS Tk Tal'Ts
OFTREL'T EL99'ET ETTEIBSE TES'0ELTE QLz5ek's £96'65T 89 TRES0TT TES'I60'T FPIBIJUOD SBANEAIBP JBYIG
= * GEE'0TOT 1IT'Ere"9t TELVSS'0T I66'L05'6E SppERT L9 0TT Fuodn
= GET'L60'S BTESET'ET Ti5" k268 EETELLITE SRT0STLTE BEL 1OE" EST'ST6'E SPIRMIO
SRAEALGP BdUBYIXE Udiai04
ST I9R'ET EpT9srsl TLOBTEBE TR0 P ErE"STE STB'LLE'BL GIT'BED BEQ' TSP suofidems, 5 suown
. . BRE'LBT'S BIE'EkL 0T OSE'0EE'ET LT9ba0'el BETIT 9TE b SRININ 5 SPIRMIOS
ETESEE' LT LTIT'6va'elE vLT'ES0MTY Ok SO BT POA OO EET LIL08V'I6E'T  SIR'BLO'SE SLE ST b sdems
SAEALIap 3R T5alaU|
“Hu|pEn 10y PlAY
000,03V 000,03 000.03v 000,037 000,037 000,037 000.03v 000,03
sioah aAY SHEDA B siEah aail) Jead aug SO o an|ea anjea
1D oy siEah o1 Jeak [ R=ThITETIT aauyy USRON FEETEI 1EYIELL
Faiyl oy BUD Wty Ay oy WEYY 58 anneday AR I504
Aapingew o3 wiag Ag SIUNGWE |EUORON TTOT Jaqueadad T
[panuuos) SIUSWNIISU| [BIJUBULY BANEALIB] b
TR P £Z0T JaqWasa0] TE papua Jeak 3y Jo4

)ava

g

SIUIWIDILES [BIDUEUY PIIEPIDSUCD JY) O} SII0N

248/318



EDINETOOOO
OoooDoO0oooooooo0ooo00o00DoO00DDO000bDo00DO00bDO000o0O00DbOO00D0o00no(e25742)
oOoOooodn

el g ded i
Motes to the consolidated financial statements FAB(

For the year ended 31 December 2023 TR P

44 Derivative financial instruments (continued)

Thie positive [ negativie fair value in respect of derivatives represents the gain/loss respactivaly, arising on fair valuation of the tradmg and
hedging instrumant, These amounts are not indicative of any current or future kisses, as a similar positive [ negative amount has been
adjusted to the carrying value of the hedged loans, advances and Islamic financing, non trading investment securities, term borrowings and
subordinated notes,

As at 31 December 2023, the Group recelved cash collateral of AED 13, 844 million (31 December 2022: AED 18,368 milllon) against pasitive

falr value of dervative assets frem certain counterpartios. Correspondingly, the Group placed cazh collateral of AED 16,193 milkan
(31 December 202.2: AED 16,289 million) against the negative fair value of derivative liabilities.

Derivatives held for trading purposes

The Group uses derivatives, not designated in a qualifying hedge relationship, to manage its exposure to foregn currency, interest rate
and credit risks or initiates positions with the expectation of profiting from favourable mowement in prices, rates or indices. The
instruments used mainly include interest rate and currency swaps and forward contracts. The fair values of those derivatives are shown in
thae tabile above.

Derivatives held for hedging purposes

Derbvatives held as falr value hedge

The Group uses derivative financial instruments for economic hedging purposes as part of its asset and Bability management strategy by
taking offsetting positions in order to reduce s own exposure to fluctuations in exchange and Interest rates. The Group uses interest rate
swaps to hedge against the changes in fair value arising fram specifically identified interest bearing assets such as loans, advances and
Islamic financing, non trading investment securities, term borrowings and suberdinate notes. The Group wses forward foreign exchange
contracts and currency swaps to hedge against specifically identified currency risks,

Derivatives held as cash flow hedge

The Group uses ferward contracts to hedge the foreign currency risk arising from its financial instruments. The Group has substantially
matched the critical terms of the derivatives to have an effective hadge relationship.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 TR P

45 Segmental information

The operating structure consists of four key Business segments across Geographic segments that are driving the business strategy,
custamed value propositions, products and channel develspment and custarmer relationships in addition ta supporting thi delvery af the
Group’s finandial performance.

Operating segments are identified on the basis of internal reports about the components of the Group that are regularly reviewed by the
Group's CEOD (the Group's chief aperating decision maker) in arder to allocate resources to the segment and to assess its performance,
Information reported to the Group's CEQ for the purpose of resource allacation and assessment of performance is based on following
strategic business units offering products and services to different markets,

Business segments
Investrnent Banking ["18")

IB offers banking and financing solutions, including corporate & Islamic finance, capital markets, transaction banking, trade, liquidity and
cash managerment services along with a broad range of risk management solutions across credit, rates, FX and money market products,
Focused on Institutional clients, 1B team enhances product delivery and specialization across various custamer sectors which inchudes
Gowvernment, Sovereign & Public Sactor, Sovereign Wealth Fund B Financial Spensors, Matural Resources, Global Diversified Industrials,
Financial Institutions Group & Global Subsidiaries.

Corporate & Commarcial {"CCE™)

CCB focuses on large corporates, medium and small entities with dversfied products offering across sub segments which Includes
Corporate Banking, Contracting, Commercial Banking and Privileged Client Group.,

Consumer Banking {“CB")

The business targets consumer & elite segment across conventional and Islamic sector. The products’ ranges offered include everyday
banking products such a5 curnent accounts, deposits, credit cards, loans, wealth products ete. The business furnishes variety of distribution
and sales channels, including mobile and internet banking, branches, direct sales agents and through its banking subsidiaries namely and
First Abu Dhabi Islamic Finance.

Global Private Banking ["GPR")

The business targets affluent and high net-worth customers across canventianal and Islamic sector, The products’ ranges offered include
everyday banking products plus sophisticated investment solutions, biokerage and secufities tervices. The business furnishes variety of
distribution and sales channefs, including mobile and internet banking. branches, relationship managers and through its banking
subsidiaries including mainly FAB Securities.

Head office

The Group provides centralized human resowrces, information technology, operations, finamce, strategy, investor relations, risk
management, cradit management, corporate communications, legal & compliance, internal audit, procurement, treasury operations and
administrative support to all of its business units.

Az part of the Group's diversified business model, HO also includes certain subsidiaries partially or fully owned by the Group, providing
banking services and other complementary offerings across real estate and property management services. These include First Gulf Libya,
Mismak, FAB Properties, Abu Dhabl National Propertes and certain other portfolies. FAB Misr has been incleded in HO, on an interim
basis, whilst product and business segmantation are aligned to the Group norms,

Geographic segments

The Group is managing its various business segments through a network of branches, subsidiaries and represantative offices within the
two defined grographic segments which are UAE and International.
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Motes to the consolidated financial statements FAB(

For the year ended 31 December 2023 fr
46 Earnings per share

Earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net prafig for the vear after deduction of Tier 1 capital notes payment by the weighted
average number of ardinary shates in ssee during the vear a5 et out below;
31 Dec 2022

Basic earnings per share:

Met profit for the year (AED'DD0) 16,405,493 13,111,198
Less: payment on Tier 1 capital notes [AED'000) (652,824) 376,455}
Het profit after payment of Tier 1 capital notes (AED'000) 15,752, 13,034,733

Welghted average number of ardinary shares:
HMumber of shares issued / deemed to be outstanding

from the beginning of the year [ 0048} 11,041,107 10,913,570
effect due to Scrip Dividend issued during the year ('000) - 127,537
Weighted average number of ardinary shares ['000) 11,041,107 11,041,107
Baslic earnings per share (AED) 1.43 1.18
Diluted earnings per share:
Het profit for the year for calculating diluted earnings per share (AEDYO00) 15,752,669 13,034,733

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in [ssue for
diluted earnings per shara ('000) 11,041,107 11,041,107

Diluted earnings per share (AED) 1.43 1.18

47 Related parties

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise significant influence over the other
party in making financial or operational decisions, Related parties comprise majos shareholder, directors and key management personnal
of the Group. Key management persannel comprise those executive committes members "EXCO" of the Group who are involved in the
strategie planning and decision making of the Group. The terms of these transactions are approved by the Group®s management and are
made on terms agreed by the Board of Directors or management.

The Group operates in a market dominated by entities directly or indirectly controlled by the Government of Abu Dhabi through its
povernment authorities, agencies, affiliations and other organizations, collectively referred to as government-related entities. The Group
has transactions with other government-related antities and these transactions are conducted in the ordinary course of its business an
werms agreed by the Board.

Balances and transactions with related parties at the reparting date are shown below:

Details of Board of Directors [“"BOD™) remuneration and key management personnel remuneration is as follows:

31 Dwerc 2022

AED GO0

BOD remuneration paid during the year 45,000
Long term benefis 46,624
Short term benefits 2,752

The balances with related parties are allocated to stage 1 of the ECL madel, As at 31 December 2023, the ECL allowance held against
related party balances amounted to AED 34 millien (31 December 2022: AED 45 million),
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47 Related parties {continued)

Balances and transactions with related parties at the reporting date are shown below:

Board of Major Senlor

directors shareholders Management Associates Total
AED'000 AED'DOO AED' 000 AED 000 AED'DOO

Az of 31 December 2023

Financial assets
Investrments at fair value through profit or loss - 60,830 - - 60,830
Reverse purchase agresments - 538,691 - - 538,691
Derivative financial instruments - 51,636 - - 51,636
Loans, advances and Islamic financing 1,845,809 30,982 683 106,486 261,978 34,796,956
Nan trading investment securities - 3,787 601 - - 3,787,601
Other assets 37,183 567,698 3,002 510 558,353
Financial llabllitles
Derivative financial instruments - 223,708 - - 223,708
Customer accounts and other depasits 13,038,346 8,645,230 47,052 824,731 12,559,359
Other liabilities 194,465 43,569 298 5 238,337
Cantingent [iabilities
Derivatives - 8,287,164 - - 8,287,164
Letter of credits - 351,934 - - 351,934
Letter of guarantees 28,735 1,072,893 - 184 1,101,812
For the year ended 31 December 2023
Interest income 153,399 1,715,430 2,696 41,926 1,913.451
Interest expanse 257,181 635,481 851 95,716 950,239
Fee and commission income 2,649 60,946 2 16,227 79,844
Finir and commission expense . . - 131,769 131,769
Met gain on investments and derivatives - 90,523 - 34,854 125377
As of 31 December 2022
Financial assets
Investrents at fair value through prafit or loss - 828,543 - - 88,543
Dué fram banks and financial institutions 4,583 . . 4,583
Reverse purchase agreements - 202,631 - - 202,631
Derivative financial instruments. - 34,295 - - 34, 2495
Leans, advances and Islamic financing 11,410,041 30,634,946 61,558 970,081 43,076,626
Man trading investment securities - 4,547,584 - - 4,547,584
Other assets 142,926 491,479 97E 208 635 6589
Financial liabilities
Derivative financial instruments. - 257,781 - - 157,781
Customer accounts and other depasits 13,792 656 36,015 4974 25 205 4179382 50,251 817
Orther liabilities 134,867 207,979 BD : 342,926
Contingent lakilities
Derivatives - 6,306,699 - - &, 306,699
Letter of credits 556 1,819 641 . . 1,820,197
Letter of gpuarantees 328,169 571,761 - 184 900,114
Far the year ended 31 December 2022
Interest income J87,169 B78,773 1,638 12,807 1,278,387
Intenest expenss 199,718 330,321 412 5,760 536,211
Fee and commission income 37.802 86,515 31 1,281 125,629
Fee and commission expense - - - 54,817 94,817
Net gain an investments and derivatives - [290,294) . 12,497 [357.797]
72112
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48 Fiduciary activities

The Group held assets under management in trust or in a fiduclary capacity for its customers at 31 December 2023 amounting to
AED 14,285 million {31 December 2022: AED 12,413 milkon). Furthermore, the Group provides custodian services for some of its
Customers.

The underlying assets heldd in a custodial or fiduciary capacity are excluded from these consolidated financial statements of the Group.

49 Special Purpose Entity

The Group has created a Special Purpose Entity [SPE) with defined objectives to carry on fund management and investment activities on
behalfl of customars, The equity and investments managed by the SPE are not controlled by the Group and the Growp does not obtain
benefits from the SPE operations, apart from commissions and fee income. In addition, the Group does not provide any guarantees or
assurne any liabilities of these entities. Consegquently, the SPE assets, Habilities and results of operations are not included in these
consolidated financial stabements of the Group. The SPE is as follows:

Country of Holding Holding
Legal name Activities incorporation 2023 2022
One share PLC Investment Company Republic of Ireland 1005 1005
FAB Invest SPY RSC Limived Investrment Comparny UAE 10054 -
19684 SPV RSC Limited Investiment Company UAE 10 -
19688 5PY RSC Limited Invstrment Company UAE 10054 .

&0 Fair value measurement

{a) Valuation framework

The Graup has an establihed control framework for the measurement of fair values, Several control functions support this framework
{Valuation Control within Finance and Market Risk Analytics within Risk functions) that are independent of Front Office. Significant
valuation lsues are reported to the Group Valuation Committes operating under the Board Risk and ESG Committea.

Specific contrals includa:

* |ndependent verification of market data used in the valuation process and valuation adjustments when significant deviations are
observed;

*  Review of significant unobservable and stale inputs and significant changes to the fair value measurement of Level 3 instrumenits;

= Validation and approval process for new models and frequent review of existing models ar when changes are perfarmed;

# Profit and loss variance analysis process for changes in falr value.

When third party information, such as broker guotes or pricing services is used to measure fair value, Valuation Controd assesses and
documents the evidence abtained from the third parties to support the conclusion that the valuations meet the requirements of IFRS
Standards. This includes:

* Vaerifying that the broker or pricing service is approved by the Group for use in pricing the relevant type of finandial instrument;

* Understanding how the fair value has been arrived at, the extent to which it represents actual market transactions and whether it
reprasants a quoted price in an active market for an idantical instrument;

* When prices for similar instruments are used to measure fair value, understanding how these prices have been adjusted to reflect the
characteristics of the instrument subject to measurement; and

® |f a number of gquates for the same financial instrument have been obtained, then understanding how fair value has been determined
using those quotes.

Signiimnl: valuation issues are reported to the Group Valuation and Audit Committees,

(b} Fair value adjustments

Exit risk adjustments:

These reflect the bid-offer costs that would be incurred if substantially all residual net portfalio market risks were closed using available
hedging nstruments of by disposing of ar unwinding the position. Bid-offer levels are generally derived from market guotes such as
broker data. Less liguid instruments may not have a directly observable bid-offer level. In such instances, an exit price adjustment may

be derived from an observable bid-offer level for a comparable liquid instrument, or determined by calibrating to derivative prices, or by
scanario of historical analysis,
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50 Fair value measurement [continued)

Fair value adjustments {continued]
Credit risk adjustments

The credit valuation adjustiment "CVA') is an adjustment to the valuation of over the counter ['OTC') derivative contracts to reflect the
possibility that the counterparty may default and that the Group may not receive the full market value of the transactions, The debt
valuation adjustment ['DVA'] Is an adjustment to the valuation of OTC derbvative contracts to reflact the passibility that the Group may
default, and that it may not pay the full market value af the transactions,

These adjustments are calculated for both uncollateralised and collateralised derivatives across all asset classes. CVA and DVA are
cabtulated wsing estimates of expected posithve and negative exposures respectively, probability of default and recovery rates, at a
counterparty level, Counterparties include (but are not limited to) financial institutions, corporates, soversigns and sovereign agencies
and supranationals. Expected exposure s generally estimated through the simulation of underlying risk factors through Monte Carlo
simulation technigques.

Probability of default and recovery rate infarmation is generally sourced from the CDS markets. Where this information is not available,
or considered unreliable, alternative approaches are taken based on mapping the counterparty to a sector curve based on the rating the
region and the industry sector,

At the year end, CVA and DVA adjustments aggregated to AED nil (31 Decernber 202.2: AED & million ).
Model related adjustments

These applied when either model inputs are overly simplified, the model has limitatons deriving the fair value of a position or there is no
market wide consensus on the chalce of a model. These adjustments are required to correct existing model weaknesses or deficiencies
that were highlighted during the model validation process.

Bid-offer

The Bank's pricing models initially calculate mid-market prices, which are subsequently adjusted to reflect bid-offer spreads [the
difference between prices quoted for sales and purchases).

Model uncertalnty

The models applied by the Bank may not always capture all characteristics of the market at a point in time as they cannot be recalibrated
at the Lafis pace a3 niew market conditions. Such interim adjustments are reflected in the model uncertainty adjuitments until the base
medels are updated.

(c) Valuation models

The Group measures fair values using the fallowing fair value hierarchy, which reflects the significance of the inputs used in making the
measune ments

Level 1: Inputs that are quoted market prices (unadjusted) in actve markets for identical instruments.

Level 2: Inputs other than guoted prices Included wighin Level 1 that are observable either directly (Le. as prices) or indirectly (I.e. derived
from prices). This category includes instruments valued using quoted market prices in active markets for similar instruments; guoted
prices for identical or similar instruments in markets that are considered less than active; or other valuation technigues in which all
significant inputs are directly or indirectly abservable fram market data,

Level 3: Inputs that are unobservable. This category incledes all Instruments for which the valuation technigue includes inputs that are
nat abservable, and the unobservable inputs have a significant effect on the instrument®s valuation. This category includes instruments
that are valved based on guoted prices for similar instruments for which significant unobservable adjustments or assumptions are
required to reflect differences between the instruments,

Model inputs and parameters are based on and calibrated to market observable prices, including broker quotes, current o recent
transaction prices and market consensus, where available. In absence of market observable prices, empirical data and/or judgement may

be required in model cakbration process, which ks inherently subjective and can yield range of possible inputs and estimates of fair value,
Management uses prudent judgement to select the most appropriate point in the ranga,
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50 Fair value measurement [continued)

(d} Valuation technigues

Valuation technigues include net present value and discounted cash flow models, comparison with similar instruments for which
observable market prices exist, Black-Scholes and polynomial option pricing modeks and other valuation models, Assumptions and inputs
usad in valuation technigues include risk-free and benchmark interest rates, credit spreads and other premiums used In estimating
discount rates, bond and equity prices, foreign currency exchange rates, equity and equity index prices and expected price violatilities and
correlations,

The objective of valuation techniques is to arrive at a falr value measurement that reflects the price that would be recetved to sell the
asset or paid to transfer the liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.

The Group uses widely recognised valuation models to determine the fair value of common and simple financial instruments, such as
interest rate and currency swaps, that use only obsarvable market data and require little management judgement and estimation.
Observable prices or model Inputs are usually available in the market for listed debt and equity securities, exchange-traded derivatives,
and simple OTC dervatives such as interest rate swaps, The avaﬂahiiiwaf observable market prices and model inputs reduces the need
for management judpement and estimation and reduces the uncertainty associated with determining fair values. The availability of
observable market prices and inputs varies depending on the products and markets and |s prone to changes based on specific events and
general conditions in the financial markets.

For more complex instruments, the Group uses proprietary valuation modek, which are usually developed from recognised valuation
models. Some or all the significant inputs into these models may not be observable in the market and may be derived fram market prices
of rates of estimated based on assumptions. Examples of instruments involving s'ﬂl‘liﬁﬁn‘l unobsarvable inputs include certain OTC
structured derivatives, certain loans, securithes for which there s no active market_ Valuation models that ermploy significant unobservable
mputs require a higher degree of management judpement and estimation in the determination of fair value. Management judgement
and estimation are usually required for the selection of the appropriate valuation model to be used, determination of expectad future
cash flows on the financial instrument being valued, determination of the probability of counterparty default and prepayments,
determination of expected volatilities and corralations and selection of appropriate discount rates, In cases whers inputs are deemed
unobservable, additional provision may be required to cater for the higher valuation uncertainty.

Fair values reflect the credit risk of the instrument and include adjustments to take acocount of the credit risk of the Growp entity and the
counterparty where appropriate. For maasuring derivatives that might change classification from being an assat to a liakility or vice versa
— &8 inberast rate swaps — fair values take into account both crediy valuation adjustment (CVA) and debit valuation adjustment (DVA)
whin market participants would take this inte consideration in pricing the defivatiis.

Derivatives

OTC derivative valuation medels calculate the present value of expected future cash flows, based upon "no arbitrage” principbes, For many
vaniita derivative products, the modelling approaches used are standard across the industry. For mare complex derivative products, there
may be some differences in market practice. Inputs to valuation models are determined from observable market data wherever possible,
mcluding prices available from exchanges, dealers, brokers or providers of consensus pricing. Certain inputs may not be observable in the
market directly but can be determined from observable prices via model calibration procedures or estimated from historical data or other
sources.

Private equity

Invastrnents in private equity funds are valued using net asset values ["NAV) received by the extarnal fund manager. Adjustments may
e required to the NAY of funds to obtain valeations that considers exit costs observable on the secondary market and to reflect the
uncertainty inherent to the nature of the investments held.

Securithes

Fair value is determined wsing quoted prices in active markets when available. When not available, quoted prices in less active markets
are used. In the absence of position’s specific guoted prices, fair value may be determined through benchmarking from comparable
nStrumEnts.

Structured notes

These comprise principally credit-linked notes issued by the Bank, which provide the counterparty with a return linked to the
creditworthiness of specific underlying. Examples of the snobservable parameters include carrelations between underlying.
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50 Fair value measurement (continued)
() Fair value of financial instruments {continued)
Financial instruments measured at fair value - hierarchy

The table below analyses the levels within the fair value hierarchy of financial instruments measured at fair value at the end of the reporting
periad:

Lewel 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
AELX D00 AEDDDD AED D00 AELDDD

As at 31 December 2023
Investrment at fair value through pralit or loss 6,707,309 35,357,111 3,144,373 45,208,793
PYOC] - with recycle to profit or loss 133,541,666 36,255,139 919,050 170,715,855
PO - without recycle to prafit or loss 1,024,923 3,321,486 206,912 4,553,321
Derivative financial instrumants (Assets) 634,043 45,775,514 11,119 46,420,686
141,907,941 120,709 250 4,281 464 266,898,655
Derhvative financlal instrumenis (Liabilites) 931,145 50,070,564 355 51,002,064
Term borrowings - 387,829 - 387,829
931,145 50,458,393 355 51,389,853

As at 31 December 2022
Investrnent at fair value thraugh profit or loss. 3,544,623 23,020,053 5252121 31,816,797
PO - with recycle to profit or loss 123,004,285 38,978,952 4,608,014 166,591,191
PO - without recycle to profit or loss 792,992 73,750 204,146 1,070,888
Derivative financial instruments [Assets) 273,080 58,600,024 739 GE.873,843
127,614,980 120,672,819 10,065,020 238,352,819
Deerivative financial instrumants [Liabilities) 643,082 61,381,458 - 62,024,540
Term borrowings - 550,832 - 550,832
543,082 61,932,250 - 62,575,372
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50 Fair value measurement (continued)
() Fair value of financial instruments {continued)

The follawing table shows the transfer betwean the hierarchies:

Level 2 Lewvel 3 Total
AED'DDD AEDDOO AED'DOD
As gt 31 December 2023
Imvestment at fair value through profit or loss
Transfer from 1 to 2 - 95,482 - 95,482
Transfer from 1t 3 - - 90,698 90,558
Transfer from 2 to 1 632419 - . 632,419
Transfer from 3 to 1 264 - - 264
Mon trading investment securities
Travsfer from 1to 2 - 2,830,111 - 2,830,111
Transfer from 1 to 3 - - 2,837 2,837
Transfer from2to 1 8,178,857 - - BATE 857
Transfer from 2 to 3 - - 2,053 2,053
Transfer from 3to 1 383,651 - - 383 651
Transfer from 3to 2 . 3,629,590 - 3,629,530
9,195,191 6,555,183 95,588 15,845,962
hs at 31 December 2002
Inwestrment at fair value through profit or loss.
Transfer from 1 o 2 . 56,023 - 56,033
Tramsfer from 1to 3 ] : 571 571
Transfer from 2 ta 1 6,302 - . 6,302
Man trading investment securities
Transfer from 1o 2 - &,010451 - 8,010,151
Transfer from 2 to 1 2,568,018 - - 2,568,018
Transfer from 2 to 3 . : 228529 218,519
Transfer from 3 to 2 - 486,375 - ARG, 375
2,574,320 8,552 8459 225,100 11,356,269

The following table shows a reconciliation of instruments measured at falr value {assets) and classified as Level 3:

31 Dec 2023 31 Dec 2022

AED'000 AEDC'O0O
Balance as at the beginning of year 10,065,020 11,121,359
Additions f Transfers 914,473 3,967,096
Settlements and other adjustments (6,698, 384) [5,023,435)
Balance as at the end of year 4,281,109 10,065,020

The Lewel 3 financlal instruments includes private equity investments, and their valuations are based on the last net asset published by the
fund manager. The effect of changes in its valuation is covered as part of equity price risk included in note 51{c). The remaining mainly
comprise of debt instruments which are priced using last available prices,

Any change in one or more of the unobservable inputs to reflect reasonably possible alternative assumptions would not change the fair value
significantly.
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51 Financial risk management

Risk management framework
Introduction and overview

The primary objective of the Group is to manage risk and provide risk adjusted returns to the sharehalders in line with the acoepted risk
profile. In the course of doing its regular business activities, the Group gets exposed to multiple risks notably [a) credit risk; |b) market risk
{imcluding interest rate risk in the trading book, currency risk, equity risk in the trading book); (¢} liquidity risk; {d) interest rate risk in the
banking book; (e} capital risk (f) operational risk [including risk of fraud]; {g) legal and compliance risk; [h) ESG risks (i) information security
risk, [j} business continuity, (k) technology risks, [1) model risks and [m) shari’ah compliance risks. A well-established risk governance and
owenership structure ensures oversight and accountability of the effective management of risk at the Group. The Risk management tone is
et fight at the top from the Board of Directors ("BOD™) and gets implemented through a well-defined risk managerment structure and
framewark,

Compuosition of Board

The Board of Directors ["BOD") is responsible for the overall direction, supervision and control of the Group. The BOD has delegated authority
to specialist committees whao support the Board in execution of its responsibilities. The day-to-day management of the Group s conducted
by the Group Chief Executive QOfficer [“GCEO™) and the Group Executive Committee as delegated by the Board. The BOD has overall
responsibility for the Group including approving and overseeing the implementation of its strategic objectives, risk strategy, corporate
governance and corporate values within the agreed framework i accordance with relevant statutory and regulatory structures. In
accardance with the Bank's Articles of Association, the BOD comprisas aleven members. Exch Diractar holds the position for three years,
which may then be renewed for a further three year term. The Board of Directors of the Bank's subsidiaries has the same fiduciary
rispansibilities towards theld respectivie entithes ad th Bank's Difectors have towards the Growp,

Corporate Governance Framework

The Group has a comprehensive Corporate Governance Framework that puts in place rules, processes and policies through which BOD and
Senior Management manages the Group, The BOD drives the implemeantation of the corporate governance standards and in accordance with
its charter, has aversight respansibility far the Group's corparate governance framawark. The Group corparate gevernance standards sets
the highest standards of professionalism and reguires subsidiaries and international lecations to setup individueal specific governance
framewarks, in alignment with the Group povernance framewaork, to gowern them. The Head of Corporate Governance |s the custodian of
the Corparate Governance Framewark document.,

Risk Management Structure

The BOD approves risk management plans for the Bank, its subsidiaries, its associates and international offices induding representative
offices and overseas branches. Under authority delegated by the BOD, the Board Risk and ESG Committee (“BRESGLC”) through its separately
convened risk managerment meetings formulates high-level enterprise risk management policy, exercises delegated risk authorities and
oviersees the implementation of risk management framewaork and controbs. The GCRO functionally reparts to this Committes,

Board Level Committees within the Group

B M LC ttee [“BWC)

The BMC approves and oversees execution of the Group’s business plan per the strategy approved by the Board and oversees and reviews
rmaterial aspects of the business of the Group. The Committee meets quarterly or more frequently as deemed necessary.

Al il i “BR

The BRESGC provides oversight and advice to the Group Board in relation to current and potential future risk and compliance exposures of
the Group. It ako considers and helps direct future risk strategy, including determination of risk appetite and tolerance as well as promote a
risk and compliance awareness culture in the Group, The committee also oversees and provides guidance to the Board of Directors an key
ESG matters. The Committéa meets quarterly or mare frequently as deemed necassary, The Group's risk management function has a direct
reporting line to the BRESGC through the Group Chief Risk Officer.
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51 Financial risk management (continued)
Risk management framework [continued)
Board Level Committees within the Group (continued)

Baard Audit Committee ("BAC")

BAC ensures cversight of the effectiveness of the internal contral systems and the quality and integrity of financial statements and financial
reporting. In addition, it reviews, approves and oversees the internal and external audit pragrams and ensures coordination between intemal
and external avdivors. The Group Chief Audit Officer (“GCAD") provides reports to the Committee on internal contrals and the Head of
Compliance reports directly to the BAC on compliance related matters. The Committee meets quarterly or more frequently as deamed
NeCcessarny.

muneration and Nomination mi 7l

The REMLCO recommends and oversees the appointment and termination of Group Board Directors and succession planning for the Group
Executive Committee members. This includes an assessment of the skills, knowledge and expertise needed to ensure thay are positioned to
discharge their responsibilities in the interests of the shareholders and the Group, The Committee also reviews and recommends to the
Board, Group's reward policy framewaork, approves and oversees reward design and ensures (€ is appropriate and consistent with the Group's
culture, values, business peffarmance and risk strategy. The Committes meeats at least twice a year or more frequently as deem ed necessary.

Management Level Committees within the Group

There are ten management level committees. The major functions of the ten management committees are lsted below:

Group bt Cornuii “EXCO")

The Group Executive Committes [“Group EXCO") is the Group's senior most management level committee and it operates under a delegated
authority from the Board. it is responsible for identifying matters required or appropriate for escalation to the Group Board or Board
Committees. The Group EXCO also supports the Group CEOQ to determine and implement the Group's strategy as approved by the Board.

Thie key responsibilities of the Committee indlude decisions on the Bank's strategy, annual budgets, capital managemant, risk managemeant
and Group's more material policies and procedures. The Group EXCO may delegate certain authorities and powers to management
committees and individuals, but the Group EXCO reserves the authority to deal with strategy, annual budget and structure; financial reporting
and contrals; capital management; risk and internal control; contracts; corporate governance matters; executive remuneration and human
resgurces policies, and group policies generally; general meeting of shareholders and communication and any ather matters in its discration.

F riedi i *
GCC assists i the development and implementation of the Group’s credit, investrnent strategy and the related palicies and procedures. The
airm of GCC 15 to have an overall cridit oversight of the Group and decide on credit policy and governanse related mattars,

roup Risk Comm =

GRC assists Group-wide risk strategy and exposures to enable integrated risk managemeant in an effactive manner. The primary objective of
GRL is to define, develop and periodically moniter the Group's risk appetite along with its related methodology, parameters, targets and
telerances taking into account the Group's strategy and business planning. GRC reports relevant matters 1o the EXCO and BRESGC as
appropriate, advising and informing them on the Group®s risk appetive and framework,

a a

i mpliange Campmi lLange commi

Group Compliance Committee assists the Group EXCO and BAC in fulfilling its objective of overseeing the Bank’s regulatory responsibilities
as well as ensuring the Bank's compliance with the applicable laws and regu lations Issued by various regulatory authorities across the Group.

Group Asset & Liabiliny Committee [“GALCO")

Thie G-ALCO is the driving force and key decision maker behind the structure and quality of the balance sheet, It is directly accountable to
the BRESGC for ensuring that the risks within the Group's asset and llability position are prudently managisd,
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51 Financial risk management (continued)

Risk management framewerk (continued)]

Management Level Committees within the Group (continued)

Human Resauroes Stesrin mrnittes (“HRSC

HRSC assists the Group EXCO and the REMCO to implement strategic and operational HE initiatives to deliver the Group’s long-term
shareholder value, The Committea will be the formal sponsor of all material HR initiatives across the Group in line with the Growp's Employee

Value Proposition ["EVP”).

Group Operational & Fraud Risk Committes ["GO&FRC™}

GOLFRC assists the Group EXCO and the Board Risk and ESG Committee ("BRESGC") in fulfilling the Group’s Operational and Fraud Risk
Management relatied matters. The kiy responsibilities of this committis are to defing guide lines to identify and manage Operational & Fraud
risks in all new products, processes, and activities, defining scope, policy, objectives, assumptions, and reles / responsibilities of the Group's
Operational & Fraud Risk Management Policies.

GTRISC assists the Group EXCO and the BRESGC in overseeing, reviewing and taking decislons on the implementation of Group's security
contrals and business continuity framework o ensure that information assets of the Bank are adequately protected and 1o ensu re prevention
and recavery from potential natural / man-made threats It ako serves as an independent and abjective governance forum which ensures
the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group's information security framework.

g ESG Committes (*G-ESGE"

G-ESGC assists the Group EXCO and BRESGC In all ESG related matters of the Group. The primary objective of the G-E5GC is to promate and
oviersed the ESG atrategy, culture, and Swarenass aerods the Group.

Techn rin m “ET

GTSC assists in fulfilling EXCO's governance and oversight responsibilities of all technology and information systems across the Group and
supports the work of the BRESGC in its oversight of the Group IT governance framework. The GTSC ensures alignment of business strategies
with technology pricrities and acts to protect and enhance the shareholders” investment in technology.

Group Risk Management

The Group has a centralized Risk Management functions led by the GCRO. The Risk Management function comprises Enterprise Risk, E5G
Risk, Credit Risk, Operational Risk, Fraud Risk and Investigations, Market and Liguidity Risk Management Unit, Sharia'h Risk, Model Risk,
Informatien Security and Business Continuity Management unit and Corporate Governance function,

Enterprise Risk Management Palicy Framawark

The Group’s Enterprise Risk Management Policy ("ERMP"} framework aims to accomplish its core values and purpose of being a world class
organization maximizing its risk adjusted returns for all stakeholders by establishing an enterprise wide risk management framewaork across
the Group including bacal and international branches, subsidiaries, associates and foreign representative offices. The core objective of ERMP
framework is to provide a reasonable degree of assurance to the Board chat the risks threatening the Group's achievement of its core values
and purpose are being identified, measured, monitored and controlled through an effective integrated risk management system. The ERMP
framewark consists of specific policy documents covering all material risks across the Growp that indude enterprise risk management policy,
risk appetite policy, reputational risk management policy, strategic risk management policy, ESG related framework and policies, capital
management policy, corporate governance related pelicies and framewark, credit risk related policies, market and liquidity risk related
policies, operational risk managerment policy, fraud risk palicy, outsourcing risk palicy, compliance risk related policies, information security
risk related policies, business continuity management policy, internal capital adequacy assessment process policy, new products approval
palicy, model risk management policy and Sharia'h governance framewark. In addition to thewe risk management palicies, the Graup has
also put in place detalled operational policles, procedures and programs wherever needed.
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51 Financial risk management (continued)

Risk management framework (continued)

Group Risk Management {continued)

Enterprise Risk Management Policy Framewark (continued)

Thie Group manages risks using three lines of defence comprising of business units and enabling functions, contral units and Internal Audit.
Business units and enabling functions, as the first line of defence, identify and manage risk in their day-to-day activities by ensuring that
activities are within the Group's risk appetite and follow all relevant internal policies and processes, Group Credit, Group Risk, Legal and
Group Compliance, as the second line of defence, establishes risk controls comprising of policies and processes while also providing
owversight and independent challenge to the first line of defence. The Group Chief Risk Officer |“GCRO") has a direct reporting line to the
BRESGL to ensure the indepandence of Group Risk fram Internal audit, as the third line of defence, provides assurance to management and
the Board of the effectiveness of rsk management practices employed by the first two lines of defence. The Group Chief Audit Officer has
a direct reporting line to the Board Audit Committes,

As a part of the ERMP framewark, the Group has established a formal risk appetite structure in the form of a top-down apgroach that
incarporates requirements of various stakeholders, including shareholders, holders of Rs debt securities and regulators through a dialogee
process between risk taking functions after a careful consideration of the risk-return trade-off.

Risk manitoring and cantral ks primarily based on limits established by the Group's executive management. These limits reflect the Group's
business strategy and the market environment in which it operates as well as the risk appetite of the Group. Information from all parts of
the Group is collected, examined and processed in order to identify, analyse and contral risks. This information is presented to the BRESGC
and the Group Risk Committes on a quarterly basis, The infermation covers enterprise-wide risks and is designed to enable the Board and
executivie management to receive all necessary information sa as to indepandently assess the possible impact of these risks on the Group's
businesses, The Group uses a range of measures to mitigate and control risks including the use of credit risk mitigation technigues
[collaterals, prarantees, netting, etc.) to reduce exposure to eredit risk and the use of derivative Instruments to hedge exposure to certain
Interest and currency exchange rate risks. The risk profile of all major transactions Is assessed and authorised by appropriate management
representatives before the transactions are concluded and the effectivenass of all risk mitigation measures i3 elesely manitared by the risk
FrAnAREmEnt unit.

{a) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that the customer or counterparty to a financial asset fails to meet its contractual obligations and cause the Group to
incur a financial loss, It arises principally from the financial assets such as loans, advances and lslamic financing, due from banks and financial
Institutions, reverse repurchase agreements and non-trading debt investments, derivative financial instruments and certain other assets.

Management of credit rlsk

Credit risk identification and assessment at the Group s carried out through a comprehensive mechanism comprising three levels of defense.
The first level of defense lies with the business units and is responsible for maintaining a sound credit quality of assets in line with the
approved business strategy and credit risk appetite, The second level of defense is with the Group Credit Unit that assesses the risk at the
custamer and facility level, ensures proper documentation of customer, facility and security documents along with Group Risk management
unit that assesses credit rsk on a portfolio basis and maintains credit risk palicies and credit risk rating models up to date. Internal Audit acts
as a third level of defense with regular reviews of credit analysis and the risk functions to check the compliance with policies and procedures
of the Group. The wnit also reviews the policy documents on a regular basis.

As part of cradit risk manitaring and contral framewark, regular risk moenitoring at both customer and portfalio levels is carried out along
several parameters which include credit quality, provisioning levels, exposure limits across several dimensions, financial and operating
perfarmance, account canduct, end wse of funds, adequacy of credit risk mitigants, adherence to financial and non-financial covenants,
recavery performance, rating system performance among others,

Credit quality analysls

The following tables set out infarmation about the credit quality of financial assets measured at amortised cost and FYOCI debt investments
without considering collateral or other credit enhancement. Unless specifically indicated, for financial assets, the amounts in the table
represent gross carnying amounts, For loan commitments and financial guarantes contracts, the amounts in the table represent the amounts
committed or guaranteed, respectively.
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51 Financial risk management [continued)
{a) Credit risk {continued)
Credit quality analysls (continued)

The movement of gross exposure is as follows:

Stage 2 Stage 3 POC Total
Loans, advances and Islamic financing AELY000 AED'DD0 AEDYO00 AED'D00
Balance as at 1 January 2023 441,557,544 13,261,515 20,898,190 4,007,217 479,724 466
Transhers:
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 2 {4,920,593) 4,520,593 - . -
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 3 {2,939,764] - 2,939,764 . -
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 1 2,077,788  (2,077,788) : =
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3 - {3,333,754) 3,333,754 - -
Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 2 - B0O3,8B72 (803,872) - -
Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 1 343,820 - |343,820) - -
{5.438,749) 312923 5,125,826 - -
Met non-stage movements 28,721,617 {597 203) 314,976 72,756 28,512,146
Met amounts written-off {54,149) {39,110} 13,414,704) [B7.509) 13,595.472)
Balance as at 31 December 2023 464,786,263 12938125 22924288 3992464 504,541,140
Unfunded exposure
Balance as at 1 January 2023 225,880,558 4,698,776 1,340,630 10,943 231,930,913
Transfers:
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 2 {2,498,137) 2,498,137 - - -
Tranader fram Stage 1 to Stage 3 {2839,335] - 289,335 - -
Tranafer from Stage 2 to Stage 1 1,272,562  [1,272582) . - -
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3 - (1,256,121} 1,256,121 - -
Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 2 - 5311 {5.311) - -
Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 1 50 : 1501 : =
{1,514,860) {25,235) 1,540,095 . "
Met non-stage movemants 12,764,745 (360,245) {1,216,825) [6,160) 11,181,495
Balance as at 31 December 2023 237,130,443 4,313,296 1,663,900 4,768 243,112,408
86 | 112

268/318



EDINETOOOO
OoooDoO0oooooooo0ooo00o00DoO00DDO000bDo00DO00bDO000o0O00DbOO00D0o00no(e25742)
oOoOooodn

BB b il
Motes to the consolidated financial statements FAB

For the year ended 31 December 2023 Firal itw Dbt B

51 Financial risk management [continued)
(a) Credit risk {continued)
Credit quality analysls (continued)

The movement of gross exposune is s follows:

Loans, advances and Islamic finaning st i i PO Tl
AEDCO0 AED 000 AEDODD AEDTODD AED000
Balance asat 1 January 2022 388,015,124 18,324,871 16,807,188 5692979 428 840,162
Tramsfess:
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 2 13,464,535] 3,464,539 - -
Transder from Stage 1 to Stage 3 11,354,932] . 1,354,932 . .
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 1 2,075,805 (2,075,805) . . -
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3 - (5.213,887) 5,213,887 - -
Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 2 - 611,917 (611,917 - .
Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 1 282,362 - (282,352} - -
{2,4581,304) (3,213,238) 5,674,540
Met non-stage movements 56,038,576 (1,823,426) 22,758 (1,5089,131) 53,528,777
Met amounts written-off {34,852] | &0,694) [2,906,296) [176,631) [2,644,473)
Balance as at 31 December 2022 441,557,544 13,261,515 20,898,150 A.007,217 479,724,466
Unfunded exposure
Balance as at 1 January 2022 210,751,733 A,687,183 1,188,943 15,724 216,643,554
Transfers:
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 2 |1,285,235) 1,285,235 - - -
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 3 (89,763) - 89,763 - -
Transder fram Stage 2 to Stage 1 189,652 [189,652) .
Transfas fram Stage 2 to Stage 3 . (302,.849) 02,849 ;
Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 2 - 3,291 13.291) - -
11,185,345) 796,025 385,321 - -
Nt non-stage movemants 16,314,171 [7EA,437] 12376400 (4.775) 15,287,319
Balamce as at 31 December 2022 225,880, 558 A,698 776 1,340,830 10,849 231,930,913

The external ratings for trading securities and non trading investment securities are disclosed below:

Imvestments at falr value
through profit or loss
31 Dec 2023 31 Dec 2022

Non trading investment
SaCurities

31 Dec 2023 31 Dec 2022

AED'000 AED'DOO AED'000 AEDD00

AAA 26,603,942 48671797 654,307 3E7
AAto A 117,559,014 85,179,548 24,034,798 15,221,548
BEEto B 28 885,291 34,775,195 14,783 335 12,648,673
COC and below B57,718 145,062 14 33
Unrated 5,938,638 3,578,875 5,606,339 3,946,170
179,644,603 172,350,477 45,208,793 31,816,797

Less: expected credit loss {1,329) [654) - -
179,643,274 172,349,818 45,208,793 31,816,797

Unrated investments primarily consist of investments in private equities and investments in equities which don't carrny credit risk
Investments at fair wvalue through profit or loss are neither past due nor impaired.
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51 Financial risk management (continued)
{a) Credit risk {continued)

Credit quality anabysis (continued)

Collateral held and other credit enhancements

The Group has set up a framework for credit risk mitigation as a means towards reducing credit risk in an exposure, at facllity level, by a
safety nat of tangible and realizable securities indluding approved third-party guarantees/ insurance, The types of Credit Risk Mitigation
("CRM") include netting agreements, collaterals, guarantees, credit derivatives and standby Letters of Credits [ “SBLC"). The Group ensures
that all documentation used in collateralized transactions and for documenting on and off-balance sheet netting, guarantees, credit
derivatives and collateral is binding an all parties and is legally enforceable in all relevant jurisdictions. The Growp also ensures that all the
documents are reviewad by the appropriate authority and have appropriate legal opinions to verify and ensure its enforceability.

The Group holds collateral and ather cradit enhancements against certain of its credit exposures. An estimate of the collateral coverage
{after the application of haircuts] against net cred®t-impaired loans, advances and lslamic financing is shown belaw;

31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2022
Y OO0 AEDTDDD

Collateral value cover
-5 13,372,115
51 = 100% 4,457,912
Above 1008 1,686,910
Met credit impaired boans, advances and Islamic financing 19,623,175 18,516,937

The Growp™s policy is to pursue timely realisation of the collateral in an orderly manner, The Group dees not generally use the non-cash
collateral for its own aperations.

While the Group might not have repossessed significant amount of collateral in 2023 and 2022, maintaining repossession rights assist the
Group in the restructuring and settlement of credit-impaired loans, advances and Islamic financing.

Derivatives, reverse sale-and-repurchase agreements and securitles borrowing

The Group mitigates the credit risk of derivatives, reverse sale-and-repurchase agreements and securities lending by entering Into master
netting agreements and holding collateral in the farm of cash and marketable securities,

Derivative transactions are transacted on exchanges, with central clearing counterparties ("CCPs®) or entered into under International
Swaps and Derivatives Association (I50A) master agreemaents, In general, under these agreements, in certain circumstances = &.g. when
a credit event such as a default ocours = all outstanding transactions under the agreement with the counterparty are tarminated, the
permination value is sssessed as per the jurisdiction netting rules and the amount (due or payvable) in settlermnent with the countarparty,
The Group wsually executes a credit support annex in conjunction with the 15DA agreement, which requires the Group and its
counterparties to post collateral to mitigate counterparty credit risk. Collateral is also posted daily in respect of derivatives transacted on
exchanges and with CCPs.

The Group's sabi-and-repurchase, and reverse sale-and-repurchase, transactions and securities barrowing and lending are covered by
master agreements with netting terms similar to those of ISDA master netting agreemeants,

Loans, advances and Islamic financing to customers

The general credit worthiness of a corporate customer tands to be the most relevant indicator of credit quality of a loans, advances and
Islamic financing extended to it However, collateral provides additional security and the Group generally requests that corporate
borrawers provide it. The Group may take callateral in the form of a first charge over réal estate, floating changes over all corporate asiets

and other liens and guarantees.

Becawse of the Group's focus an corporate customers’ creditworthiness, valuation of property collateral s conducted once in bwo years
and more frequently for credit-impaired assets,

Off-balance sheet
The Group applies the same risk management policies for off- balance sheet risks as it does for its on- balance sheet risks. In the case of

commitments to lend, customers and counterparties will be subject to the same credit management policies as for loans, advances and
Islamic financing, Collateral may be sought depending on the strength of the counterparty and the nature of the transaction.
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51 Financial risk management (continued)

{a) Credit risk [continued)

Amounts arising from ECL

Inputs, assumptions and techniques used for estimating impakrment
Refer accounting policy note 6{al{vi).

Significant increase in credit risk

The Bank assesses whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk since recognition, When determining whether the risk of
default on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group considers reasonable and suppertable
information that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This includes both gquantitative and gualitative information and
anahysis, based on the Group's historical experience and expert credit assessment and including forward-locking infarmation.

Far non-consumer exposure, objective of the assessment is to identify whether a significant increase in credit risk has eccurred for an
exposure by comparing:

= Probability of defaulk at ongination adjusted for the loan maturity; and
= Probability of default at current reporting date adjusted for the remaining life of the loan

Sirmilar by, for consumer portfolio, the curtent and historical performance of the sccount is used estimate whither a significant inctease in
crisdit risk has occurred.

A borrower that is more than 30 days past due on its contractual obligations is presumed to have a significantly increased credit risk as a
backstop unless this presumption can be reasonably rebutted based on supportable forward-looking information.

The credit risk may also be deemed to have increased significantly since initial recognition based on gualitative factors linked to the
Group's credit risk management processes that may not otherwise be fully reflected in its qguantitative analysis an a timely basis. These
assessments usually reflect in placement of such exposures under certain categories, for example watch list. In these cases, PD gets
calculated on lifetime basis,

If there is evidence that there B no longer a significant increate in credit risk relative to initial recognition, then the ke allowance on an
Instrument return to being measured based on 12-month PD. Some gualitative indicators of an Increase in credit risk, such as delinguency
ar forbearance, may be indicative of an increased risk of default that persists after the indicator itself has ceased to exist, In thess cases,
the Group determines a probation period during which the financial asset is required to demonstrate good behavior to provide evidence
that its eredit risk has declined sufficiently. The Group is also complying with all prabation period reguirements in relevant |urisdictions
stipulated by local central banks,

In addition to the guantitative test based on movement of PD, the Group also applies expert credit judgement to incorporate the
estimated impact of factors not captured in the modelied ECL results.

Credit risk rating

The Group allocates non consumer exposure a cradit risk rating based on variety of data that & determined to be predictive of the risk of
default and applying experienced credit judgement. Credit risk ratings are defined using qualitative and quantitative factors that are
Indicative af risk of default. These factors vary depending on the nature of the expasure and the type of borrower.

Craedit risk ratings are defined and calibrated such that the risk of default eccurring increases exponentially as the credit risk deteriorates
down the curve,

Each exposure is allocated to a credit risk rating on initial recognition based on available information about the borrower, Expasures are
subject to ongoing monitoring, which may result in an exposure being moved to a different cradit risk rating.

Far consumer exposure, credit risk assessment s performed through credit risk scoring of borrower's characteristics and past payment
behavicur. These scoring factors vary depending on the nature of the exposure and product. Cradit risk scores are defined and calibrated
such that the risk of default increases exponentially as credit worthiness deteriorates.

Definition of default
The Group considers a financial asset to be in default when:

*  For non-<onsumer segment, 3 default shall be considerad to have occurred with regard to a particular obliger when the Group
considers that the obliger is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to iself in full, without recourse by it to actions such as realizing
security [If held). The Group uses internal credit risk grading that reflects its assessment of the prabability of default for non-consumer
Segment.
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51 Financial risk management (continued)
{a) Credit risk jcontinued)
Amounts arising from ECL [continued]

Some off-balance sheet exposures such as bank guarantees, letters of credit ete. should be treated as impaired if the Group believes
It is l&kely they will be called upon and the custormer will not be able to meet these commitments. Where the off-balance stheet
exposure is in the form of a Global Market contracts and there is doubt that all contractual future cash flows will be received from the
counterparty, the Group should assess the net marked to market exposure to the counterparty taking into account any enforceable
netting arrangements in place. The net pasition (if due from) thus arrived will be considered impaired.

* For consumer, a facility or any material credit obligation to the Group ks more than 90 days past due.

Inputs into the assessment of whether a financial instrument |5 in default and their significance may vary over tme to reflect changes in
cfcumstances, Tha definition of default largely aligns with that applied by the Group for regulatory capital purposes (nate S1(e)).

Incarporation of forward-looking information

The Group incorpoarates forward-looking mformation into both the assessment of whether the credit risk of an instrument has increased
significantly since its initial recognition and the measuremeant of ECL.

The Group formulates three economic scenarios: a base case, which is the median scenario assigned a 405 probability of occurning, and
pwa bess likely sornarios, one upside and one downside, each assigned a 30% probability of occurring. These scenarlos are consistent for
2023 and 2022, External information considered includes economic data and foracasts published by governmantal bodies and monatary
autharities in the countries where the Group operates, supranational organisations such as the QOECD and the International Monetary
Fund and selected private-sector and academic forecasters.

The Group has identified and documented key drivers of credit risk and credit loss for each portfolio of financial instruments and, using
an analysis of historical data, has estimated relationships betweean macro-economic variables and credit risk and credit loss.

The Group has perfarmed a sensitivity analysis on how ECL on the credit portfolio will change If the scenanio welghts used in the IFRS 9
model were changed. From a sensitivity analysis point of view, if the downturn scenario was changed by +10%/-10%, ECL would have
changed by +0.5%/-0.5% respectivaly. In reality there will be interdependencies betwean the various economic inputs and the exposure
to sensitivity will vary across the economic scenarios.

The economic scenarios used as at 31 December 2023 included the following key indicators for the years ending 31 December 2024 to
2028

Regian Macra Variable'® Scenario 1024 2025 1026 wzr 2028
MENA il Price Base 4.16% 14,55% 204% 1.35% 241%
Ugnide -1.47% -16.79% -2.14% 1.39% 2.41%

Dowrside -30.99% D.43% 12.25% L.36% 3.15%

UAE GDP Base 146% 189% 182% 153% 1.96%

Unide 622% 147% 1.82% 1.53% 1.96%

Doewirside -1.70% 0.BD% 3.66% 2 B 2.07%

UAE Housing Price index Base 2.19% 2.31% 0.35% 115% 0n.5"%

Umnide S63% 1.56% 0.95% -1.72% 0.72%

Dowrnside -5.07% -0.27% 0.51% 0.0 0.29%

Egypt GDP Base 5.35% 5.55% 4.86% 455 A.84%

Umide ra5% 561% 4 86% 4 B5% 4.84%

Dowrside 0.1 3.62% 57T% 3588 5.33%

Egypt Equity Index Base 658% 4.65% 5.37% 3.59% 2605

Ugide 20.75% 1.56% 3.41% 1.02% 2,14%

Dowrrside -34.95% 25.93% 20.599%. 9.36% 4.63%

UK UK GDP Base 0.26% 0.R3% 1,22% 1.35% 1E1%
Upnide 176% 1.07% L18% 1.38% 182%

Dowrrsidie -5.80% 1.18% 2.56% L.36% 1.52%

UK Equity indes Base 192% 1.76% 7.46% 4445 1.54%

Umside 12.26% 1.07% 4.65% 263% 3E4%

Dowrside -17.BE% 12.80%% 13.95% 6.34% 1E1%

[1) Regeeems the mmrage annlized irease [ decreas over the pedod,
[# Thre are additional macro vaiables Raciors ueed for other region s which ase relevani b their marked
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51 Financial risk management (continued)
{a) Credit risk {continued)

Amounts arlsing from ECL [continued)

Modified financial assets feontinued)

The contractual terms of a loan may be modified for a number of reasons, including changing market conditions, customer retention and
other factors not related to a current or potential credit deterioration of the customer, An existing loan whose terms have been modified
may be derecognised and tha renegotiated loan recognised as a new loan at fair value in accordance with the accounting policy set out
in mote 6{ajliv).

When the terms of a financial asset are modified and the modification does not result in derecognition, the determination of whether the
asset’s credit rick has increased significantly reflects comparison of:

& its remaining lifetime PD at the reporting date based on the madified terms;
® with the remaining lifetime PD estimated based on data an initial recognition and the ariginal contractueal terms.

The Group renegotiates loans to customers in financial difficulties (referred to as ‘forbearance activities') to maximise collection
oppartunities and minimise the risk of default. Under the Group's forbearance pelicy, boan forbearance is granted on a selective basis if
the debtor is currently in default on its debt or if there is a high risk of default, there i evidence that the debtor made all reasonabile
efforts to pay under the original contractual terms and the debtor is expected to be able to meet the revised terms.

The revised terms usoally include extending the maturity, changing the timing of interest payments and amending the terms of loan
covenants, Both consumer and non-consumer kyans are subject to the forbearance pelicy. The Group Credit Committee regularly reviews
reports on forbearance activities.

Far financial assets modified as part of the Group's forbearance policy, the estimate of PD reflects whether the modification has improved
or restored the Group's ability to collect interest and principal and the Group's previcus experience of similar forbearance action. As part
of this process, the Group evaluates the borrower’s payment performance against the modified contractual terms and considars various
behavioural indicarars.

Generally, forbearance is a qualitative indicator of a significant increase in credit risk and an expectation of forbearance may constitute
evidance that an exposure is credit-impaired (note &la)vi)). A customer needs bo demanstrate consistently good payment behavior over
a period of time before the exposure i no longer considered to be cradit-impaired/in default,

Loans with renegotiated terms

Loans with renegotiated terms are loans that have been restructured due to deterioration in the borrower’s financial position and where
this Group had made material concessions that it would aot stherwide considier. Once a kan & restiuctuned, it Femains in this category fod
a minimum perod of tweblve months, in order to establish satisfactory track record of performance under the restructuring agreement.
The Group determines the twelve-month period to commence from the date of signing of the agreement for restructuring. As at the
reporting date, the Group has renegotiated the following exposures:

31 Dec 2022
AEDDDO AED'ODD
Loans with renegotiated terms
Gross carrying amount 10,300,822 10,644,451
Impaired amount 5,123,452 5818785
Allowance for impairment 3,357,261 3,007,972
Thee impact of modification loss on the Groups consolidated financial statements is not matarial,
Measurement of ECL
The key inputs into the measurement of ECL [note & alvii}:
= probabilicy of default (PD);
® loss given default (LGD); and
= gxposure at default (EAD].
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51 Financial risk management [continued)
{a) Credit risk jcontinued)
Measurement of ECL {continued)]

The lifetime PDs are determined based on maturity profile. The maturity profile looks at how defaults develop on a partfolio throughout
the remaining life of the kbans,

PD is an estimate of the likelihood of default over a given time horizon, It is estimated as at a point in time. The caloulation is based on
statistical models tailored to the various categories of counterparties and exposures. These statistical models are based on internal data
comprising both quantitative and qualitative factors and market data (where available). PDs are estimated considering the contractual
maturities of exposures and estimation is based on current conditions, adjusted to take into account estimates of future cond itions that
willl impact PD.

LGD is the magnitude of the likely loss if there (s a default. The Group estimates LGD term structure based on current collateral,
eounterparty industry, country of risk and recovery cocts that is integral to the financial asset LGD estimates ane recalibrated for different
economic scenarios incorporating the impact of change in macro economic parameters.

Amaounts arising from ECL

EAD represents the expected exposure at the time of default. The Group derives the EAD from the current exposure to the counterparty
and potential changes to the current amount allowed under the contractual obligations, Far undrawn commitments and unfunded
facilities such as letter of credit and letter of guarantees, EAD represents the ameount of exposure when the facility becomes payable and
the funded corversion is based on factors provided by Basel,

Hewever, for credit card facilties that include bath a laan and an undrawn commitment companent, the Group measures ECL over the
period it is exposed to credit risk and EAD is computed using internal model. Though the Group can cancel the limits with immediate
effect but this contractual Aght i3 not enfarced in the narmal day-to-day management, but anby when the Group becames aware af an
ingriase in credit risk at the facility level,

hodelling of a parameter i carried out on a collective basis wherein the financial instruments are grouped on the basks of shared risk
characteristics that include:

instrument type;

histerical peformance;

industry; and

peographic location of the borrower,

The groupings are subject to regular réview Lo ensura that exposures withina particy lar Eroup remain apprapriamlv haomeogeneous,
Loss allowance

The foBowing tables show reconciliations from the apening to the clasing balance of the ks allowance by clss of financial instrument.
The basis for determining transfers due to changes in credit risk i set owt in the Group's accounting policy; refer
nate Gla){vii).

Stage 2 Stage 3 POCI Total

AED'D00 AED'DOO AED'DO0 AEDDO0 AED'DDO
Balance as at 1 January 2023 2,294,631 2987, 603 9,584,378 755,468 15,622,080
Transfers:
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 2 {41,091) 41,091 - - -
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 3 [40,671] . 40,671 . -
Trantfer fram Stage 2 to Stage 1 109,234 (109,284} - . -
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3 - (1,276.4594) 1,278,494 - -
Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 2 - 172,695 1172,695) - -
Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 1 57,501 . {57,501} . =
85,023 {1,173,992) 1,088,969 . -
Impact of change in provision 270,416 557,650 2,575,833 (87.288) 3,316,611
Write-offs and other adjustments {78,761) {122,106) {3.326,261) {132,0632) 3.659,190)
Balance as at 31 December 2023 2,571,309 2,249,155 9,922,919 536,118 15,279,501

\On certain assets included as part of other assets, ECL is computed based on simplified approach,
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51 Financial risk management (continued)
(a) Credit risk jcontinued)
Loss allewance [continued]
Stage 1! Stapge 2 Stape 3 POCI Total
AEDDOD AEDDO0 BEDAOOD AEDTD0O AED'DO0
Balance as at 1 Januany 2022 2.337.282 3,912 101 7,953,179 10382891 15,291,453
Transfers:
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 2 (55,302} 55,302 .
Transder from Stage 1 to Stage 3 [65,455) . 65,455
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 1 151,013 [151.013) -
Trander from Stage 2 to Stage 3 . {1,508,638) 1,508,638 . .
Tranader from Stage 3 to Stage 2 . 106,377 (108,377} B .
Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 1 61,618 - 61.618) - -
91,874 {1,497,972) 1,406,098 . .
Impact of change in provision (244,121} B&A T4 2,498 585 [21,685) 2 857 543
\Write-affs and other adjustments 59,596 [91,290) {2,273,484) [261,738) (2,566,916)
Balance as at 31 December 2022 2,294,631 2,937,603 9,584,378 755,468 15,622,080

0n certain assets included as part of other assets, ECL is computed based on simplified approach.
Maximum exposure to credit risk without taking aceount of any callateral and ather eredit enhance ments

The table below shows the maximum exposure to credit risk for the components of the balance sheet, Including derivatives. The
MANIMUM Exposune is shown gross, before the effect of mitigation through the use of master netting and collateral agreements,

Gross

maximunm

BEpOSUTe

31 Dec 2023 31Dec 2022

AEDDOO AEDQDD

Balances with Central Bank ] 231,634,656 126,732,663
Investments at fair value through profit or loss 9 40,496,350 217,954,342
Due frem banks and financial institutions 10 25,324,087 14,554,813
Rarvirse repurchase agreemants 11 78,500,879 69, 128,050
Loans, advances and Islamic financing 12 504,641,140 479,724,466
Man trading Investment securities 13,52 175,091,282 171,279 564
Other assets excluding prepaymeants 40,067,774 30,216,153
Tatal 1,095, 168 1,029,990,076
Derivatives held for trading A4 40,151,122 51,162,443
Derivatives held for hedging A4 6,269,564 7,711,401
Total 46,420,686 58,873,843
Contingent liabilities 43 165,268,955 154,595,004
Commitment 43 77,843 453 77,335 903
Total 203,112,408 231,930,913
Total credit risk exposure 1,385,379, 262  1,320,794.832

Where financial instruments are recorded at fair value the amounts shown above represent the current credit risk exposure but not the
raximum risk exposure that could arise in the future as a result of changes in values,
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51 Financial risk management (continued)

{a) Credit risk {continued)

Classification of investments as per their counterparties:

Investments at falr value through

Non trading investments securities Z
profit ar loss

31 Dec 2023 31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2023 31 Dec 2022

AEDYODD AEDDO0 AE i] AED Q00
Government sector 122,785,913 119,507,304 36,556,938 25,725,513
Supranational 995,368 536,497 1,919 779,326
Public sector 13,494,209 15,529,732 678,064 TBG,919
Banking sector 26,685,161 27,916,727 1,631,766 1,030,472
Corporate [ private sector 15,683,952 B460,217 5,340,106 3,493,567
179,644 603 172,350,477 45,208,793 31,816,797

Less: allowance far impairment (expected
credit loss) on amortised Cost securities {1.323] 653} . -
179,643,274 172,349,818 45,208,793 31,816,797

Setthement risk

The Group's activities may give rise to risk at the time of settlement of transactions and trades, Settlemant risk is the risk of loss due to
the failure of counterparty to honor its obligations to deliver cash, securities or other assets as contractually agreed, Any delay in
settlermnent is rare and monitored.

Darrivativie related oredit risk

Credit risk in respect of derivative financial instruments arises from the potential for a counterparty to default on its contractual
abligations and ks limited to the positive market value of instruments that are favourable to the Group. The positive market value Is ako
referred to as the “raplacement cost” since it is an estimate of what it will cost to replace transactions at prevailing market rates if a
counterparty defaults. The majority of the Group's derivative contracts are antered into with other banks and financial institutions.

(b} Uquidity risk

Liquidity risk is defined as the risk that the Group is unable to meet its financial obligations as and when they fall due or that it can only
do s0 at an excessive oost.

Liquidity risk arises fraom cash flows generated by assets and labilities, including dervatives and other off-balance sheet commitmants,
not being matched in currency, size, and term. The Group ensures that all liabilities can be met as they fall due under both businesses as
usual and stress conditions without incurring undue cost.

Management of liquidity risk

The Group has defined the liquidity risk appetite at a level 20 as to ensure that the Group has a controlled liquidity risk pesition with
adequate cash or cash-eguivalents to be able to meet its financial obligations, in all foreseeable circumstances and without incurring
substantial additional casts, for a rolling period of three months, The risk appetite is supported by a comprehensive risk management
framework that includes Group ALCO approved limits for key funding and liquidity metrics, stress testing and a contingency funding plan,

The liguidity risk appetite is also defined at a level to ensure continued compliance with current and proposed ligquidity regulation from
bath domestic and international regulators and aligned to support the Group’s external credit rating objectives.

One of the critical means to measure adequacy of liquidity as per extant global regulation is through Liquidity Coverage Ratio ["LCR™). The
Group has been complying with UAE regulation on Basel |l LCR and has been reporting the same for a considerable period of time.
Accordinghy, the Group has invested heavily in ensuring systems and contrals framework is in place to comply with all the qualizative and
quantitative aspects of Basel Il The Group alio continees to measure and report Eligible Liquid Assets ratio (ELAR] in line with CBUAE
stipulation on banking returns.

Ligquidity Bmits are defined at the Group lewvel and are cascaded down throughout the organisation to ensure that the Group complies
with the defined Group Liquidity Risk appetite. Similarly Intérnational limits are cascaded to ensure compliance with any additional local
regulatory requirements on liquidity management. All liguidity polices and procedures are subject to review and approval by G-ALCO.

Exposure to Haquldity risk

The contractual asset and liability maturity mismatch report without considering the Group's retention history is detailed balow,
96112
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 s
51 Financial risk management (continued)

(¢} Market risk

bdarket risk is the risk that the Group’s income or capital will flucteate an account of changes in the value af a financial instrument because
of movements in market factors such as interest rabes, credit spreads, foreign exchange rates and market prices of equity and commodity.

Management of market risk

The Group separates its exposure to market risk between trading, Investment and non-trading portfolies. Trading and investment
portfolios are managed on a fair value basis.

Investment Management Committee [“IMCO") is responsible for oversight and guidance to Global Markets’ trading and investment
activithes. 1t ensures effective management of market risks in accordance with the principles laid down in the market risk management
policy. IMEOD acts as a sub-committee of Group Asset and Liabilities {"G-AL80%) which has the overall authority and responsibility to
manage market risks.

Market Risk Group is responsible for the development and implementation of detailed market risk appetite, risk management
methodologies and policies including the control framework that is reviewed by IMCO and submitted to G-ALC0 and BRESGC for approval.

Exposure to market risks = trading portfolios

The principal analytical tool used to measure and control market risk exposure within the Group's trading portfolios which comprise of
mvestments at fair value through profit of lass and trading derivatives 15 Valve at Risk {“VaR"). The VaR of a trading portfolio is the
estimated loss that will arse on the portfolio over a specified period of time [holding period) from an adverse market movement with a
speciflied probability (confidence level). The VaR model uses historical simulation based on a 99% confidence level and assumes a 1-day
halding period. Using market data from the previous twelve months, and observed relationships between different markets and prices,
the model generates a wide range of plausible future scenarios for market price movements, The historical market rates and prices cover
the risk factors associated with the following asset clasens: foreign exchange, interest rates, credit, commodities and public equity.

The Group has established VaR limits covering all trading desks. The averall structure of Trading VaR limits ks subject to review and
approval by the IMCO and then ratified at G-ALCO, WVaR limits are then cascaded down to trading desks.

WaR is driven by actual historical observations and hence, It is not an estimate of the maximum loss that the Graup could experience fram
an isdrame market event. As a retult of this limitation, the VaR is further supplémantad with ather sensitivity limit structures and risk
measures including stressed VaR (sVaR) and Expected Shortfall [ES) to address potential concentration risks within each trading portfolio.
hioreover the trading activity at Group and desk level is subject to Management Action Triggers (*MATY) that are limits on maximum
losses that trigger actions from management. The VaR is as follows:

31 Dec 2023

AEDFO0D AEDD00 AED'00D AED'DDO
As at Average Max Min

R = Tradi k
Al 93,571 81,140 135,252 50,507
Intarest rate 138,946 85,024 166,962 14,381
Credit 17771 18,716 27,2215 10,967
Fareign exchange 9,538 13,868 29,388 4,684
Equity 1,600 3,734 14,092 523
Commodity 190 635 9,406 48
Diversification benefit (76,474) (40,837) {111,821) 9,504

31 Dec 2022

AED'O00 AED'000 AED0O0 AEDO00
As at Average Max hin

VaR = Trading Book
All 49,405 44,546 62,720 22,184
Interest rate 48,667 24,674 49,953 8,746
Cradit 13471 19,908 42,549 8,248
Forelgn exchange 6,704 17,996 47,008 4,735
Equity 3,297 2,445 5834 242
Commodity Ta3 1,168 8,202 19
Diversification benefic 123,527) {21,545} [30.826) 204

100 | 112
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 s

51 Financial risk management (continued)

<) Market risk {continued)
Exposure to market risk — banking portfolios

Exposure to Market Risk in the banking portfolios which comprise of non trading investments securities, reverse repurchase agreemaents
and certain derivathe instfumants which are designated as hedging instruments arise primarily from the investment portfolios, interest
rate gaps in the banking boak, and the Group's averall FX positions.

The principal analytscal tool used to measure and contral the trading and Investrments risk exposure within the Group s Value at Rick
{"WaR"). The VaR model is the same as the one used for the trading portfolios. The Group wses VaR limits for controlling the owerall
mvestment risk, including all risk factors such as foreign exchange, interest rate, equities and credit spreads. The overall structure of
banking VaR Emits is subject to review and approval by IMCO and then ratified by G-ALCO. VaR limits are then cascaded ta different
Investment desks. The VaR ks as follows:

31 Dec 2023
AED (M0 AED 000 AED D00 AED'00
As at Average Max Min

Yaft = Banking Book

All 384,860 358,265 412,698 171,670
Internest rate 100,123 110,637 176,236 59,887
Cradit 402,545 355,241 416,944 252,484
Farelgn exchange 133 3094 B2,591 160,395 14, 224
Equity 18,015 16,608 19,036 14,456
Diversification benefit {269,217) {206,812) {359,913 169,381)

31 D 2022
AED D00 AEDO0O AED D00 AED DD
VaR = Banking Book Asat As at As at Asat
all 316,418 228,550 317,105 156,074
Interest rate 156,276 142,034 237,113 103,304
Credit 299,477 243,445 302,57 135,816
Fareign exchange 15,404 10,243 27,641 4,108
Equity 17,540 17164 22,566 8,794
Diversification benefit |172,674) |184,335) [272,783) [95,548)

Foreign exchange risk

Foreign exchange risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange rates and arises
from financial instruments denominated in a foreign currency. The Group's functional currancy & the UAE Dirham. The Board of Directors
has set limits on positions by currency. Positions are closely monitored and hedging strategies are used to ensure positions are maintained
within established lirnits, The Group had the following significant net exposures denaominated in forelgn currencies:

Net spot Forward
position Total
{shart)/long {short]flong [shartl/long
As at 31 December 2023 AED'D00 AED'D0D AED'DOO
Currency
U5 Dallar 4,829 630 &1,707 400 56,537,030
UK Sterling Pound [1,435313) 1,430,982 {4,331)
Euro 11,793 680 {11,702,271) 91,409
Kuwaiti Dinar 163,859 {222,120) {58,261)
Saudi Riyal 1,621,240 [@,036,743) [2,415,503)
lapanese Yen 4,691,673 14,695,528) {3,925
Swiss Franc [5:2759,971) 5,222,508 {57.063)
Bahraini Dinar 9,974,021 [5.931,447) 4,042,574
Egyptian Pound 11,538,378 {10,637,160) 941,218
Indian Rupeas 1,229,805 {168,525) 1,061,280
Libyan Dinar 188,592 - 188,592
Others 10,548,204 (11,059,107) {510,903)
101|112
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51 Financial risk management (continued)

() Market risk (continued)
As at 31 December 2022
Currency
U5 Dollar 316,418,533 14,166,986 50,585,519
UK Sterling Pound (6,067, 696) 5,987,604 {100,092)
Eure 6,494,186 {5,268,504) 1,225,682
Kuwaiti Dinar |261,244) 338,652 77,408
Saudi Riyal 1,497 762 {44,272} 1,453,490
lapanese Yen A,655,016 14,671,459) (12,413}
Swiss Franc (5, 286,379) 5,245,329 (41,050}
Bahraini Dinar 9,071,533 {3,97.2,014) 5,093,519
Egyptian Pound 9,419,923 |9,720,529) {300,606}
Indian Rupees 1,166,757 (108,076) 1,058,681
Libyan Dinar 157,243 : 157,243
Otheers 3873670 (5,168,275) 11,294, 606)

As AED, SAR and BHD are pegged against US Dollar, the Group's risk expasure ta thess currencies. is limived to that extent. Exposure (o
other foreign currencies is insignificant.

The tables below indicate the currencies to which the Group had significant exposure at 31 December 2023 and 2022 on its manetary
assets, liabilities and net defivatives forward position. The analysis estimates the effect of a reasonably possible movement af AED against
other currencies, with all ather variables held constant on the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Currency
Assurned change in exchange rates 1% 1% 1% 1% 1%
Impact on net income in exchange rate;
31 Dec 2023 (AED'000) +9,412 +914 +43 +39  +10,613
31 Dec 2022 [AED'0O0) £ 3,006 + 12,257 + 1,001 +1M +10,587

At 31 December 2023 and 2022, the effect of the assumed changes in axchange rates an equity is insignificant.
Equity price risk

The Group is exposaed to equity price risk on equity Investments, either through halding of equities of another entity or through equity
derivatives such as forward contracts, options or swaps. The fair value of these instruments will fluctuate due changes in the market price
of the underlying equity instruments. The Group manages this risk through setting Equity Delta, Vega and Gamma limits, The Group also
enforces diversification of investments in terms of geographical distribution and industry concentration,

The following table estimates the sensitivity to a possible change in eguity markets on the Group’s income statement. The sensitivity of
the income statement is the effect of the assumed change in the reference equity benchmark on the fair value of investments carried at
fair value through the income statermant.

Impact
Assumed an net
level of income
change 31 Dec 2022
% BED'QO0

Investments at fair value through profit or loss
Reference equity benchmarks:

Abu Dhabi Securities Exchange Index 5% 73,020 60,228
Dwbai Financial Market Index 5% 1,192 1,575
Met asset valee of managed funds and private sguities L1 157,217 112,459
Quher equity exchanges 3% 4133 18,860
235622 193,122
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() Market risk (continued)

The effect on equity as a result of a change in the fair value of eguity instruments held as available for sale at 31 Decemnber 2023 and
2027, due to a reasonably possible change in eguity indices, with all other variables held constant, is as follows:

Impact Impagt

Assumed on net A it
level of Income Income
change 31 D 2023 31 Dec 2022

] AED'D0O AED DOD

Non trading investments securities [excluding investment in
associates and joint wintures)

Reference equity benchmarks:
#Abu Dhabi Securities Exchange Index 5% 177,340 16,456
Other equity exchanges 5 40,122 26,881
Unguoted 5% 10,204 10,207

227,666 53,544

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk arses from interest bearing financial instruments and reflects the possibility that changes in interest rates will adversely
affect the value of the financial instruments and the related income. The Group manages this risk principally through monitoring interest
rate gaps and by matching the re-pricing profile of assets and liabilities. Overall interest rate risk positions are managed by using derivative
nstruments to manage averall positian arising from the Group's interest-bearing financial instruments, The use of dervatives o manage
mterest rate risk is described in note 44,

Interest rata risk is albo assessed by measuring the impact of reasonable possible change in interast rate movements. The Group assumes
a fluctuation in interest rates of 50 basis points {31 December 2022: 50 basis points) and uses its internal models / management view to
estimates the following impact on the net prolit for the year and @gquity at that date:

Met profit for the year Equity
31 Dec 2023 31 Dec 2022 31 Dee 2023 31 Dec 2022
AEDDOD AED'OOD AED 00D AED"000
50 bps up move 448,523 685,219 560,398 654,590
50 bps down move {493,125) (F24,449) {538,046) (603,229}

The interest rate sensitivities set out above are based on AED 747 850 million [31 Decemnber 2022 AED 730,469 million) interest bearing
assets and AED 716,184 million {31 December 2022: AED 639,419 million}) interest bearing Habilities with interest re-pricing less than one
year, for assessing the impact on net profit. The impact on equity as given in the table above is based on the sensitivity of interest-bearing
assets and liabilities for the banking book, The sensitivity does not incorporate actions that could be taken by management to mitigate
the effect of interest rate movements.
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51 Financial risk management (continued)
(€} Market risk (continued)

Interest rate risk (contimued)

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform

A fundamental refarm of major interest rate benchmarks is being undertaken globally, replacing some Interbank offered rates (“IBORSY)
with alternative nearly risk-free rates (“"ARRS"). The Group has significant exposure to certain IBORs on its finandal instruments that are
being reformed as part of these market-wide initiatives. IBORs, such as the London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR"), plays a critical role
in global financial markets, serving as reference rates for derivatives, Loans, advances and slamic financing, and as parameters in the
valuation of financial Instruments.

The Growp continues to coordinate and oversee the transition from IBORs to ARRS with no significant changes tothe project or transition,
The FAB IBOR Transition Praject {or “the Project”) continues to be on target and the Group continues to progriss an its transition plan
for the remaining |BOR axposure, which is indexed to US dollar LIBOR with, one manth, three-manth and six month LIBOR settings before
30 September 2024, the US dollar LIBOR cessation date for remaining tenors.

FCA (Financial Conduct Authority) has requested |BA (ICE Benchmark Administration Limited) to continue publishing US daollar LIBOR for
one, three, and ste-month benors until 30 September 2024, However, it is worth noting that, from 1 July 2023, the methodelogy for
caleulating the US dollar UBOR became unrepresentative, using the relevant CME Term SOFR Reference Rate plus the respective 1504
fixed spread adjustment, referred to as ‘synthetic US dollar LIBOR", The synthetic US doflar LIBOR settings was applicable for all legacy
contracts, except for cleared derivatives,

A at 31 December 2023, the Group did not hold any material off-balance sheet commitments and financial guarantees linked to LIBOR.
FAE"s approach towards [BOR Transitlon

Loans, Bonds and ather On Balance Sheet exposures

For contracts indexed to an IBOR that mature after the expected cessation of the IBOR rate, the Group has established policies to amend
the contractual tarms. These amendments include the addition of fallback clauses or replacement of the IBOR rate with an altarnative
benchmark rate. Asat 31 December 2023, the IBOR reform in respect of currencies to which the Group has exposure has been completed

eecept for US dallar indexed expoiunes, The table below dets aut th IBOR fates that the Group had expedure 1o, the miew benchmark
rabes to which these exposures have or are being transitioned, and the status of the transition,

Cumency Banchmark before Reform Benchmark after Reform 31 Dec 2023 31 Dec 2022
usD USD LIBOR SOFR In progress In progress
GBP GEP LIBOR SONIA Caomplited Completed
EURC EQMIA E5TR Completed Completed
EURD EURIBOR EURIBOR reformed Completed Completed
ey JPY LIBOR TOMNAR / TORF Complated Completed
CHF CHF LIBOR SARON Completed Completed

In line with the regulatory gukdance, FAB took necessary steps and rade significant progress in transittioning customer to alternative
benchrmarks. FAR has completed the custemer autreach, giving all customers an oppartun ity to transition to alternative rates, prior to
31 December 2023, However, due to market conditions and various challenges, part of the FAB 1BOR portfolio will use synthetic LIBOR
where applicable and until they are transitioned.

Balances reported at amartized cost are disclosed at their gross carrying value and do not include any expected credit losses that may
be held against thern. Balances reported at fair value are disclosed at their fair value on the balance sheet date.

106 | 112

288/318



EDINETOOOO
OoooDoO0oooooooo0ooo00o00DoO00DDO000bDo00DO00bDO000o0O00DbOO00D0o00no(e25742)
oOoOooodn

dll i i i
Motes to the consolidated financial statements FAB l

For the year ended 31 December 2023 it s

51 Financial risk management (continued)
€} Market risk (continued)

Interest rate risk (continued)

Interest Rate Banchmark Reform [continued)

2022 2022
AED'DDD AEDOOD

Hon-derivative financial assets

Cash and balances with central banks . 322714
Investrments at fair value through profit or loss 1,140,845 189,095
Due from banks and financial institutions 78473 4,726,354
Reverse repurchase agreements 590,561 19,901,779
Loans, advances and lslamic financing 29,521,189 o1 E54.639
Man trading investments securities 2,520 198 B 380,E34
Mon-derivative financial assets 33,851,366 135615415
Mon-derivative financial liabilities

Due to banks and financial institutions 5,522,934 27.218,069
Re purchase agreameants 5,945 524 32 B57.465
Commercial paper . 30.930.714
Customer accounts and other de posits 14,369,166 258,404,465
Term borrowings 9,538,986 16,647,997
Mon-derivative financial labilities 36,376,610 366,058,710

Derivatives and hedge accounting

The Group holds derivatives for trading and risk managemant purposas. Darivatives held for risk management purposes are designated
in hedging relationships. The interest rate and cross-currency swaps have floating legs that are indexed to various IBORs.

The table below represents the derivative exposures to interest rate benchmark reform, which have yet to transition as of
31 December 2023,

2022

AEDDOD

Exchange traded Interest rate options and swaptions - 2,471,929

OTC interest rate swaps 18,386,877 748,455,269

OTC interest rate options and swaptions - 1,443,489

OTC ather derivative contracts 1,032,036 158,509,522

Dérivative notional contract amount 19418913 910,834,209
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51 Financial risk management (continued)
€} Market risk (continued)

Interest rate risk [continued)

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform {continued)
Derivatives and hedge accounting {confinued)

For derivative xpasures, the Group has adhered to the adaption af the International Swaps and Derivatives Association (150A") protocal
as a fallback provision, which came into effect in January 2021, and the successful changes made by cleaning houwses to discount
derhvatives using the eura short-term rate (“€5TR') and SOFR, to reduce the risk of a disorderly transition of the derivatives market.

Hedging relationships impacted by uncertainty about |BOR reform may experience ineffectiveness attributable to market participants’
expectations of when the shift from the existing IBOR benchmark rate to an alternative benchmark interest rate will occur. This transition
may occur at different tirmes for the hedped itern and the hedging instrument, which may lead to hedge ineffectiveness,

The objective of the majority of these hedges and consistent with the overall interest rate risk management strategy of FAB Is to reduce
fluctuations of the fair value of bonds purchased by FAB or its own Issuances which pay a fixed rate and also reduce fluctuat ions from
foreign exchange risk if these are denominated in another currancy that is not AED or USD,

{d} Operational risk
Operational risk is defined as the risk of losses resulting from inadeguate or failed processes, people and systems or from external events.

Operational risks arise across all businesses in the Group. The primary responsibility to ensure thesa risks are managed and monitored,
resides with the businesses within the Group. Group's businesses are supported by embedded risk resources and Group Operational Risk
Managemant as ‘second line of defense’ to ensure robust risk managemant,

Group Operational Risk Management (GORM) reports to CRO who has an independent reporting line to Board Rk Committee which is
being appried of the management of operational risk through periodic reporting. GORM provides wols, trainings and template to all
business function to effactively identify, assess, manage, monitor and control operational risk.

Further, there are reviews conducted by Group Internal Audit a5 the third line of defense’. Thi results of internal audit ravidws are
decussed with the management of the respectivie divisians and summaries are submitted to the Board Audit Committee.

The Group has an established Operational Risk framework consisting of policies and procedures to identify, assess, monitar, cantral,
report and manage risks and to natify, identify and resolve incidents, The Operational Risk framewaork also provides the interrelation
with other risk categories and where appropriate, pravide for risk transfer in the form of insurance,

The Group has adopted BASEL event categories to classify its oparatianal risk events, which ara;

= Internal fraud: Risk of unauthorized activity and frawd perpetrated by employess

»  External fraud; Risk of fraud or breach of system security by an external party

w  Employes practices and workplace safety: Risk of failures in emplovee relations, diversity and discrimination, and health and safety
risks across the group

* Damage to physical assets; Risk of impact to the group due to natural disasters

®  Clients, products and business practices: Risk of failing in assesung client suitability, fiduciary responsibilities, improper business
practices, flawed products and advisory activities,

& Busineds distuption and dysterm failures; Rk of not planning and testing business continuity and disaster recovery for syatems

#  Execution delvery and process management: Risk of failed transaction execution, custamer intake and documentation, vendar
management and monitoring and reporting.

The Board has oversight responsibilities for operational risk management acress the Group. These respansibilities are delegated and
exercised through the Group Operational & Fraud Risk Committes, which & the senior management forum responsible for the oversight
and management of Operational & Fraud Risks.
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51 Financial risk management [continued)

{d} Operational risk (continued)

Key responsibilities of Group Operational & Fraud Risk Committee with regards to Operational risk include to ensure:

* Define guidelines to identify and manage Operational & Fraud risks in all new products, processes, and activities.

» [Defining scope, policy, objectives, assumptions, and rokes [ responsibiliies of the Group’s Operational & Fraud Risk Management
Policies.

# Reporting of the Bank's Operational Risk profile, ratifying and recommending relevant Operational Risk and Fraud Risk strategies

* Ensuring alignment of business strategies with risk priorities and acting to protect and enhance the shareholders’ value,

{e) Capital management

CBUAE regulations govern regulatory capital requirements for the Grouwp; in addition, the overseas branches and subsidiaries may be
directly supervised by their local regulators. The capital management process fiar the Group is linked to the overall business strategy to
ensure that capital is adequate to the level of inharent risk in the business and within the firm's capital risk appetite The Group conducts
capital planning in conjunction with the financial budgeting exercisa.

The Board and top management define the long-term strategic direction for the Group. This provides the framework for the development
of a bottom-up plan based on the projections from ind ividual busingss units. The bottam-up plan is an input to the annual budgeting
pracess and is conducted ata business unit and country level. These are consolidated for each business division and finally, far the entire
Group. Business units, within each division, develop forecasted balance sheet and income statements for the next year, by considering
the following key parameters:

thia shart term jone year) goals
risk appetite and stravegy
targiet grawth rates

TArget returns

The Group's capital managerment polickes alm to ensure that it has suffickent capital to cover the risks assoclated with its activities and
the allacation of capital across the Group. The assessment of the various risks across the Group and their likely impact is carried out in
conjunction with the ICAAP undartake n annually, As part of the [CAAF process, Group Risk function identifies the various risks the Group
is exposed to as part of its day-to-day operations. Next, the Group assesses these risks against the existing policies and procedures,
frameworks and methodologies, contingency plans and other processes to measure, manage and mitigate the mpact of such risks,
Finally, the Group determines the capital requirements for the material risk exposures. The key objectives of the Group's capital
Management process are:

* Maintain sufficient capital to meet minimum capital requirernent set by the CBUAE,

» Maintain sufficient capital to support Group's Risk Appetite and strategic objectives as per long-term strategic plan,

»= Maintain adeguate capital to withstand stress scenarios including increased capital requirements determined through FCAAP.

*= Tosupport the Group's credit rating.

The Group conducts rep;ular stress test exercisas to assess the resilience of the group to adverse market developments under stress
scenarios. The risk factors are shocked using the assumptions made under the respective scenarios and the corresponding impact on the
capital adequacy & determined. The Group uses various macroeconomic and Idiosyncratic stress tests in order to project capital need
and capital levels under various stress scenarios. The stress testing is perceived as an important tool in internal capital planning. The
stress test result duning 2023 shows that the Group has adequate capital even under adverse scenarios.

As part of the gradual intreduction of Basel lIl inthe UAE, and the accompanying standards entitled "Standards for Capital Adequacy of
Banks in the UAE" which were published by the UAE Central Bank on 1 Nowvember 2020 by wirtue of Notice No.
CEUAE/BSDYN/I020,/4980, FAS is required by the UAE Central Bank te maintain a minimum total capital adequacy ratio of 14.5 per cent.
Included within this LAE Central Bank prescribed minimum total capital adequacy ratio, FAB, as a domestically systemic important bank
("D-51B"), is required, effective from 1 January 2019 to maintain a D-SI8 buffer of 1.50 per cent of Common Equity Tier 1. A capital
conservation buffer of 2.5 per cent. of Comman Equity Tier 1 s also includ ed within this minimum total capital adequacy ratio of 14.5
per cent. In addition to this minimum capital adequacy ratio, a counter-cyclical buffer is applicable to FAB, which is determined on the
basis of the peographical distribution of credit exposures and the counter-cyclical capital buffer applicable in such jurisdictions.

In addition, the Central Bank of the UAE vide Notice no. CBUAE/BSO/N/2020/2016 dated 22 April 2020 allows banks to apply a predential
filter to IFRS 9 expected loss provisions. The prudential filter will allow any increase in IFRS 9 (Stages 1 and 2 only] compared to 31
December 2019 to be partially added back to regulatory capital. This will allow IFR5 9 provisions to be gradually phased-in over a five-
year period until 31 December 2024, As per the CBUAE standards regarding the capital definition, the expected / proposed dividends are
to be deducted from CET1. Consequently, the Capital Adeguacy ratio as computed below takes into account the impact of proposed
dividend.
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51 Financial risk management (continued)

{e) Capital management [cantinued)

31 Dec 2022
AED'OD0
Tier 1 capital
Ordinary share capital 11,047,612 11,047,612
Share pramium 53,557,581 53,557,581
Retained earnings 36,393,333 27,078,852
Statutory and special reserve 14,098 861 13,084,313
Ganeral reserve and share option scheme 478,081 ATE, 081
Fair value reserve {1,185,349] [2,270,258)
Nan-contralling Interests 110,272 12,460
Fareign currency translation raserve {2.924,527) [2,175,695)
Less: Proposed dividend* {7.843,805) [5,744,758)
Eligible Tier 1 capital (a) 103,732,055 95,068,187
Deductions:
Treasury shares {6,505) [6,505)
Deferred tax assats [237,725) {134, 767)
Goodwill and Intangible assets {21,986,016) [22,543,127)
Crther deductions {270,788) {281,789
Total dedections {22,501,034] (22,366, 188)
B1,231,025 72,101,939
Additional Ther 1
Tier 1 capital notes 10,754,750 10,754,750
91,985,775 82,856,748
Tier 2 capital
Qualifying subordinated liabilties 3,899,025 210,310
Allawance for collective impairment 6,414,338 6,200,441
10,313,363 6,410,751
Total regulatory capital base 102,299 138 &9, 267,500
Risk weighted ossets:
Credit risk 513,147,062 496,035,297
Market risk 36,309,861 42 880,507
Operational risk 37,992 409 32,974,585
Risk welghted assets 587,449,332 571,890,389
Ratios with transitlon Impact:
CET 1 ratio 13.8% 12 6%
Tier 1 capital ratio 15.7% 14.5%
Capital adequacy ratio 17.4% 15.8%

The Group and its overseas branches and subsidiaries have complied with all externally imposed capital requirements for all periods
presented.

IThe above capital adeguacy ratios have been calculated in ling with Basel puidelines and proposed dividends are subject to share
halders’ approval at the Annual General Meeting.
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51 Financial risk management (continued)

{f} Country risk

Country risk is the Ekelihcod of economic, social and political events in a foreign country negatively influencing the willingness or ability
of state owned and/or privately cwned customers in that country to pay their debts on time.

The Group undertakes a detailed qualitativee analysis pertaining to country risk as a part of the business decision process, These factors
include economic, sodal and political stabflity in each country, the monetary policy, the foreign exchange control measure, the
wransparency of information, the financial and market structure, banking regulations and supervision, the legal system and the accounting
standards among athers, Country risks are monitored and controlled using country limits set by the Group; these limits are in accordance
with overall business strategy, capital adequacy and provisions for potential risks, risk rating of each country, acceptable bevel of risk and
business spportunities in each country.

{g) Strategic risk

Strategic risk refers to the risk of current or prospective impact on the Group's earnings, capital, reputation or standing arising from
changes in the environment the Group operates in and from adverse strategic decksions, improger implementation of decisions or lack
of responsiveness to industry, econamic or technolopical changes, it is a function of compatibility of Group®s strategic goals, strategies
developed to schieve those goals, resources deployed to meet those goak and the quality of implementation.

The Group uses several factors to identify and assess impact of strategic risk on its books, including level of integration of risk
management policies and practices in the strategic planning process, aggressiveness of strategic goals and compatibility with developed
business strategies, capital support for the strategic initiatives to take care of earnings volatility, effectiveness of communication and
consistency of application of strategic goaks, objectives, corporate culture, and behaviour throughout the Group.

Strategic risks are monitored and controlled as part of the strategic planning process wherein the Group reviews the progress an strategic
Initiatives vis-d-wis the plan and considers whether the progress is in line with the plan and the external business environment. The
strategic plan is periodically reviewed and vpdated subject to an approval process which is also a part of the strategic planning process.

{h} Compliance risk

Compliance risk is defined as the risk of legal or regulatary sanction, material financial loss, or loss to reputation the Group may suffer as
aresultof its failure to comply with laws, regulations, rules, related seif-regulatony organisation standards, or codes of conduct applicable
to its banking activities,

Compliance risk I3 managed in accordance with a compliance risk management framework and within a defined risk appetite. The
primary responsibility for managing complianca risk rests with the Group's first line businessas and enablement functions in accordanca
with the Group's three lines of defense risk and control model. The Group compliance function is a second line function and is responsible
for sverseaing the management of compliance risk and for the developmaent of internal compliance risk framewarks and policies. Group
compliange warks in partnership with the risk management and legal functions and is oversesn by Group Internal Audit.

{i} Reputational risk
Reputational risk is the risk to earnings or capital arising from negative public opinion. This can be due to external or internal events.

The Group identifies and assesses reputational risk by clearly defining types of risks to be captured, establishing key sources of
reputational risk it may be exposed to, based on individual circumstances, desoribing the risks identified in terms of the nature of risk
and the patential consequences that the risks may bring to its reputation. The Group also refers to other relevant information for risk
identification purposes. Such information may be sourced from media reports, stakeholder analysis reports, internal audit and
compliance reports, management exception reports or other early warning indicators.

For reputational risks, apart from the regular monitoring of external and internal events that can result in possible reputational risks, the
Group also has processes to track risks that may affect its reputation. These processes allow the BOD and senlor management to take
prampt corrective actions to address any anticipated reputational event in advance.

Inorder to manage reputational risks, the Group has setin place a mechanism that entails drawing up action plans to identify reputational

risk events and facilitate subsequent monitoring of the progress made; for those risks that may be very difficult or too costly to eliminate
entirahy thie mechanism requires development of contingancy plans as response actions.
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51 Financial risk management [continued)
{i} Emvironmental, Social and Governance [ESG] risk

The Group's ESG risk appetite is aligned with the enterprise-wide ridk appetite framawark. An ESG key rak metric has been integrated
within the bank’s Risk Appetite Framewark (for example: credit concentration to counterparties in high ESG risk sectars) and is monitored
and presanted to the Board Risk and ESG Committee on a quarterly basis.

The Group has developed an ESG rick framewark for:
= dentifying risk factors and assessing their potential impact on the Group's financial statements; and
» allocating responsibilities for managing each identified risk factar.

The Bank has made significant progress in embedding ESG in its Risk framework, including the development of appropriate policles, risk
appetite metrics and the creation of a Group ESG Committee, which is responsible for approving group-wide policies, processes and
controls to incorporate cimate risks in the management of principal risk categories,

Climate-related risk

The Bank and its customers may face significant climate-related risks in the future. These risks include the threat of finandal loss and
adwerse nen-financial impacts that encompass the political, economic and environmental responses to cimate change. The key sources
of clirate rsks have been identified as physical and transition risks. Physical risks artse a3 the result of scute weather events such as
hurricanes, floods and wikifires, and longer-term shifts in climate pattarns, such assustained higher termperatures, heat waves, droughts
and rising sea levels and risks. Transition risks may arise from the adjustments to a net-zero economy, &.g., changes to laws and
regulations, litigation due to fadure to mitigate or adapt, and shifts in supply and demand for certain commodities, products and services
due to changes in consumer behaviour and investor demand, These risks are receiving increasing regulatory, political and societal
scrutiny, both within the country and internationally. While certain physical risks may be predictable, there are significant uncertainties
as to the extent and timing of thelr manifestation. For ransition risks, uncertainties remain as to the impacts of the impending regulatory
and policy shifts, changes in customer demands and supply chains. Despite the progress, the Bank acknowladges the nesd for further
afforts to fully integrate climate in the Bank’s risk assessments and management protocols,

52 Comparative figures

‘Inwestment in associates” (31 Decamber 2022: AED 1.5 billion) which were previously classified within other 'Mon trading investment
securities’ are now presented separately on the consolidated statement of financial position, As at 1 January 2022, ‘Investment in
agociates’ amounted to AED 75 million and therefore the Balance sheet as at 1 January 2022 has not bean separately presented.

Interest income on fair value through prafit or loss bonds (31 December 2022: AED 169 million) that was previously classified within
‘Interest income” & ‘Income from Islamic financing and Investing products” has now bean reclassified to "Net gain on investments and
derivatives’ in the consalidated staterment of profit of koss, Interest expense on certain financial instruments (31 December 2022; AED
381 million) that was previously dassified within ‘Distribution on Islamic deposits” has now been reclassified to ‘Interest expense’ in the
consolidated statement of profit of loss.

Additionally, foreign currency translation adjustments’ (31 December 2022 AED 3,444 millian) that were included within adjustmaents
for cperating activities, have now been reclassified to the end of the cash flow statement and disclosad separately.

53 Proposed transaction

On 9 June 2023, FAB entered into an agreemeant with affiliates of Brookfield Asset Management, together with other co<investors, for
the proposed acquisition by BCP VI Neptune Bidoo Holdings Limited of Network International Holdings Ple for approximately AED 10.3
bdlian (GBP 2.2 bilkon], subject to the terms and conditions set out in the scheme document. Under the terms of the agreemeant, FAB
and other parties will provide equity funding, interim and revolving financing facilities.

FAB has committed co-mvestment in the form of equity funding of up to AED 2.7 billion [GBP 576 million), which will be provided upon
completion of the scquisition. FAR is also providing AED 1.4 billion (USD 370 million) interim term and revolving facility to finance the

acquisition. Upon completion of the acquisition and subject to regulatory approvals, Network International Holdings Ple is intended to
be combined with BCP Growth Hokdings Limited,

54 Subseguent events

There have been no events subsequent to the statement of financial position date that would significantly affect the amounts reported
in the consolidated financial statemeants as at and for the year ended 31 December 2023,
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30.55 30.52 31.42 40.89 41.31
28.67 27.87 27.97 30.95 34.81
29.69 29.07 29.91 35.80 38.27
29.57 28.13 31.34 35.70 38.40
2023 12 2024 2024 2024 2024 2024
40.11 40.40 41.05 41.29 43.11 42.93
38.40 38.40 39.86 40.01 41.24 41.67
39.15 39.77 40.74 40.80 41.90 42 .46

43.08 2024 19
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Independent auditor's report to the shareholders of First Abu Dhabi Bank
P.J.S.C.

Report on the audit of the consolidated financial statements

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in al material respects, the consolidated financial
position of First Abu Dhabi Bank P.J.S.C. (the “Bank”) and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) as at 31 December
2023, and its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with IFRS Accounting Standards (“1FRS”).

What we have audited
The Group's consolidated financial statements comprise:

the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023;

the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year then ended;

the consolidated statement of other comprehensive income for the year then ended;

the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;

the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and

the notes to the consolidated financia statements, comprising material accounting policy information and other

explanatory information.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (I1SAs) and the applicable requirements
of Abu Dhabi Accountability Authority (“ADAA”) Chairman's Resolution No 88 of 2021 Regarding financial
statements Audit Standards for the Subject Entities. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in

the Auditor's responsihilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide abasis for our opinion.
Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(including International Independence Standards) issued by the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants
(IESBA Code) together with applicable ethical and independence requirements of United Arab Emirates that are relevant
to our audit of the consolidated financial statements in the United Arab Emirates. We have fulfilled our other ethical

responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA Code.
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Independent auditor's report to the shareholders of First Abu Dhabi Bank
P.J.S.C. (continued)

Our audit approach

Overview

Key Audit Matters Measurement of Expected Credit Losses

As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material misstatement in the consolidated
financial statements. In particular, we considered where the Directors made subjective judgements; for example, in respect of
significant accounting estimates that involved making assumptions and considering future events that are inherently uncertain.
Asin al of our audits, we also addressed the risk of management override of internal controls, including among other matters
consideration of whether there was evidence of bias that represented a risk of material misstatement due to fraud.

We tailored the scope of our audit in order to perform sufficient work to enable us to provide an opinion on the consolidated
financia statements as a whole, taking into account the structure of the Group, the accounting processes and controls, and the

industry in which the Group operates.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financia statements as awhole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on

these matters.

Key audit matte How our audit addressed the key audit matter
Measurement of Expected Credit L osses (“ECL”)

§The ECL charge for the year ended 31 December 2023§We performed the following audit procedures on the§

amounted to AED 3,078 million (net of recoveries) and theg computation of the ECL included in the Group’s consolidatedg
alowance for ECL as at that date amounted to AED 15,279 financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023: '
- million, : :
: :  We obtained an understanding of the design and tested theg
The Directors recognise provision for expected credit |OSSES§ operating effectiveness of the relevant controls establishedg
E(ECL) in its consolidated financial statements on al of itsg by the Group, including IT general controls and applicationg
gfinancial assets measured at amortised cost, debt instrumentsg controls, for the estimation of ECL, calculation of days pastg
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income, due, application of the staging criteria and the process of

financial guarantee contracts and loan commitments. overriding ECL modelling output.
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Independent auditor's report to the shareholders of First Abu Dhabi Bank

P.J.S.C. (continued)

Our audit approach (continued)

Key audit matters (continued)

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

§The Directors exercise significant judgments and make a

number of assumptions in developing its ECL models WhiChg
is determined as a function of the assessment of the§
: Probability of Default (“PD”) separately for retail and non-:

: retail

portfolios, determination of Loss Given Default§

We involved our internal experts to assess the followi ng§

areas: :
0 Evaluation of the appropriateness of the accounting
policies adopted by the Group based on the

requirements of IFRS 9;

:(“LGD"), adjusted for the forward-looking information and

: Exposure At Default (*EAD”) associated with the underlying :

funded and unfunded exposures subject to ECL.

In case of defaulted exposures, the Directors exercise§
{ judgment to evaluate and estimate the expected future cash
: flows for each exposure. This assessment guides decisions on

Reasonableness and appropriateness of the methodol ogyi
and assumptions used in caculation of variou§
components of ECL theé
computation of Probability of Default (PD), Loss Giveng
Default (LGD) and Exposure At Default (EAD) for thef
models selected for testing. :

modelling  including

:whether to reschedule or restructure the exposure. This:

evaluation also takes into consideration the value of collateral

securing these exposures.

EECL overrides including staging overrides and overlays /
: underlays may also be recorded by the Directors using credit :
grisk judgments where the assumptions and modellingé

technigues do not capture all the relevant risk factors.

Reasonableness of the key assumptions and judgements?z
made by Directors in assessing the definition of default,g
the application of Significant Increase in Credit Riskf
(SICR) and staging criteria, determining the historic anoE:
forward-looking information of macroeconomic data |rr
estimating the ECL components and use of probabilityi
weighted scenarios. 5

0 For asample of customers, recalculation of PD, LGDE
and EAD and test of mathematical accuracy anot
appropriateness of discounting used in the ECL?
calculation. :

We tested the completeness and the accuracy of the datag
used in the calculation of ECL. :

We assessed the modification of loans accountingg
treatment for a sample of parties that have undergone§
rescheduling or restructuring. :
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Independent auditor's report to the shareholders of First Abu Dhabi Bank
P.J.S.C. (continued)

Our audit approach (continued)

Key audit matters (continued)

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

§The Group’s impairment policy under IFRS 9 is presented in§ We performed an independent credit assessment for a
Note 6a(vii) to the consolidated financial statements. sample of non-retail customers, including Stage 3 customers,§
: : by assessing the quantitative and qualitative factors
: We considered this as a key audit matter considering the: including assessment of financial performance of the
exercise of significant judgement, estimates including use of customer, source of repayments and its history, future cash
gforward-looking macroeconomic data and complex models, flows of the borrower and other relevant risk factors. :
i and as it has a material impact on the consolidated financial : _ d
: :  We assessed the reasonableness of assumptions underlying
: statements of the Group. . . L A
: the ECL provision for major product categories in the retail:

portfolio.

For a sample of exposures, we evaluated the reasonabl en&ss
of Directors overrides including ECL overlays / underlaysf
and staging overrides during the process of ECL§

computation.

We assessed the adequacy of the disclosures made in thef
Group’'s consolidated financial statements around ECL as
required by IFRS Accounting Standards. :
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Independent auditor's report to the shareholders of First Abu Dhabi Bank
P.J.S.C. (continued)

Other information

The Directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Management Discussion and
Analysis Report but does not include these consolidated financial statements and our auditor's report thereon, which we
obtained prior to the date of this auditor's report, and the Sustainability Report, Corporate Governance Report and the Board of
Directors Report which are expected to be made available to us after that date.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not and will not express

any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated

financial statements, or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, on the other information that we obtained prior to the date of this auditor's report, we
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to

report in this regard.

When we read the Sustainability Report, Corporate Governance Report and the Board of Directors Report, if we conclude that

there isamaterial misstatement therein, we are required to communicate the matter to those charged with governance.

Responsibilities of Directors and those charged with governance for the consolidated financial statements

The Directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance
with IFRS Accounting Standards and their preparation in compliance with the applicable provisions of the UAE Federa
Decree Law No. (32) of 2021, Article (114) of the Decretal Federal Law No. (14) of 2018, as amended and the applicable
provisions of Law No. (1) of 2017 concerning the Financial System of the Government of Abu Dhabi and instructions issued
by the Department of Finance pertaining to the preparation and implementation of the annual budget of Subject Entities, as
amended, and for such internal control as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated

financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Directors are responsible for ng the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting

unless the Directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic aternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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Independent auditor's report to the shareholders of First Abu Dhabi Bank
P.J.S.C. (continued)

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable
assuranceis ahigh level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 1SAs and the applicable
requirements of ADAA Chairman’s Resolution No 88 of 2021 Regarding financial statements Audit Standards for the Subject
Entities will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered materia if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions

of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with |SAs and the applicable requirements of ADAA Chairman’s Resolution No 88 of 2021
Regarding financia statements Audit Standards for the Subject Entities, we exercise professional judgement and maintain

professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financia statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,

misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

e  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal
control.

e  Evaluate the appropriateness of material accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and

related disclosures made by the Directors.

e  Conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on
the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the
date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going

concern.

e  Evauate the overal presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a

manner that achieves fair presentation.

e  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,

supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.
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Independent auditor's report to the shareholders of First Abu Dhabi Bank
P.J.S.C. (continued)

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements (continued)

We aso provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements

regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to

bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of most

significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.

We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,

in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse

consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

Further, asrequired by the UAE Federal Law No. (32) of 2021, we report that:

(
(

)
)

we have obtained all the information we considered necessary for the purpose of our audit;

the consolidated financial statements have been prepared and comply, in all material respects, with the applicable
provisions of the UAE Federal Law No. 32 of 2021;

the Group has maintained proper books of account;

the financial information included in the Management Discussions & Analysis Report is consistent with the books
of account of the Group;

note 9 and note 13 to the consolidated financial statements discloses the shares purchased by the Group during the
year,

note 47 to the consolidated financial statements discloses material related party transactions and the terms under
which they were conducted;

note 38 to the consolidated financia statements discloses the social contributions made during the year; and

based on the information that has been made available to us, nothing has come to our attention which causes us to
believe that the Group has contravened during the financial year ended 31 December 2023 any of the applicable
provisions of the UAE Federal Law No. 32 of 2021, or in respect of the Bank, its Articles of Association which

would materially affect its activities or its financial position as at 31 December 2023.

Further, as required by Article (114) of the Decreta Federa Law No. (14) of 2018 as amended, we report that we have

obtained all the information and explanations we considered necessary for the purpose of our audit.

Further, as required by the ADAA Chairman’s Resolution no 88 of 2021 Regarding financial statements Audit Standards for

the Subject Entities, we report, in connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31

December 2023, that nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that the Group has not complied, in all material

respects, with any of the provisions of the following laws, regulations and circulars as applicable, which would materially

affect its activities or the financial statements as at 31 December 2023:
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Independent auditor's report to the shareholders of First Abu Dhabi Bank
P.J.S.C. (continued)

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements (continued)

() Law No. (1) of 2017 concerning the Financial System of the Government of Abu Dhabi and instructions issued by
the Department of Finance pertaining to the preparation and implementation of the annual budget of Subject
Entities, as amended,;

0] its Articles of Association which would materialy affect its activities or its financial position as at 31 December
2023; and

(i) applicable provisions of the relevant laws, resolutions and circulars that have an impact on the Subject Entity’s

consolidated financial statements.

PricewaterhouseCoopers Limited Partnership - Abu Dhabi
31 January 2024

Rami Serhan
Registered Auditor Number: 1152
Place: Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates
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